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Key figures 

 
DZ BANK GROUP 

 

€ million 

Jan. 1– 

Jun. 30, 2025 

Jan. 1– 

Jun. 30, 2024 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE   

Income 
1 4,688 4,193 

Loss allowances -241 -206 

Profit before taxes 2,127 1,711 

Net profit 1,494 1,246 

Cost/income ratio (percent) 49.5 54.3 

 

Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

FINANCIAL POSITION   

 

Assets 
  

Loans and advances  

to banks  

 

143,705 

 

143,532 

Loans and advances  

to customers 

 

208,177 

 

208,688 

Financial assets held  

for trading 

 

29,766 

 

30,441 

Investments 66,998 62,049 

Investments held by  

insurance companies 

 

122,656 

 

122,625 

Remaining assets 95,185 92,305 

 

Equity and liabilities 
  

Deposits  

from banks 

 

184,175 

 

187,526 

Deposits  

from customers 

 

148,814 

 

154,103 

Debt certificates issued  

including bonds 

 

124,384 

 

109,810 

Financial liabilities held  

for trading 

 

41,471 

 

42,234 

Insurance contract liabilities 112,494 111,340 

Remaining liabilities 21,195 22,049 

Equity 33,954 32,578 

 

TOTAL ASSETS/TOTAL EQUITY  

AND LIABILITIES 

 

 

666,488 

 

 

659,638 

Volume of business 1,270,600 1,258,111 

 

 

 

 

 

Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

RISK POSITION   

LIQUIDITY ADEQUACY 
  

DZ BANK Group   

Minimum liquidity surplus (€ billion) 19.6 22.7 

DZ BANK banking group   

Liquidity coverage ratio  

(LCR, percent) 

 

139.0 

 

143.9 

Net stable funding ratio  

(NSFR, percent) 

 

122.8 

 

125.0 

CAPITAL ADEQUACY  
  

DZ BANK Group   

Economic capital adequacy (percent) 214.2 200.3 

DZ BANK financial conglomerate   

Coverage ratio (percent) 142.2 136.1 

DZ BANK banking group   

Common equity Tier 1 capital  

ratio (percent)  

 

17.9 

 

15.8 

Tier 1 capital ratio (percent) 20.1 17.8 

Total capital ratio (percent)  22.8 20.1 

Leverage ratio (percent) 6.7 6.6 

MREL ratio as a percentage of  

risk-weighted exposure amounts 

 

40.4 

 

36.2 

MREL ratio as a percentage of the 

leverage ratio exposure 

 

13.6 

 

13.4 

Subordinated MREL ratio as a 

percentage of risk-weighted 

exposure amounts 

 

 

33.3 

 

 

29.5 

Subordinated MREL ratio as a 

percentage of the leverage  

ratio exposure 

 

 

11.2 

 

 

10.9 

AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 34,506 33,837 

LONG-TERM RATING 
  

S&P® Global Ratings A+ A+ 

Moody’s Ratings Aa2 Aa2 

Fitch Ratings AA- AA- 

 

 

 

1 Total of net interest income, net fee and commission income, gains and losses on trading activities, gains and losses on investments, other gains and losses on valuation of financial 

instruments, gains and losses from the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost, net income from insurance business, and other net operating income. 
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Letter to shareholders 

 
 

 

Dr. Cornelius Riese, Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

 

In the first half of 2025, the DZ BANK Group generated a very encouraging profit before taxes of €2.13 billion, 

representing a clear increase on the figure for the prior-year period (first half of 2024: €1.71 billion). This result 

underscores the strength and resilience of our banking group, particularly in light of the continuing 

challenging environment. 

 

There were conflicting signals coming from the German economy in the first half of 2025. Despite an initial 

bout of optimism and modest growth at the start of the year, the economic situation remained difficult. 

Economic concerns – dominated by the US administration’s tariff policy – stifled consumer spending and 

companies’ propensity to invest. On the flip side, the stock markets were robust, with leading indices reaching 

new highs. 

 

This situation was reflected in the DZ BANK Group’s business performance. DZ BANK – central institution and 

corporate bank registered a healthy level of customer business in all three business lines. There was an increase 

in demand for project finance as well as for export and trade finance. Despite a general reluctance in the 

corporate sector to invest, the lending volume in Corporate Banking grew slightly in the first six months of  

the year. Demand for currency hedging was strong owing to a slide in the US dollar. Sales of money market 

products remained at a good level in all customer segments. In the Capital Markets business line, issuance 

activity was brisk, with the bank again facilitating placements by relevant supranational institutions. Within  

the Transaction Banking business line, both payments processing and custody business performed well. 

Besides the good customer business the central institution and corporate bank benefited from positive effects 

arising on the valuation of the bank’s own issues. All in all, the bank significantly increased its profit before 

taxes for the first half of the year compared with the prior-year period. 
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With support from the upbeat stock markets, Union Investment continued to see volume growth. For  

R+V Versicherung, growing premium income and a moderate claims rate trend were among the contributors 

to a very good profit before taxes. DZ HYP’s operating performance was steady, with a rising level of new 

business. At Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall, the profit trend is pointing upward once more. Consumer home 

finance saw modest growth amid falling interest rates. DZ PRIVATBANK continued on its positive business 

trajectory, ratcheting up growth in its private banking segment in particular.  

 

Loss allowances remained at an unremarkable level across the group. The weakness of the economy was 

evident only in economically sensitive areas of consumer finance and among small businesses and self-

employed customers. This was reflected in the loss allowances and financial performance of TeamBank and 

VR Smart Finanz in the first half of the year. 

 

The key results in detail: 

 

The DZ BANK Group’s net interest income declined to €1.91 billion (first half of 2024: €2.36 billion). The 

figure for the prior-year period had been affected to a greater degree by valuation effects and accounting-

related effects, from which there had been a positive impact on net interest income but a countervailing 

negative impact on gains and losses on trading activities. Customer business performed well, especially at the 

central institution and corporate bank. Net fee and commission income rose to €1.66 billion (first half of 

2024: €1.57 billion). The main factors in this increase were robust fund inflows at Union Investment and 

higher fee and commission income in Transaction Banking at the central institution and corporate bank. Gains 

and losses on trading activities picked up significantly compared with the first six months of 2024 to stand 

at a net gain of €191 million (first half of 2024: net loss of €473 million). Capital markets operating business 

was on a par with the good level of the prior-year period. Gains and losses on trading activities in the first half 

of 2024 had been affected to a greater degree by valuation effects and accounting-related effects, although 

these had resulted in a countervailing positive impact on net interest income. Gains and losses on invest-

ments amounted a net loss of €38 million (first half of 2024: net gain of €12 million). Other gains and 

losses on valuation of financial instruments deteriorated to a net gain of €21 million due to negative 

valuation effects (first half of 2024: net gain of €112 million). Compared with the prior-year period, there was 

a clear increase in net income from insurance business, which came to €766 million (first half of 2024: 

€510 million). The healthy premiums trend played a key part in this rise. The level of claims has also been 

unremarkable in the year to date. Loss allowances amounted to €241 million (first half of 2024: 206 million), 

predominantly due to additions that were required at TeamBank. Administrative expenses came to 

€2.32 billion, which was in line with the figure for the first half of 2024 of €2.28 billion. 

 

With a common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 17.9 percent (December 31, 2024: 15.8 percent), the  

DZ BANK Group has a very good level of capitalization, as was confirmed by this year’s stress test conducted 

by the European Banking Authority (EBA). 

 

On behalf of the Board of Managing Directors, I would like to thank all the employees of the DZ BANK Group 

for their hard work, which played a key role in this excellent profit before taxes for the first half of 2025. 

 

Despite the tariff agreement between the US and Europe, economic uncertainty remains high. The tariffs 

being imposed will likely weigh heavily on the German economy. For 2025, our economists predict that GDP 

will grow by just 0.1 percent. In view of the positive course of business so far, and with stock markets 

remaining robust, we anticipate that our profit before taxes for 2025 will be above €3.0 billion. 

 

We are undeniably in the midst of a period of seismic change. The world order that has been established over 

decades under the leadership of the United States of America, and which has been a key factor in shaping 

global trade and international cooperation, is giving way to a new normal. This poses considerable challenges 

for our export-led economy in Germany. At the same time, it also creates opportunities for innovation and for 

Germany and Europe to take on a new leadership role. The planned investment in infrastructure and defense, 
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coupled with the determination and adaptability of domestic companies, fuel hope that these efforts will bear 

fruit in the long term. 

 

As a partner to small and medium-sized enterprises, we are helping German industry to play its part in shaping 

the transition. To this end, we are continually investing in our infrastructure, in innovative solutions, and in 

expanding our market approach. This allows us to best meet the needs of our customers while simultaneously 

contributing to the success of the cooperative organization. One example of this is the strategic enhancement 

of our international business. This involves us strengthening the interconnectedness of all of DZ BANK’s 

business lines, even across borders, and expanding our product expertise and presence in relevant markets, 

such as in Asia. We are already reaping the rewards in the Capital Markets business line, where we have been 

able to significantly increase our volume of business with institutional customers. 

 

Another strategic thrust is payments processing, which is an anchor product for corporate customers and retail 

customers. We are one of the most important players in European payments processing, and our ambition is 

to help shape the future of the market. The pivot in US geopolitics underscores the relevance of the Wero 

payment system for strengthening European sovereignty. 

 

Another particular focus is on enhancing our digital portfolio in order to attract and retain customers. Given 

the increasing dominance of Big Tech in terms of data, we are stepping up our strategic endeavors by making 

acquisitions and deepening our partnerships in platform business. As part of this approach, Bausparkasse 

Schwäbisch Hall is expanding the homes and housebuilding ecosystem. Through amberra, the cooperative 

corporate venturing studio, we and the primary institutions are investing in ubiMaster, an education start-up 

that is building a bridge to younger customers. DZ BANK’s involvement in the MeinPlus customer retention 

program is aimed at boosting customer loyalty by offering added value at local level. The acquisition of the 

Compeon financing portal by FinCompare represents an important addition to our financing solutions for 

small and medium-sized enterprises that are rooted in their region. In securities trading, we are also expanding 

our digital offering for retail customers. Following a successful pilot phase, in the second half of the year we 

plan to enable all interested cooperative banks to integrate a crypto wallet into the VR Banking App.  

 

Despite all the current headwinds, the DZ BANK Group is ideally positioned. It is highly profitable with a good 

level of capitalization and has extensive expertise at home and abroad, high-quality products, and vast know-

how derived from Germany’s second-largest banking network. This gives us the confidence to continue the 

growth trajectory of our organization. 

 

 

Kind regards, 

 

   

   

 

Dr. Cornelius Riese 

Chief Executive Officer 
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DZ BANK Group fundamentals 

I DZ BANK Group fundamentals 

1 Business model and strategic focus 

The business model and strategic focus of the DZ BANK Group are described in detail on page 10 onward of 

the 2024 group management report. Those disclosures are also applicable to the first half of 2025. 

2 Management of the DZ BANK Group 

The management of the DZ BANK Group is described in detail on page 21 onward of the 2024 group 

management report. Those disclosures are also applicable to the first half of 2025. 
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II Business report 

1 Economic conditions  

The German economy was heavily influenced by the tariff policy of the United States of America (United 

States) in the first six months of this year. When the United States announced tariffs on imports of steel and 

products from the automotive and pharmaceutical industries, as well as reciprocal tariffs, businesses took 

steps to mitigate the impact of the tariffs by bringing spending forward. This is reflected in the figures for the 

first quarter of 2025, with March, in particular, seeing an above-average increase in new orders, industrial 

output, and exports. The German economy as a whole therefore gained some momentum as the year got 

under way, adding 0.3 percent in the first three months of 2025 compared with the fourth quarter of 2024. 

This growth came on the back of an overall 0.5 percent decrease in gross domestic product (GDP) in 2024. 

Some of the tariffs announced by the United States came into effect in mid-March or at the start of April 2025. 

For much of the second quarter of 2025, a baseline tariff of 10 percent applied to almost all imports of goods 

from Germany. Pharmaceutical products were a notable exception. Cars and automotive parts were subject  

to a 25 percent tariff, while aluminum and steel products initially incurred a 25 percent tariff that rose to 

50 percent from June 2025. The growth seen in the first quarter of 2025 slowed in the second quarter due to 

the adverse impact of these tariffs. In particular, the first quarter of 2025 had still benefited from the effects 

of spending brought forward, but these had disappeared by the second quarter, acting as a brake on 

economic growth. Consumers also remained reticent. German GDP declined by 0.1 percent in the second 

quarter of 2025 compared with the previous quarter.  

The eurozone economy also made a favorable start to 2025. In the first quarter of 2025, GDP in the eurozone 

rose by 0.6 percent quarter on quarter, outstripping German GDP. In the second quarter of 2025, economic 

output increased by 0.1 percent compared with the previous quarter.  

The United States, meanwhile, saw its economic output drop by 0.5 percent quarter on quarter (annualized) in 

the first three months of 2025, before GDP rose by 3.0 percent (annualized) in the second quarter of 2025. 

China has been heavily affected by the US tariffs. However, the Chinese economy did also benefit from 

spending brought forward in the first half of 2025. China’s economic output went up by 1.2 percent in the 

first quarter of 2025 and by 1.1 percent in the second. 

2 The financial industry amid continued efforts to stabilize the economy of the eurozone  

Geopolitical risks continued to fuel uncertainty in the capital markets in the first half of 2025. Nonetheless, the 

stock markets followed a positive trajectory over the reporting period. 

The STOXX Europe 600, a share index comprising 600 large listed European companies, stood at 

541.37 points as at June 30, 2025, which was 33.75 points higher than at the end of the previous year 

(December 31, 2024: 507.62 points). The index had added 32.40 points in the first half of 2024. 

After a good start to 2025, the pace of growth in the German real estate investment market slowed down 

again in the second quarter. The volume of commercial real estate transactions (including investment in 

housing) totaled around €15.3 billion in the first half of 2025 and was therefore on a par with the first half  

of 2024. 

Several EU countries continued to exceed the ratios for new and overall indebtedness required for compliance 

with the stability criteria specified in the Fiscal Compact agreed by the EU member states at the beginning of 
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2012. In the Fiscal Compact, the signatory countries committed to reducing their debt (as a proportion of 

GDP) each year by one twentieth of the difference between the debt level and the Maastricht limit of 

60 percent of GDP. 

At the end of the first quarter of 2025, the total borrowing of the 20 eurozone countries equated to 

88.0 percent of their GDP.  

The following key interest rates were relevant in the period under review. The ECB’s monetary policy decision 

on December 12, 2024 saw each of the three rates reduced by 25 basis points. The deposit facility interest 

rate was therefore set at 3.00 percent, the main refinancing operations rate at 3.15 percent, and the marginal 

lending facility rate at 3.40 percent. At its meeting on January 30, 2025, the ECB decided to lower each of the 

rates by another 25 basis points. This was followed by a further reduction of the key interest rates by 25 basis 

points each on March 6, 2025. Effective April 23, 2025, the ECB Governing Council decided to set the deposit 

facility interest rate at 2.25 percent, the main refinancing operations rate at 2.40 percent, and the marginal 

lending facility rate at 2.65 percent. The ECB then cut each of the key interest rates by a further 25 basis 

points on June 5, 2025.  

The federal funds rate of the US Federal Reserve was not changed in the first half of 2025, which left it in the 

range set by the Fed on December 18, 2024 of 4.25 percent to 4.50 percent. 

3 Financial performance  

3.1 Financial performance at a glance 

Amid geopolitical crises and thus challenging market conditions, the DZ BANK Group posted profit before 

taxes of €2,127 million in the first half of 2025 (first half of 2024: €1,711 million). 

The year-on-year changes in the key figures that make up the net profit generated by the DZ BANK Group 

were as described below. 

 

FIG. II. 1 – INCOME STATEMENT     

     

€ million  

Jan. 1– 

Jun. 30, 2025  

Jan. 1– 

Jun. 30, 2024 

Net interest income  1,913  2,358 

Net fee and commission income  1,662  1,565 

Gains and losses on trading activities  191  -473 

Gains and losses on investments  -38  12 

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments  21  112 

Gains and losses from the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost  8  36 

Net income from insurance business  766  510 

Loss allowances  -241  -206 

Administrative expenses  -2,321  -2,276 

Staff expenses  -1,145  -1,089 

Other administrative expenses1  -1,176  -1,187 

Other net operating income  165  73 

Profit before taxes  2,127  1,711 

Income taxes  -633  -465 

Net profit  1,494  1,246 

1 General and administrative expenses plus depreciation/amortization expense. 

Operating income in the DZ BANK Group amounted to €4,688 million (first half of 2024: €4,193 million). 

This figure comprises net interest income, net fee and commission income, gains and losses on trading 

activities, gains and losses on investments, other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments, gains 

11



DZ BANK  
2025 Half-Year Financial Report 

Interim group management report 

Business report 

and losses from the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost, net income from insurance 

business, and other net operating income.  

Net interest income decreased by €445 million to €1,913 million (first half of 2024: €2,358 million).  

Within this figure, interest income from lending and money market business fell to €6,248  million (first half of 

2024: €6,534 million) and interest income from portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk (portfolios comprising 

financial assets) to €286 million (first half of 2024: €813 million). By contrast, interest income from bonds and 

other fixed-income securities increased to €764 million (first half of 2024: €608 million).  

Interest expense for deposits from banks and customers decreased to €3,805 million (first half of 2024: 

€4,003 million) and interest expense for portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk (portfolios comprising financial 

liabilities) to €65 million (first half of 2024: €178 million). Interest expense for debt certificates issued including 

bonds rose to €1,500 million (first half of 2024: €1,380 million). 

Since the beginning of this year, portfolios of structured money market business and derivatives have no 

longer been held for trading. Starting in the reporting period, the interest income and expense arising in 

connection with this business are now reported under net interest income and no longer under gains and 

losses on trading activities. The relevant amounts are interest income of €375 million from lending and money 

market business and interest expense of €614 million for deposits from banks and customers. 

Net fee and commission income grew by €97 million to €1,662 million (first half of 2024: €1,565 million). 

Net fee and commission income from securities business climbed to €1,322 million (first half of 2024: 

€1,294 million). This was mainly due to the increase at UMH in the volume-related income contribution to 

€1,079 million (first half of 2024: €1,035 million). Furthermore, net fee and commission income from 

payments processing including card processing rose to €106 million (first half of 2024: €74 million), that from 

lending and trust activities to €68 million (first half of 2024: €60 million), and that from asset management  

to €76 million (first half of 2024: €70 million), while the net fee and commission expense in connection with 

building society operations improved to €8 million (first half of 2024: €17 million). 

Gains and losses on trading activities improved to a net gain of €191 million (first half of 2024: net loss  

of €473 million). This change was attributable to the volatility of market prices, in particular spread-related 

valuation effects on own issues that had not affected the prior-year period. Gains and losses on derivatives 

improved to a net gain of €394 million (first half of 2024: net loss of €387 million). Conversely, gains and 

losses on non-derivative financial instruments and embedded derivatives deteriorated to a net loss of 

€234 million (first half of 2024: net loss of €162 million). Gains and losses on exchange differences came to  

a net gain of €31 million (first half of 2024: net gain of €76 million). 

Since the beginning of this year, portfolios of structured money market business and derivatives have no 

longer been held for trading. Starting in the reporting period, the interest income and expense and the fair 

value gains and losses arising in connection with this business are now reported under net interest income and 

under other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments and no longer under gains and losses on 

trading activities. This results in an increase of €183 million in gains and losses on trading activities compared 

with the figure that would have previously been disclosed. The changes predominantly affect gains and losses 

on derivatives, with a net loss of €224 million under net interest income and a net gain of €75 million under 

other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments. 

Gains and losses on investments stood at a net loss of €38 million (first half of 2024: net gain of €12 million). 

Within this figure, gains and losses on the disposal of bonds and other fixed-income securities deteriorated to 

a net loss of €24 million (first half of 2024: net gain of €7 million) and gains and losses on the disposal of 

shares and other variable-yield securities to a net loss of €14 million (first half of 2024: net gain of €5 million).  
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Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments amounted to a net gain of €21 million  

(first half of 2024: net gain of €112 million). The deterioration is chiefly attributable to the negative spread-

related valuation effects and a year-on-year deterioration in the net gain/loss from the valuation and 

realization of guarantee commitments of UMH. 

Since the beginning of this year, portfolios of structured money market business and derivatives have no 

longer been held for trading. Starting in the reporting period, fair value gains of €56  million arising in 

connection with this business are now reported under other gains and losses on valuation of financial 

instruments and no longer under gains and losses on trading activities. The changes predominantly affect 

gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other than trading, with a net gain of €75  million. 

Net income from insurance business comprises the insurance service result, gains and losses on 

investments held by insurance companies and other insurance company gains and losses, insurance finance 

income or expenses, and gains and losses from the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized 

cost in the insurance business.  

Net income from insurance business increased by €256 million to €766 million (first half of 2024: €510 million). 

The insurance service result amounted to a profit of €1,078 million (first half of 2024: profit of €637 million), 

which was predominantly due to higher insurance revenue in non-life insurance. Gains and losses on investments 

held by insurance companies and other insurance company gains and losses deteriorated to a net loss of 

€226 million (first half of 2024: net gain of €2,945 million). This was driven by movements in the markets. 

Insurance finance income or expenses came to a net expense of €88 million (first half of 2024: net expense of 

€3,074 million), largely in relation to policyholders’ share of investment returns. 

Loss allowances amounted to a net addition of €241 million (first half of 2024: net addition of €206 million).  

The net addition to loss allowances for loans and advances to customers was €244 million (first half of 2024: 

net addition of €196 million). 

Administrative expenses increased by €45 million to €2,321 million (first half of 2024: €2,276 million).  

Staff expenses advanced to €1,145 million (first half of 2024: €1,089 million), mainly due to pay rises and 

appointments to vacant positions. Other administrative expenses declined to €1,176 million (first half of 2024: 

€1,187 million). 

Other net operating income amounted to €165 million (first half of 2024: €73 million). Within this figure, 

income from the reversal of provisions and accruals rose to €100 million (first half of 2024: €41 million) and 

gains and losses on non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale improved to a net gain of 

€42 million (first half of 2024: net gain of €19 million).  

Profit before taxes for the first half of 2025 stood at €2,127 million, compared with €1,711 million in the 

first half of 2024. 

The cost/income ratio (i.e. the ratio of administrative expenses to operating income) came to 49.5 percent 

(first half of 2024: 54.3 percent). 

The regulatory return on risk-adjusted capital (RORAC) was 20.7 percent (first half of 2024: 17.8 percent). 

Income taxes amounted to €633 million (first half of 2024: €465 million). 

The DZ BANK Group increased its net profit to €1,494 million in the first half of 2025, compared with 

€1,246 million in the first half of 2024.  
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3.2 Financial performance in detail 

The following sections describe the details of the financial performance of the DZ BANK Group’s operating 

segments in the first half of 2025 compared with the corresponding period of 2024. 

3.2.1 BSH 

Net interest income in the BSH subgroup advanced by €27 million to €309 million (first half of 2024: 

€282 million).  

Interest expense in building society operations (including interest expense on hedges for liabilities-side 

business) went down by €33 million to €284 million (first half of 2024: €317 million). Within this figure, 

interest expense for home savings deposits amounted to €270 million (first half of 2024: €287 million). The 

amount for the reporting period included additions to provisions relating to building society operations of 

€104 million (first half of 2024: €96 million) and a sum of €166 million (first half of 2024: €191 million) 

attributable to the interest rates applicable to current tariffs. The interest-rate swaps used to manage interest 

income and expense in the context of portfolio fair value hedge accounting in assets-side and liabilities-side 

business reduced net interest income by a total of €15 million (first half of 2024: €25 million).  

In the case of loans issued under advance or interim financing arrangements and other building loans, income 

amounted to €537 million (first half of 2024: €540 million). Income from home savings loans came to 

€82 million (first half of 2024: €64 million).  

Interest income arising on investments fell by €3 million to €153 million (first half of 2024: €156 million). 

Interest expense for borrowing increased by €26 million to €104 million (first half of 2024: €78 million).  

BSH incorporates the fees, commissions, and transaction costs directly assignable to the acquisition of home 

savings contracts and loan agreements into the effective interest method applied to home savings deposits 

and building loans. In the reporting period, this decreased net interest income by €78 million (first half of 

2024: €92 million). Of this sum, €25 million was attributable to home savings deposits (first half of 2024: 

€39 million) and €53 million to building loans (first half of 2024: €53 million). 

Net fee and commission income amounted to €9 million (first half of 2024: net expense of €1 million).  

In the home savings business, BSH entered into approximately 164 thousand (first half of 2024: 208 thousand) 

new home savings contracts with a volume of €8.8 billion (first half of 2024: €13.2 billion) in Germany. 

In the home finance business, the realized volume of new business came to €5.0 billion (first half of 2024: 

€4.2 billion) in Germany. 

Gains and losses on investments amounted to a net loss of €12 million (first half of 2024: €0 million) due 

to losses on disposals of bonds.  

Loss allowances amounted to a net addition totaling €17 million (first half of 2024: net addition of €6 million). 

This was largely due to a deterioration in internal ratings for customers and updated macroeconomic parameters 

reflecting the challenging economic conditions.  

Administrative expenses increased by €4 million to €253 million (first half of 2024: €249 million). Staff 

expenses came to €140 million (first half of 2024: €134 million). Other administrative expenses amounted to 

€113 million (first half of 2024: €115 million). 

Other net operating income increased to €54 million (first half of 2024: €22 million). The change was 

mainly attributable to the reversal of provisions outside the lending business. 
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Based on the changes described above, profit before taxes increased by €39 million to €86 million (first half 

of 2024: €47 million). 

The cost/income ratio in the period under review was 70.9 percent (first half of 2024: 82.2 percent). 

Regulatory RORAC was 14.5 percent (first half of 2024: 7.4 percent). 

3.2.2 R+V 

The insurance service result amounted to a profit of €1,072 million (first half of 2024: profit of €621 million). 

This figure included insurance revenue of €6,274 million (first half of 2024: €5,843 million) and insurance 

service expenses of €5,068 million (first half of 2024: €5,146 million). Net expenses from reinsurance contracts 

held stood at €134 million (first half of 2024: €75 million). 

In the life and health insurance business, insurance revenue amounted to €1,263 million (first half of 2024: 

€1,185 million). Insurance service expenses totaled €940 million (first half of 2024: €896 million). Net expenses 

from reinsurance contracts held in this business stood at €1 million (first half of 2024: net income of €1 million). 

This included amortization of the contractual service margin in an amount of €159 million (first half of 2024: 

€137 million) and release of the risk adjustment in an amount of €33 million (first half of 2024: €38 million). 

In the non-life insurance business, insurance revenue amounted to €4,006 million (first half of 2024: 

€3,688 million). The main influence on this revenue was premiums earned on portfolios measured under the 

premium allocation approach. The insurance service expenses of the non-life insurance business stood at 

€3,537 million (first half of 2024: €3,508 million). Of this sum, €2,741 million (first half of 2024: €2,633 million) 

was attributable to expenses for claims, comprising payments for claims of €2,620 million (first half of 2024: 

€2,627 million) and the change in the liability for incurred claims amounting to a decrease of €122  million 

(first half of 2024: decrease of €6 million). It also included the change in losses on insurance contracts, which 

amounted to an increase of €130 million (first half of 2024: decrease of €9 million). Other insurance service 

expenses included insurance acquisition cash flows and administration costs and totaled €926  million (first half 

of 2024: €866 million). Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held in this business came to €111 million 

(first half of 2024: €87 million). The combined ratio (net), which is the ratio of the sum of insurance service 

expenses and net income/expenses from reinsurance contracts held to insurance revenue, stood at 91.07 percent 

(first half of 2024: 97.48 percent). Major incurred claims from natural disasters came to a total of €0 million in 

the reporting period (first half of 2024: €89 million). 

Insurance revenue in the inward reinsurance business amounted to €1,005 million (first half of 2024: 

€970 million). This included not only premium income but also amortization of the contractual service margin 

in an amount of €120 million (first half of 2024: €132 million) under the general measurement model. 

Insurance service expenses came to €591 million (first half of 2024: €742 million). Net expenses from 

reinsurance contracts held in this business totaled €22 million (first half of 2024: net income of €11 million). 

Major incurred claims, which predominantly related to natural disasters, totaled €260 million in the reporting 

period and were therefore higher than in the prior-year period (first half of 2024: €146 million). 

Gains and losses on investments held by insurance companies and other insurance company gains 

and losses declined to a net loss of €150 million (first half of 2024: net gain of €3,033 million).  

Long-term interest rates were lower than in the prior-year period. The ten‑year Bund/swap rate was 2.59 percent 

as at June 30, 2025 (June 30, 2024: 2.83 percent). A weighted credit spread calculated in accordance with 

R+V’s portfolio structure stood at 55.5 points as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: 65.2 points). In the 

comparative period, this spread had fallen from 77.0 points as at December 31, 2023 to 76.2 points as at  

June 30, 2024. 

During the first half of 2025, equity markets relevant to R+V performed well. For example, the EURO STOXX 50, 

a share index comprising 50 large, listed companies in the eurozone, saw a rise of 407 points from the start of 
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2025, closing the reporting period on 5,303 points (December 31, 2024: 4,896 points). The index had added 

372 points in the prior-year period. 

Movements in exchange rates between the euro and various currencies were generally less favorable in the 

first half of 2025 than in the prior-year period. For example, the US dollar/euro exchange rate on June 30, 

2025 was 0.8519, compared with 0.9657 as at December 31, 2024. In the first half of 2024, the exchange 

rate had moved from 0.9053 as at December 31, 2023 to 0.9331 as at June 30, 2024. 

These trends resulted in a €2,272 million negative change – resulting from the effects of changes in negative 

fair values – in unrealized gains and losses to a net loss of €276 million (first half of 2024: net gain of 

€1,996 million), a €1,461 million deterioration in foreign-exchange gains and losses to a net loss of 

€1,124 million (first half of 2024: net gain of €337 million), and a €27 million decline in the balance of 

depreciation, amortization, impairment losses, and reversals of impairment losses to a net expense of 

€56 million (first half of 2024: net expense of €29 million). However, other non-insurance gains and losses 

improved by €284 million to a net loss of €87 million (first half of 2024: net loss of €371 million), the 

contribution to earnings from the derecognition of investments improved by €201 million to a net loss of 

€62 million (first half of 2024: net loss of €263 million), and net income under current income and expense 

climbed by €92 million to €1,454 million (first half of 2024: €1,362 million). Changes in gains and losses on 

investments held by insurance companies are offset to an extent by corresponding changes in insurance 

finance income or expenses, so the overall effect on profit or loss is only partial.  

Insurance finance income or expenses improved by €2,986 million to a net expense of €88 million (first 

half of 2024: net expense of €3,074 million). In the life and health insurance business, this line item improved 

by €2,963 million to net income of €95 million (first half of 2024: net expense of €2,868 million), which was 

mainly due to the aforementioned compensatory effect. Insurance finance income or expenses came to a net 

expense of €103 million in the non-life insurance business (first half of 2024: net expense of €134 million) and 

to a net expense of €79 million in inward reinsurance (first half of 2024: net expense of €72 million). The 

amount within insurance finance income or expenses relating to discounting at the discount rate used at initial 

measurement (locked-in discount rate) was a net expense of €101 million in non-life insurance (first half of 

2024: net expense of €100 million) and a net expense of €79 million in inward reinsurance (first half of 2024: 

net expense of €72 million). 

The factors described above resulted in an increase in profit before taxes to €875 million (first half of 2024: 

€586 million). 

Regulatory RORAC was 17.0 percent (first half of 2024: 12.5 percent). 

3.2.3 TeamBank 

Net interest income amounted to €266 million (first half of 2024: €262 million).  

As at June 30, 2025, loans and advances to customers stood at €9,748 million (December 31, 2024: 

€9,854 million). The number of customers rose to 1,084 thousand (December 31, 2024: 1,071 thousand).  

As at June 30, 2025, TeamBank was working with 624 (December 31, 2024: 623) of Germany ’s 661 

(December 31, 2024: 662) cooperative banks and with 171 (December 31, 2024: 166) partner banks in Austria. 

Net fee and commission income improved to a net expense of €15 million (first half of 2024: net expense 

of €18 million), mainly owing to lower expenses for bonuses paid to partner banks. 

The net addition to loss allowances amounted to €118 million (first half of 2024: net addition of €86 million). 

This was due in no small part to the weak economic conditions and customers’ poorer payment history. 
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Administrative expenses stood at €141 million (first half of 2024: €143 million). Within this figure, staff 

expenses held steady at €54 million (first half of 2024: €54 million). Other administrative expenses amounted 

to €87 million (first half of 2024: €88 million). 

Amid challenging market conditions and a difficult risk situation, TeamBank reported a loss before taxes of 

€5 million. This represented a deterioration of €24 million compared with the profit before taxes of 

€19 million achieved in the first half of 2024. 

TeamBank’s cost/income ratio came to 55.5 percent (first half of 2024: 57.7 percent). 

Regulatory RORAC was minus 1.9 percent (first half of 2024: 7.5 percent). 

3.2.4 UMH 

Net fee and commission income went up by €22 million to €1,148 million (first half of 2024: €1,126 million). 

This total included the volume-related income contribution of €1,079 million (first half of 2024: €1,035 million), 

performance-related management fees of €13 million (first half of 2024: €31 million), and income of €13 million 

from transaction fees for properties in Union Investment’s real estate funds (first half of 2024: €18 million). 

Expenses for the performance bonus for sales partners came to €45 million (first half of 2024: €45 million). 

The change in net fee and commission income was predominantly due to the factors described below.  

The average assets under management totaled €506.6 billion (first half of 2024: €473.5 billion). 

Union Investment generated net inflows from its retail business of €6.6 billion (first half of 2024: €6.5 billion) 

in collaboration with the local cooperative banks. 

The number of traditional fund-linked savings plans, which are used by retail customers as investments aimed 

at long-term capital accumulation, stood at 4.0 million contracts as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: 

3.9 million), with an increase in the 12-month savings volume to €7.4 billion (December 31, 2024: €7.0 billion). 

The total assets in the portfolio of Riester pension products amounted to €30.9 billion (December 31, 2024: 

€32.0 billion). 

In its institutional business, Union Investment recorded net inflows of €3.8 billion (first half of 2024: €5.0 billion). 

Gains and losses on investments amounted to a net loss of €13 million (first half of 2024: net gain of 

€5 million), largely due to the net loss realized on the disposal of investment fund units from Union 

Investment’s own-account investments. 

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments deteriorated to a net gain of €32 million 

(first half of 2024: net gain of €69 million). This was largely attributable to the net loss of €3 million from  

the valuation and realization of guarantee commitments (first half of 2024: net gain of €24  million), with a 

net gain of €34 million arising on the valuation of Union Investment’s own-account investments (first half of 

2024: net gain of €44 million). 

Administrative expenses increased by €24 million to €636 million (first half of 2024: €612 million). Staff 

expenses went up by €7 million to €308 million (first half of 2024: €301 million) owing to higher salaries on 

average and to appointments to new and vacant posts. Other adm inistrative expenses climbed by €17 million 

to €328 million (first half of 2024: €311 million), mainly because of higher expenses incurred in connection 

with IT. 
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Other net operating income amounted to €21 million (first half of 2024: net expense of €3 million). This 

improvement was mainly due to income generated by the reversal of provisions in the period under review 

and because other net operating income in the prior-year period had included restructuring expenses. 

Based on the changes described above, profit before taxes decreased by €41 million to €575 million (first 

half of 2024: €616 million). 

The cost/income ratio came to 52.5 percent in the reporting period (first half of 2024: 49.8 percent). 

Regulatory RORAC was greater than 100.0 percent (first half of 2024: greater than 100.0 percent).  

3.2.5 DZ BANK – CICB 

Net interest income is primarily attributable to the lending business portfolios (Corporate Banking business 

line), the portfolios from the capital markets business (including the portfolios of Group Treasury), and the 

long-term equity investments allocated to the central institution and corporate bank. Net interest income 

declined by €65 million to €726 million (first half of 2024: €791 million). 

In the Corporate Banking business line, net interest income went up by €18 million to €307 million (first half 

of 2024: €289 million). The net interest income in the four regional corporate customer divisions plus Central 

Corporate Banking increased to €179 million (first half of 2024: €165 million). This increase was attributable 

to the higher lending volume. Net interest income in the Structured Finance and Investment Promotion divisions 

came to €128 million, a rise of €4 million compared with the figure for the first half of 2024 of €124 million. 

This was due to the growth of the lending volume in the Structured Finance division.  

Net interest income from money market and capital markets business decreased by €92 million to €379 million 

(first half of 2024: €471 million). Within this figure, the fall in interest rates in the money market led to 

reduced net interest income from the investment of liquidity from the excess of non-interest-bearing liabilities 

(e.g. equity) over non-interest-bearing assets. By contrast, there was a rise in net interest income from the 

deposit-taking operating business in the short-dated maturity segment.  

Other net interest income from loan administration fees advanced by €1 million to €15 million (first half of 

2024: €14 million).  

Income from profit-pooling, profit-transfer, and partial profit-transfer agreements, together with income from 

other shareholdings and current income from investments in subsidiaries, amounted to €25  million (first half 

of 2024: €17 million). The increase compared with the equivalent period in the prior year was mainly due to 

higher income from long-term equity investments. 

Net fee and commission income went up by €50 million to €362 million (first half of 2024: €312 million). 

The principal sources of income were service fees in the Corporate Banking business line (in particular,  

from lending business including guarantees and international business), in the Capital Markets business line 

(mainly from securities issuance and brokerage business, agents’ fees, transactions on futures and options 

exchanges, financial services, and the provision of information), and in the Transaction Banking business  

line (primarily from payments processing including credit card processing, and safe custody). As part of  

service procurement arrangements, DZ BANK has transferred processing services in the payments processing 

business to equensWorldline SE and Cash Logistik Security AG, and in securities business to 

Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG. The expenses arising in connection with obtaining services from the 

above external processing companies amounted to a total of €77 million (first half of 2024: €102 million) and 

were reported under the net fee and commission income of the Transaction Banking business line.  
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In the Corporate Banking business line, net fee and commission income was €6 million higher than in the 

prior-year period at €116 million (first half of 2024: €110 million). Within this increase, €4 million was 

attributable to fees and commissions in relation to mergers and acquisitions. 

In the Capital Markets business line, the contribution to net fee and commission income rose by €7  million to 

€145 million (first half of 2024: €138 million). The securities business was the main driver behind this rise. 

Net fee and commission income in the Transaction Banking business line was up year on year at €121  million, 

a rise of €35 million compared with the figure of €86 million for the first half of 2024. This was mainly due  

to lower expenses paid under the service procurement agreement with equensWorldline SE as a result of the 

insourcing of payments processing at DZ BANK. 

Gains and losses on trading activities amounted to a net gain of €228 million (first half of 2024: net loss 

of €72 million). This figure comprised the gains and losses on operating trading activities as well as effects 

resulting from the IFRS rules on measuring financial instruments (IFRS-related effects). 

The gains and losses on operating trading activities chiefly reflect the business activity of the Capital Markets 

Trading division and, in particular, transactions where there is an intent to trade. It should be borne in mind 

that IFRS rules can result in an accounting mismatch, with certain contributions to earnings in the Capital 

Markets Trading division being recognized in different income items (e.g. net interest income) instead of 

under gains and losses on operating trading activities. The IFRS rules can also impact on the timing of the 

recognition of income from the operating business in the income statement. This means that, in certain cases, 

effects cannot be recognized in gains and losses on operating trading activities in the same period and, 

instead, can only be recognized over the whole term of the affected transactions.  

Gains and losses on operating trading activities in the Capital Markets Trading division came to a net gain of 

€275 million, compared with a net gain of €315 million for the first half of 2024. This deterioration was 

mainly due to an improvement in gains and losses on trading products that are reported in other items in the 

income statement. 

The IFRS-related effects also reflect the fact that under the IFRS rules, the valuation effects that arise on 

transactions between the Capital Markets Trading division and other divisions in the course of risk and 

liquidity management are not taken into consideration.  

These IFRS-related effects can have a material impact on the level of gains and losses on trading activities, 

primarily due to movements in interest rates and spreads. In the first half of 2025, these effects in gains and 

losses on trading activities improved by €340 million compared with the prior-year period to a net expense of 

€47 million (first half of 2024: net expense of €387 million).  

Gains and losses on investments came to a net loss of €12 million, representing a year-on-year deterioration 

of €19 million. The net loss in the reporting period resulted from losses of €34 million from the sale of securities 

in the category ‘financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income ’ (fair value OCI) 

combined with gains of €21 million arising from the unwinding of hedges accounted for in the category ‘fair 

value through other comprehensive income’ in the context of portfolio fair value hedge accounting. Securities 

in the category ‘fair value through profit or loss’ generated a net gain of €1 million. 

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments contains the effects from financial 

instruments measured at fair value that are not held for trading as well as effects from hedge accounting. 

This item thus also contains fair value gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities designated as at fair 

value through profit or loss (fair value option), with credit rating effects from financial liabilities being 

recognized in equity. 
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Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments declined to a net gain of €55  million (first half of 

2024: net gain of €88 million). Of this amount, €25 million was attributable to valuation effects in connection 

with changes in spreads (first half of 2024: €77 million). Other gains and losses on valuation of financial 

instruments included a net gain of €33 million from ineffectiveness in hedge accounting (first half of 2024: 

net gain of €6 million). 

Gains and losses from the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost deteriorated 

by €28 million year on year to a net gain of €9 million (first half of 2024: net gain of €37 million). 

Loss allowances amounted to a net addition of €46 million (first half of 2024: net addition of €53 million). 

Of this total, net additions of €3 million (first half of 2024: net reversal of €14 million) related to loss 

allowances in stage 1, net reversals of €9 million (first half of 2024: net addition of €40 million) related to loss 

allowances in stage 2, and net additions of €52 million related to loss allowances in stage 3 including gains 

and losses on purchased or originated credit-impaired assets (POCI assets) and other income/expense from loss 

allowances (first half of 2024: net addition of €27 million). In this figure, net additions of €87 million (first half 

of 2024: net addition of €56 million) related to loss allowances in stage 3 and income of €35 million (first half 

of 2024: income of €29 million) related to other income/expense from loss allowances that was primarily 

influenced by recoveries of €36 million on loans and advances previously impaired (first half of 2024: 

€23 million). This predominantly resulted from interest paid on impaired loans and advances. 

The net reversals of €6 million in stages 1 and 2 in the first half of 2025 were attributable, in particular, to 

parameter adjustments in the context of the calculation of parameter-based loss allowances, macroeconomic 

changes, and changes in the portfolio. Furthermore, loss allowances were increased in stage 3 owing to 

additions in respect of individual counterparties following changes in credit ratings. These were partly offset 

by reversals for some counterparties. 

Administrative expenses increased by €10 million to €738 million (first half of 2024: €728 million). 

Staff expenses rose by €27 million to €366 million (first half of 2024: €339 million). This was due to higher 

wages and salaries – and thus higher social security expenses – resulting not only from an increase in the 

number of employees but also from pay rises. 

Other administrative expenses decreased by €17 million to €372 million (first half of 2024: €389 million). 

Within this figure, the contributions to the BVR protection scheme were €20 million lower than in the prior-

year period at €26 million (first half of 2024: €46 million). Consultancy expenses also decreased, falling by 

€10 million to €92 million (first half of 2024: €102 million). IT costs, by contrast, rose by €11 million to 

€118 million (first half of 2024: €107 million). The depreciation and amortization charges were on a par with 

the prior-year period at €29 million (first half of 2024: €29 million).  

Other net operating income, which totaled €26 million (first half of 2024: €1 million), included income 

from the reversal of provisions and accruals of €36 million (first half of 2024: €13 million).  

Profit before taxes amounted to €610 million in the reporting period, which was €227 million higher than 

the figure of €383 million reported for the comparative period. 

The cost/income ratio came to 52.9 percent in the first half of 2025 (first half of 2024: 62.5 percent). 

Regulatory RORAC was 21.2 percent (first half of 2024: 13.7 percent). 
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3.2.6 DZ HYP 

At €393 million, the net interest income of DZ HYP was €4 million higher than in the prior-year period (first 

half of 2024: €389 million). One of the drivers of net interest income was the average volume of real estate 

loans, which stood at €57.4 billion (first half of 2024: €56.9 billion).  

The volume of new business (including public-sector finance) stood at €4,589 million (first half of 2024: 

€3,889 million). In the corporate customer business, the volume of new business came to €3,574  million (first 

half of 2024: €3,206 million). In the retail customer business, the volume of new commitments amounted to 

€738 million (first half of 2024: €452 million). In the public-sector business, DZ HYP generated a new business 

volume of €277 million (first half of 2024: €231 million). 

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments deteriorated by €29 million to a net loss of 

€54 million (first half of 2024: net loss of €25 million). This was chiefly due to the negative liquidity-spread-

related valuation effects on own issues of €40 million (first half of 2024: positive effects of €9 million). On the 

other hand, the positive change in credit spreads on bonds from eurozone periphery countries resulted in a 

contribution to earnings of €15 million (first half of 2024: €7 million).  

Loss allowances amounted to a net addition of €40 million (first half of 2024: net addition of €39 million).  

Administrative expenses increased by €5 million to €136 million (first half of 2024: €131 million). Staff 

expenses rose to €64 million (first half of 2024: €58 million). Other administrative expenses totaled €73 million 

(first half of 2024: €73 million). 

Based on the changes described above, profit before taxes decreased by €37 million to €171 million (first 

half of 2024: €208 million). 

The cost/income ratio came to 39.1 percent (first half of 2024: 34.7 percent). 

Regulatory RORAC was 28.9 percent (first half of 2024: 31.1 percent). 

3.2.7 DZ PRIVATBANK 

The net interest income of DZ PRIVATBANK fell by €16 million to €73 million (first half of 2024: €89 million) 

due in particular to lower money market income and lower interest on deposits. 

Net fee and commission income went up by €6 million to €121 million (first half of 2024: €115 million). 

Contributions to earnings in private banking and the fund services business are the main drivers of net fee and 

commission income. 

As at June 30, 2025, high-net-worth individuals’ assets under management, which comprise the volume of 

securities, derivatives, and deposits of customers in the private banking business, came to €27.6  billion (June 

30, 2024: €24.8 billion). 

The value of funds under management declined to €169.0 billion (June 30, 2024: €206.6 billion), largely as 

result of the loss of a major customer. The number of fund-related mandates was 559 (June 30, 2024: 602). 

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments improved by €24 million to a net gain of 

€2 million (first half of 2024: net loss of €22 million). The prior-year figure had mainly been influenced by 

liquidity-spread-related negative valuation effects on own issues measured using the fair value option.  

Administrative expenses increased by €10 million to €156 million (first half of 2024: €146 million). At 

€91 million, staff expenses were higher than in the prior-year period (first half of 2024: €84 million), partly 

because of the increase in the number of employees. Other administrative expenses amounted to €65 million 

(first half of 2024: €61 million). 
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Profit before taxes amounted to €53 million (first half of 2024: €52 million).  

The cost/income ratio came to 76.1 percent (first half of 2024: 73.7 percent). 

Regulatory RORAC was 25.0 percent (first half of 2024: 30.9 percent). 

3.2.8 VR Smart Finanz 

Net interest income at VR Smart Finanz rose to €75 million (first half of 2024: €69 million). The increase in 

net interest income was mainly due to a year-on-year rise in the lending and object finance portfolio volume 

and to higher net margins that were chiefly thanks to the increased share of the portfolio attributable to the 

‘VR Smart flexibel’ product.  

New lending and object finance business with customers in the small business, self-employed, and SME 

segments amounted to €580 million in the reporting period, which was lower than the figure for the prior-

year period of €639 million. This is because small businesses in Germany continue to be reluctant to invest. As 

a result, the volume of new collateralized finance business declined to €254 million in the reporting period 

(first half of 2024: €315 million). Demand for the ‘VR Smart flexibel’ business loan remained strong, with the 

volume of new business on a par with the prior-year period at €326 million (first half of 2024: €324 million). 

Net fee and commission income amounted to a net expense of €19 million (first half of 2024: net expense 

of €17 million). 

Loss allowances were in line with the prior-year period, amounting to a net addition of €23 million in the 

reporting period (first half of 2024: net addition of €23 million). The renewed high level of loss allowances 

reflects the persistently poor economic situation for small businesses in Germany. 

Due to a rise in general and administrative expenses and staff expenses, administrative expenses amounted 

to €42 million (first half of 2024: €39 million).  

VR Smart Finanz incurred a loss before taxes of €11 million (first half of 2024: loss of €10 million). 

The cost/income ratio came to 77.8 percent (first half of 2024: 76.5 percent). 

Regulatory RORAC was minus 12.9 percent (first half of 2024: minus 12.3 percent). 

3.2.9 DZ BANK – holding function 

Net interest income contains the interest expense on subordinated capital and senior non-preferred paper 

purchased by group entities as well as on issued subordinated capital and senior non-preferred paper. It also 

contains the net interest income/expense resulting from obtaining liquidity from the excess of non-interest-

bearing assets (e.g. long-term equity investments) over non-interest-bearing liabilities. 

Net interest income amounted to a net expense of €62 million in the period under review (first half of 2024: 

net expense of €77 million). 

The net interest expense on purchased and issued subordinated capital and senior non-preferred paper 

amounted to €37 million (first half of 2024: €35 million). 

The net interest expense resulting from obtaining liquidity from the excess of non-interest-bearing assets over 

non-interest-bearing liabilities amounted to €25 million in the period under review (first half of 2024: 

€42 million). The reduction was due to lower market interest rates in the short-dated segment. 

Administrative expenses decreased by €11 million year on year to €106 million (first half of 2024: 

€117 million).  
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The protection levies (in particular the contributions to the BVR protection scheme) declined by €9  million to 

€19 million (first half of 2024: €28 million) due to lower contributions to the BVR deposit guarantee fund. 

Furthermore, IT and project expenses decreased from €40 million in the first six months of 2024 to €34 million 

in the period under review. Expenses from the group management function rose by €4 million to €38 million 

(first half of 2024: €34 million). Other expenses for the benefit of the group and local cooperative banks were 

on a par with the prior-year period at €15 million (first half of 2024: €15 million).  

3.2.10 Other/Consolidation 

The consolidation-related adjustments shown under Other/Consolidation to reconcile operating segment 

profit/loss before taxes to consolidated profit/loss before taxes are attributable to the elimination of intragroup 

transactions and to the fact that investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the 

equity method. Differences between the figures in internal management reporting and those reported in the 

consolidated financial statements that arise from the recognition of internal transactions in the 

DZ BANK – CICB operating segment are also eliminated. 

The adjustments to net interest income were primarily the result of the elimination of intragroup dividend 

payments and were also attributable to the early redemption of issued bonds and commercial paper that  

had been acquired by entities in the DZ BANK Group other than the issuer. Internal transactions in the 

DZ BANK – CICB operating segment are also eliminated in net interest income and with offsetting entries 

under gains and losses on trading activities. 

The figure under Other/Consolidation for net fee and commission income largely relates to the fee and 

commission business of TeamBank and the BSH subgroup with the R+V subgroup. 

The remaining adjustments are mostly also attributable to the consolidation of income and expenses. 

4 Net assets 

As at June 30, 2025, the DZ BANK Group’s total assets had increased to €666,488 million (December 31, 2024: 

€659,638 million).  

The volume of business amounted to €1,270,600 million (December 31, 2024: €1,258,111 million). This 

figure comprised the total assets, the assets under management at UMH as at June 30, 2025 amounting to 

€511,164 million (December 31, 2024: €504,707 million), the financial guarantee contracts and loan 

commitments amounting to €91,471 million (December 31, 2024: €92,163 million), and the volume of trust 

activities amounting to €1,477 million (December 31, 2024: €1,603 million). 

Cash and cash equivalents increased to €85,061 million (December 31, 2024: €81,790 million). The 

increase was predominantly attributable to DZ BANK – CICB (liquidity management function). 

Loans and advances to banks rose to €143,705 million (December 31, 2024: €143,532 million). This total 

comprised loans and advances to banks in Germany of €127,484 million (December 31, 2024: €127,867 million), 

loans and advances to affiliated banks of €116,528 million (December 31, 2024: €117,967 million), and loans 

and advances to other banks of €10,956 million (December 31, 2024: €9,900 million). Loans and advances to 

foreign banks increased to €16,221 million (December 31, 2024: €15,665 million). 

Loans and advances to customers amounted to €208,177 million, which was lower than the figure of 

€208,688 million reported as at December 31, 2024. Loans and advances to foreign customers declined to 

€28,993 million (December 31, 2024: €30,123 million), while loans and advances to customers in Germany 

rose to €179,184 million (December 31, 2024: €178,565 million). 
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Financial assets held for trading amounted to €29,766 million (December 31, 2024: €30,441 million). 

Within this amount, derivatives (positive fair values) stood at €14,660 million (December 31, 2024: 

€16,231 million), bonds and other fixed-income securities at €11,160 million (December 31, 2024: 

€10,441 million), shares and other variable-yield securities at €2,506 million (December 31, 2024: 

€2,102 million), money market placements at €306 million (December 31, 2024: €680 million), and 

promissory notes and registered bonds at €1,133 million (December 31, 2024: €986 million). 

Investments rose to €66,998 million (December 31, 2024: €62,049 million). The main reasons for this 

change were an increase in bonds and other fixed-income securities to €62,897 million (December 31, 2024: 

€58,076 million) and an increase in shares and other variable-yield securities to €3,298 million (December 31, 

2024: €3,184 million). 

Investments held by insurance companies grew to €122,656 million (December 31, 2024: €122,625 million). 

Within this amount, fixed-income securities came to €56,045 million (December 31, 2024: €55,403 million), 

assets related to unit-linked contracts to €24,762 million (December 31, 2024: €24,859 million), mortgage 

loans to €12,605 million (December 31, 2024: €12,685 million), and variable-yield securities to €12,114 million 

(December 31, 2024: €12,257 million).  

Deposits from banks contracted to €184,175 million (December 31, 2024: €187,526 million). Within this 

total, deposits from domestic banks decreased to €157,801 million (December 31, 2024: €164,066 million), 

which included a fall in deposits from affiliated banks to €70,583 million (December 31, 2024: €77,432 million) 

that was primarily due to reallocations to commercial paper. By contrast, deposits from foreign banks rose  

to €26,374 million (December 31, 2024: €23,459 million). Since the beginning of this year, portfolios of 

structured money market business have no longer been held for trading. Consequently, the money market 

deposits from banks that had previously been recognized under financial liabilities held for trading were 

recognized under deposits from banks in an amount of €3,592 million as at June 30, 2025. 

Deposits from customers declined to €148,814 million (December 31, 2024: €154,103 million), 

predominantly owing to a reduction in the volume of overnight money and fixed-term deposits. Deposits from 

domestic customers shrank to €131,340 million (December 31, 2024: €133,575 million), while deposits from 

foreign customers fell to €17,474 million (December 31, 2024: €20,528 million).  

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of debt certificates issued including bonds was 

€124,384 million (December 31, 2024: €109,810 million), predominantly because of a rise in commercial 

paper and increased issues of mortgage Pfandbriefe. Within the total figure, the portfolio of bonds issued 

came to €86,435 million (December 31, 2024: €88,139 million), while the portfolio of other debt certificates 

issued stood at €37,950 million (December 31, 2024: €21,672 million). As was also the case as at December 

31, 2024, all other debt certificates issued are commercial paper. 

Financial liabilities held for trading declined to €41,471 million (December 31, 2024: €42,234 million). 

Within this figure, money market deposits contracted to €41 million (December 31, 2024: €3,754 million). 

Since the beginning of this year, portfolios of structured money market business have no longer been held for 

trading. Consequently, the money market deposits from banks that had previously been recognized under 

financial liabilities held for trading were recognized under deposits from banks in an amount of €3,592 million 

as at June 30, 2025. However, bonds issued advanced to €22,796 million (December 31, 2024: €20,961 million), 

derivatives (negative fair values) to €15,630 million (December 31, 2024: €14,997 million), and short positions 

to €2,865 million (December 31, 2024: €2,379 million). 

Insurance contract liabilities increased to €112,494 million (December 31, 2024: €111,340 million). This 

was predominantly due to the rise in the liability for remaining coverage to €99,788 million (December 31, 

2024: €98,482 million). 
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As at June 30, 2025, equity had advanced to €33,954 million (December 31, 2024: €32,578 million).  

The increase was mainly due to growth in retained earnings to €18,770 million (December 31, 2024: 

€17,673 million). The reserve from other comprehensive income amounted to minus €738 million  

(December 31, 2024: minus €902 million). 

The capital adequacy of the DZ BANK financial conglomerate, the DZ BANK banking group, and the R+V 

Versicherung AG insurance group is described in the risk report within this interim group management report 

(chapter VI.5). 

5 Financial position 

DZ BANK differentiates between strategic and operational liquidity management. In the context of 

liquidity management, the DZ BANK Group distinguishes between short-term liquidity (liquidity in the maturity 

band of up to one year) and structural liquidity (liquidity in the maturity band of more than one year).  

The DZ BANK Group has a diversified funding base for short-term liquidity. A considerable portion is 

accounted for by money market activities resulting from the cash-pooling function with the local cooperative 

banks. This enables cooperative banks – within the approved limits – to invest available liquidity with DZ BANK 

or to obtain liquidity from DZ BANK if they need it. This regularly results in a liquidity surplus, which provides 

one of the main bases for short-term funding in the unsecured money markets. Corporate customers and 

institutional clients are another important source of funding for covering operational liquidity requirements.  

For funding purposes, the DZ BANK Group also issues money market products based on debt certificates 

under a standardized groupwide multi-issuer euro commercial paper program through its offices and branches 

in Frankfurt am Main, New York, Hong Kong, London, and Luxembourg. In addition, a US CP head office 

program is used centrally by DZ BANK Frankfurt am Main. 

Key repo and securities lending activities, together with the collateral management process, are managed 

centrally in DZ BANK’s Group Treasury division as a basis for secured money market financing activities. 

Funding on the interbank market is not strategically important to the DZ BANK Group. 

The DZ BANK Group also has at its disposal liquid securities that form part of its counterbalancing capacity. 

These securities can be used as collateral in monetary policy funding transactions with central banks, or in 

connection with secured funding in private markets. 

Structural liquidity activities are used to manage and satisfy the long-term funding requirements (more than 

one year) of DZ BANK and, in coordination with the group entities, those of the DZ BANK Group. 

The risk report within this interim group management report includes disclosures on liquidity adequacy 

(chapter VI.4). The year-on-year changes in cash flows from operating activities, investing activities, and 

financing activities are shown in the statement of cash flows in the interim consolidated financial statements. 

25



DZ BANK  
2025 Half-Year Financial Report 

Interim group management report 

Events after the balance sheet date 

III Events after the balance sheet date 

Details of events of particular importance after the end of the first half of 2025 can be found in note 59 of the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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IV Outlook 

1 Economic conditions 

1.1 Global economic trends  

The global economy is facing considerable challenges and heightened uncertainty in 2025. DZ BANK believes 

that this is chiefly due to the policymaking of the US administration, which has instigated a drastic U-turn in 

US trade policy by massively increasing tariffs. Despite bilateral agreements that provide for somewhat more 

moderate import duties compared with the tariffs originally threatened, goods from China and the EU are 

particularly heavily affected. The US president’s unpredictable style of policymaking is piling on uncertainty in 

international trade. 

 

The new US policies already sharply skewed the growth profiles of numerous countries ’ economies in the first 

half of 2025 as a result of international trade and US consumer spending being brought forward. The US 

economy itself is also being adversely impacted by the tariff policy. This will especially be the case as inflation 

starts to rise as a result of the higher tariffs, thereby curbing consumer spending. Moreover, the jump in 

uncertainty threatens to make businesses reluctant to invest. In the second half of 2025, and particularly in 

the current third quarter, growth is expected to be extremely weak in most major economies. The global 

economy will likely expand by 2.9 percent in 2025 as a whole, which is around 0.3 percentage points less  

than in 2024.  

 

Europe, and more specifically Germany, should once again provide some rays of economic hope. With the 

significant spending boost that it has planned for infrastructure projects and defense, the new German 

government is not just improving growth prospects from 2026. In fact, the mood is already lifting in the 

German economy. The European Central Bank’s interest-rate reduction, bringing rates into neutral territory, is 

also very welcome and means that monetary policy in the eurozone is no longer likely to hamper investment 

and consumer spending going forward. 

 

The various conflicts around the world and the resulting trade frictions are also holding back the global 

economy. These developments are covered in chapter VI.3 of the risk report. 

1.2 Trends in the USA 

In 2025, the US government’s trade policies are having an effect on the economy of the United States. Now 

that the impact of spending brought forward due to the announced tariffs has abated, DZ BANK believes that 

the outlook for the US economy for the rest of 2025 remains muted. Inflation will likely increase due to the 

tariffs, which will in turn curb consumer spending. On the other hand, tax cuts under the One Big Beautiful 

Bill Act should provide modest support for growth. DZ BANK expects the US economy to grow by 1.5 percent 

overall in 2025. Nevertheless, concerns continue to abound due to the US president’s erratic policymaking, 

and the risk of a recession remains.  

1.3 Trends in the eurozone 

In the first half of 2025, economic growth in the eurozone was heavily affected by US tariff policy, leading to 

a surge in gross domestic product in the first quarter. Due to the absence of the spending brought forward 

and the introduction of high tariffs in the second quarter, however, this did not last.  

 

The fallout from the tariffs will likely continue to hold back the eurozone economy as 2025 progresses. The 

European Commission has reached agreement with the US administration on import tariffs of 15 percent on 

European goods. The tariffs under the agreement are nowhere near as high as the US president had at times 

threatened, but they are still materially higher than before he took office. There are also certain detailed issues 

that remain to be clarified. For eurozone-based companies that wish to continue exporting to the United 

States, concerns thus remain about whether this tariff agreement will last. They will probably postpone 
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investment projects for the time being. Against this backdrop, GDP is not expected to rise in the second half 

of 2025. Due to the better first half of the year, DZ BANK still nonetheless predicts economic growth for the 

eurozone of around 1.0 percent in 2025.  

 

Upward pressure on consumer prices has continued to ease in 2025 compared with last year. In fact, the rate 

of inflation was back just below the European Central Bank’s 2.0 percent target at 1.9 percent in May 2025 

and was exactly on target in June and July. The weakness of the economy and the waning pressure on wages 

should, in DZ BANK’s opinion, ensure that inflation remains at around the 2 percent mark for the rest of the 

year. For 2025 as a whole, DZ BANK forecasts an inflation rate of 2.0 percent, which is 0.4 percentage points 

lower than in 2024. 

1.4  Trends in Germany 

After a less than satisfactory 2024, the German economy began to pick up again in the first half of 2025. This 

is likely attributable to spending that was brought forward ahead of the announced US tariffs, but the 

momentum started to tail off again in the second quarter of 2025. 

 

Germany’s manufacturing sector, in particular, is faced with structural challenges. Energy prices for 

manufacturers are high by international comparison and China is transitioning from an export market for 

German products to a rival producer of high-quality industrial goods, thereby putting pressure on German 

industry. DZ BANK believes that domestic policy in Germany has been providing fresh momentum since the 

coalition between the CDU/CSU and the SPD was agreed in spring. However, a number of initiatives, such  

as the infrastructure package, will not provide tangible economic support until next year. Better depreciation 

rules (referred to as investment boosters) and increased spending on defense should generate slightly higher 

demand as early as the second half of this year, however. At the same time, US tariffs and an overall weak 

global economy will hinder the German economy. DZ BANK therefore estimates that German economic 

output will stagnate in 2025. The German economy will thus not be able to shrug off its weakness for a  

while longer, having already experienced two years of economic contraction. 

 

Persistently weak economic conditions and the easing of upward pressure on energy prices are having a 

dampening effect on inflation. DZ BANK predicts an inflation rate of 2.0 percent for Germany in 2025,  

which is lower than the level seen in 2024. 

1.5 Trends in the financial sector 

In a turnaround in interest-rate policy, the major central banks lowered interest rates last year. The federal 

funds rate of the US central bank (Fed) was cut to a target range of between 4.25 percent and 4.5 percent at 

the end of 2024 and has remained at that level since. By contrast, the European Central Bank (ECB) decreased 

the main refinancing operations interest rate in the eurozone in several stages, reducing it from 3.15 percent 

at the end of 2024 to stand at 2.15 percent at the end of the reporting period. DZ BANK believes that the ECB 

will lower its benchmark rate further over the course of 2025 and that the Fed will make a small reduction too.  

 

Signs are now emerging of a change of direction in the real estate market. Following the correction of 

property valuations caused by the spike in interest rates, prices of residential property are now picking up 

again. A clear price increase can be discerned for multi-unit residential properties. This is attributable to the 

consistently high level of demand for residential properties amid tight supply, and to rising rents. Commercial 

real estate prices have seen a modest decline. This downward trend is expected to continue in the coming 

months, although market conditions will likely present a mixed picture. DZ BANK continues to believe that 

yields will remain steady. 

 

The encouraging stock market growth seen in 2024 continued in the reporting period. Whereas US indices 

appear to have recovered from their brief slump amid much volatility, the DAX and EURO STOXX notched up 

further increases in the first half of 2025. For the remainder of 2025, DZ BANK predicts that share prices will 

stabilize at a high level. With regard to the EUR/USD exchange rate, the DZ BANK Group expects the euro to 

appreciate against the US dollar in the long term.  
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The financial sector will continue to face pressures in terms of both adjustment and costs stemming from 

structural changes and growing price competition. They are an additional challenge on top of the economic 

factors. To counter these headwinds, existing business models need to be reviewed and adapted if required. 

Efficiency must also be improved by digitalizing business processes further. 

 

The implementation of future EU banking regulations will necessitate further adaptation in the financial 

sector. The agenda of reforms drawn up by the supervisory authorities in response to the financial crisis is 

aimed at making the financial industry more resilient in the event of a crisis and ensuring that risks arising 

from its business activities are not borne by the public sector. Prompted by the reforms, the financial industry 

has reduced its leverage and strengthened its risk-bearing capacity, in particular by improving capital and 

liquidity adequacy. The adoption of standards relating to the environment, social matters, and responsible 

corporate governance (ESG) will require more adjustments to be made in the financial industry. Despite efforts 

to cut bureaucracy, a key challenge in this regard remains implementing these regulatory requirements in 

overall business management, risk management, and reporting systems.  

2 Financial position and financial performance 

The forecasts below are based on the outcome of the DZ BANK Group’s projection process. Some of the 

forecasts have changed compared with those in the 2024 group management report due to new information 

coming to light. Changes in the aforementioned assumptions, particularly as a result of the macroeconomic 

conditions described above, may lead to deviations from the forecasts. 

 

The equity and total assets of the DZ BANK Group are not expected to change materially year on year in 

2025, based on the information currently available. 

 

In light of the challenging economic outlook, net interest income (including net income from long-term 

equity investments) is predicted to fall significantly in 2025 compared with the high level recorded in 2024. 

The figure for 2024 received a noticeable boost not only from the encouraging level of income from the 

operating business but also from accounting-related effects that had a positive impact on net interest income 

but a countervailing negative impact on gains and losses on trading activities. 

 

A small year-on-year improvement in net fee and commission income is projected for 2025, which will thus 

remain a mainstay of the DZ BANK Group’s earnings.  

 

In all probability, gains and losses on trading activities will improve considerably year on year, returning to 

a net gain in 2025. This can be explained by the accounting-related effects mentioned above in connection 

with net interest income, which resulted in a net loss on trading activities in the prior year.  

 

A high net gain was achieved under gains and losses on investments in 2024. A sharp deterioration is 

expected in the reporting year. 

 

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments will deteriorate substantially in 2025. This is 

mainly because the recent very positive effects in the DZ BANK – CICB and UMH operating segments will no 

longer be included. 

 

Based on the latest projections, net income from insurance business is expected to edge up in 2025, 

primarily because the insurance service result is predicted to improve.  

 

The DZ BANK Group’s expenses for loss allowances are forecast to decline significantly in 2025 compared 

with 2024, owing in particular to lower expenses in the DZ BANK – CICB operating segment. 
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A moderate increase in administrative expenses is predicted for 2025, with primarily staff expenses 

expected to continue driving the increase.  

 

Having been at a very high level in 2024, other net operating income is expected to fall significantly in the 

forecast period. This can be explained by various effects in the individual operating segments, although some 

of them will offset each other.  

 

Following the very good figure posted for 2024, profit before taxes is predicted to fall slightly in 2025 but 

remain above €3 billion. Net profit is expected to be around the level of the prior-year figure. 

 

The cost/income ratio is likely to climb a little in 2025 owing to a small decrease in income and a moderate 

rise in administrative expenses. 

 

Regulatory RORAC will decrease noticeably in 2025 due to the higher base rate of return used in the 

calculation. 

3 Liquidity and capital adequacy 

Based on the liquidity risks measured as at the reporting date and the liquidity levels available, the liquidity 

adequacy of the DZ BANK Group and the DZ BANK banking group were assured for the remainder of 2025 

at the time of preparation of this interim group management report, from both an economic and a regulatory 

perspective. Further information on liquidity adequacy can be found in the risk report (chapter VI.4). 

 

The capital adequacy of the DZ BANK Group, the DZ BANK financial conglomerate, and the DZ BANK 

banking group were assured for the second half of the year at the time of preparation of this interim group 

management report, from both an economic and a regulatory perspective; that is to say, they have sufficient 

available internal capital and own funds that can be drawn on to cover the risks measured as at the reporting 

date. Further information on capital adequacy can be found in the risk report (chapter VI.5). 
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V Opportunity report  

1 Legal basis 

In its capacity as the parent company in the DZ BANK Group, DZ BANK is publishing this half-year opportunity 

report in order to meet the transparency requirements for opportunities applicable to the DZ BANK Group as 

specified in section 115 and section 117 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) and German 

Accounting Standard (GAS) 16 (Interim financial reporting) in conjunction with GAS 20 (Group management 

report). 

2 Management of opportunities 

Based on the three areas of potential listed in chapter V.3, such as better economic conditions than those 

assumed in the planning scenario, the DZ BANK Group defines opportunities as situations in which potential 

income can be unlocked and/or potential cost savings can be achieved.  

 

The management of opportunities is integrated into the annual strategic planning process. The potential for 

returns is identified and analyzed on the basis of various macroeconomic scenarios, trends, and changes in the 

market environment, and then included in strategic financial planning. Details about the strategic planning 

process are presented in chapter I.2.4 of the 2024 group management report. 

 

Opportunity management is an integral component of governance and is therefore taken into account in the 

general management approach, in the management of subsidiaries via appointments to key posts, and in the 

DZ BANK Group’s committees. Details about the governance of the DZ BANK Group can be found in 

chapter I.2.2 of the 2024 group management report.  

3 Potential opportunities 

3.1 Potential opportunities from macroeconomic developments 

The statements made in the outlook on the expected business performance of the DZ BANK Group in 2025 are 

based on the macroeconomic scenario that DZ BANK considers to be the most likely. Opportunities may arise for 

the DZ BANK Group if economic conditions in the relevant markets prove to be better than in this scenario. 

 

In a positive scenario such as that, the trade disputes between the United States and its most important trading 

partners would be settled through negotiations, returning tariff policy to normal and alleviating concerns in the 

global economy. This would stimulate more growth than anticipated in the eurozone. Germany’s export-led 

economy would particularly benefit from this, but economic growth in China and the United States could also 

stabilize as a result.  

 

An easing of tensions in geopolitical trouble spots would also provide positive impetus. These include an end to 

the war in Ukraine, de-escalation of the conflict in the Middle East, and an easing of tensions in the South China 

Sea. They would have a stabilizing effect on the global economic situation and counteract the elevated volatility 

in financial markets around the world. A more stable political and financial environment would also give less 

ground to growing nationalistic and right-wing populist trends in Europe and thereby strengthen investor and 

business confidence. 

 

In light of improved growth prospects and with inflation hovering at just under the 2 percent mark, the 

European Central Bank could cut its deposit facility interest rate to below 2 percent before the end of 2025. 

Further reductions in key interest rates, in combination with a consistent and moderate rate of inflation, would 
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stimulate investment and improve consumer sentiment. Real estate prices, which have stabilized of late, would 

also continue to benefit, with positive knock-on effects on the DZ BANK Group’s financial performance. This 

growth outlook and the associated increases in corporate profits would produce a robust uptrend in the 

European share indices too.  

 

In a positive scenario, European politics would be more cohesive and less susceptible to abrupt political changes, 

which would also boost investor confidence and potentially improve market growth. A consistent economic 

approach in Europe, joint decision-making, and a gradual lowering of the key interest rate could stimulate 

growth in the eurozone despite high debt levels.  

 

A sustained positive attitude to innovation and investment on the part of the new government in Germany 

would also have a positive impact. The strategic raising of debt levels to enable increased spending on defense 

and investment in infrastructure would be beneficial in this case as the capital spending would pay off in the 

medium term and generate growth in the long term. The stability of the two coalition parties and their 

willingness to make decisions play a crucial role in this regard. It means that Germany could take on a leading 

role in Europe and set the tone for fiscal and economic policy, bringing about a lasting upswing, particularly on 

the domestic front. 

 

All of the positive factors outlined above are highly unlikely to materialize together. From the DZ BANK Group’s 

perspective, however, even the occurrence of individual factors would create an environment that would 

probably benefit its business models and its financial position and financial performance. Stable conditions in the 

financial and capital markets would have a positive impact on the net interest income and net fee and 

commission income generated from customer business and on net income from insurance business. In particular, 

the economy recovering and crises not worsening could potentially limit the net expense recognized for loss 

allowances and thereby help to increase the Group’s net profit. 

3.2 Potential opportunities from regulatory initiatives 

Regulatory changes and initiatives may provide banks and insurance companies with the opportunity to offer 

products or services that are better tailored to customers’ needs. Further development of statutory requirements, 

such as the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR) as part of the EU Sustainable Finance Framework, 

may lead to customers and the markets participating in sustainable finance initiatives on a greater scale, which 

would provide banks and insurance companies with the opportunity to strengthen the unique selling points of 

their products and services and to unlock potential growth in sustainable finance. This would have a positive 

impact on, for example, net fee and commission income and net interest income. 

3.3 Potential opportunities from strategic initiatives 

The strategic focus of the DZ BANK Group (see chapter I.1 of the 2024 group management report) follows the 

guiding principle of fulfilling the role of a network-oriented central institution and financial services 

group. Business activities are centered on the local cooperative banks and their customers. The objective of this 

strategic approach is to consolidate the positioning of the Cooperative Financial Network as one of the leading 

financial services providers in Germany on a long-term basis. The partnership between the cooperative banks and 

the entities in the DZ BANK Group is built on the principles of subsidiarity, decentralization, and regional market 

responsibility. 

 

The DZ BANK Group develops and implements strategic initiatives and programs at three levels: 

 

Firstly, the entities in the DZ BANK Group work on strategic projects and initiatives in collaboration with the 

cooperative banks and Atruvia AG, Frankfurt am Main, with the leading role taken by the Bundesverband der 

Deutschen Volksbanken und Raiffeisenbanken e.V., Berlin (BVR) [National Association of German Cooperative 

Banks]. By implementing the strategy agenda, the central service providers in the Cooperative Financial Network 

assist the cooperative banks with their individual strategic processes and help them to assume responsibility for 

their own profitability. Based on the strategy agenda, the ‘Germany-wide strategic portfolio bringing together 
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strategic initiatives of the Cooperative Financial Network’ has been established with the aim of improving the 

transparency of these initiatives for the cooperative banks. 

 

Secondly, the entities in the DZ BANK Group have jointly identified key areas of potential (such as operating 

models and sustainability) in order to reinforce their future viability and profitability. The aim is to continue to 

develop and take action in these areas over the coming years. Two new areas of potential related to the EU’s 

Financial Data Access Regulation (Open Finance / FIDA) and merchant customers have been established this year. 

 

Thirdly, each individual entity in the DZ BANK Group pursues its own strategic initiatives. One example is the 

‘Verbund First 4.0’ strategic program at DZ BANK, which is designed to ensure the organization’s resilience for 

the future. The program is aimed at improvements in three key areas: market presence (network-focused, 

customer-oriented, and digital), control and production processes (efficient, effective, and focused), and 

corporate culture (performance-driven and integrative). The ‘Verbund First 4.0’ strategic program is updated 

continually in line with requirements. Topics that are related to ‘Verbund First 4.0’, such as sustainability, 

digitalization (e.g. generative artificial intelligence), and employer branding, are key elements of the 

transformation of the economy. 

 

Under its ‘#Fokus100’ strategy, BSH describes its long-term objective through its vision of being a reliable 

partner that helps its customers to achieve their dreams when it comes to their home. The building society works 

with the cooperative banks to develop all-round solutions in the homes and housebuilding ecosystem, thereby 

strengthening the Cooperative Financial Network. It intends to remain the market leader in the home savings 

market and, together with the cooperative banks, aims to be no. 1 in the home finance market. In addition, it is 

striving to make inroads into new areas of growth for homes and housebuilding by maintaining a firm focus on 

customers and facilitating close collaboration between the cooperative banks and BSH’s field staff on marketing. 

BSH is the cooperative center of excellence (provider of products and solutions) for homes and housebuilding, 

and it wishes to play an important part in strengthening the Cooperative Financial Network’s market position. 

 

DZ HYP is forging ahead with digitalization in many areas of its business. In consumer home finance, it is further 

expanding its role as a decentralized product supplier for the banks in the Cooperative Financial Network. It is 

focusing on forward-looking solutions that are designed to simplify the application processes for new business 

and make the processing of inquiries from existing customers significantly more straightforward. Through its 

connection to the Atruvia AG omnichannel platform, DZ HYP is creating new ways of collaborating with local 

cooperative banks. Digital self-service is being combined with face-to-face support. DZ HYP is championing 

digital services for looking after existing customers too. It makes relevant information about the finance already 

taken out by a customer on the Meine Baufinanzierung [my home finance] portal, thereby reducing the local 

cooperative banks’ workload in terms of handling customer inquiries. The main aspects of DZ HYP’s FK Digital 

project in its corporate customer business are deploying data optimally within processes, improving interfaces, 

and unlocking the associated potential for greater efficiency while, at the same time, catering to the current and 

future requirements of market players and supervisory authorities alike. The initial implementation phase of 

FK Digital began in 2023 and is expected to be completed in the second half of 2025. This should also help to 

further optimize the bank’s streamlined, profitable approach incorporating intensive customer relationship 

management. Furthermore, the bank has drawn up a strategy for implementing the DZ HYP cloud infrastructure. 

The fundamental cloud infrastructure, which had been established in 2024, was migrated into the IT landscape 

as the future operating model as at the reporting date. In this context, DZ HYP sees the use of artificial 

intelligence as a key issue for the future. As part of a preliminary study initiated in the third quarter of 2024, 

preparations were made for an implementation project in 2025. Based on use cases, the added value from the 

strategic use of artificial intelligence will be tested in the handling of a number of processes. The real estate 

sector has the potential to play a key role in combating climate change. DZ HYP sees its own role as supporting 

the green transformation of the economy in order to channel cash flows toward more sustainable business, for 

example by financing more energy-efficient real estate. 

 

Our vision ‘We are a go-to partner for our customers. We are driving a new era of security, healthcare, and 

provision for the future – simple, personal, inspirational. In fast-moving times, our Cooperative Financial Network 
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makes the difference.’ provides the framework for R+V’s new internal strategy. In terms of content, three areas 

of strategic focus lie at the heart of the NextLevel strategy. By focusing on cooperative customers, the strategy is 

aimed at better unlocking the Cooperative Financial Network’s potential and winning more market share, all 

while remaining customer centric. Through a combination of initiatives to enhance its operational, technological, 

and insurance excellence, R+V intends to become more efficient and profitable, thereby enhancing its 

competitiveness and viability going forward. R+V also aims to foster a culture of individual responsibility, 

encouraging employees to use their initiative. At the same time, the centralized and strict management of capital 

and resources is intended to ensure that these are used efficiently within the company.  

 

Union Investment has created the internal FitForFuture program, which establishes a financial basis for strategic 

areas of investment going forward. This basis allows strategic investments for the future, while the business 

model can be refined more rapidly. A key area of action for attracting the next generation of customers to the 

fund business and retaining them within the Cooperative Financial Network is digitalizing the interfaces 

throughout the entire marketing process. Union Investment’s positioning as an active asset manager remains 

crucial for it to stand out in the market, target new customer groups, and, in the high-net-worth segment in 

particular, ensure its product offering meets expectations. Refining the business model also requires internal 

processes to be quicker, coupled with a high degree of willingness to learn on the part of all employees. The 

supporting internal programs have got under way and the first effects are being seen.  

Taking account of FitForFuture, all this investment in the future will be cost-neutral and should thus secure the 

viability and profitable growth of the Union Investment Group going forward. 

 

Positive effects from the strategic initiatives and programs could have a beneficial impact on, for example, net fee 

and commission income, net interest income, or administrative expenses. 
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VI Risk report 

1 Legal basis and disclosure principles 

In its capacity as the parent company in the DZ BANK Group, DZ BANK is publishing this half-year risk report in 

order to meet the transparency requirements for risks applicable to the DZ BANK Group as specified in section 

115 and section 117 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) and German Accounting Standard 

(GAS) 16 (Interim financial reporting) in conjunction with GAS 20 (Group management report). This report also 

implements the applicable international risk reporting requirements on the basis of International Accounting 

Standard (IAS) 34, although the legal standards applicable to annual reporting under the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) – IFRS 7.31-42 (nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments) and 

IFRS 17.121-132 (nature and extent of risks that arise from contracts within the scope of IFRS 17) – are taken 

into account. 

 

In preparing this risk report, DZ BANK also takes account of the recommended risk-related disclosures issued 

by the Financial Stability Board, the European Banking Authority, and the European Securities and Markets 

Authority that are designed to improve the usefulness of the disclosures in the decision-making process. 

 

The quantitative disclosures in this risk report are based on information that is presented to the Board of 

Managing Directors and used for internal management purposes (known as the management approach). The 

disclosure of this information, which is important for knowledgeable users, is designed to ensure that external 

reporting is useful when such users need to make decisions.  

 

This half-year report only provides an overview of the core elements of the risk management system of the 

DZ BANK Group. The risk management system is presented in full in the risk report in the 2024 group 

management report (‘2024 risk report’). Those disclosures are also applicable to the first half of this year, unless 

otherwise indicated in this report.  

 

 

 

DZ BANK Group 

2 Summary 

2.1 Risk management system 

2.1.1 Fundamental features of risk management 

Risks result from adverse developments affecting financial position or financial performance, and essentially 

comprise the risk of an unexpected future liquidity shortfall or unexpected future losses. A distinction is made 

between liquidity and capital. Risks that materialize can affect both of these resources. 

 

The DZ BANK Group has a risk management system that is updated on an ongoing basis in line with changes 

to the business and regulatory environment. The risk management system is designed to enable them to identify 

material risks – particularly risks to their ability to continue as a going concern – at an early stage and to initiate 

the necessary control measures. The main elements of the risk management system are organizational 

arrangements, methods, IT systems, the limit system based on economic risk-bearing capacity, stress testing of all 

material risk types, and internal reporting. 
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The risk management system is based on the risk appetite statement – the fundamental document for 

determining risk appetite in the DZ BANK Group – and the specific details and additions set out in risk 

strategies, which are consistent with the business strategy and are approved by the Board of Managing 

Directors. The risk appetite statement contains risk policy guidelines and strategy requirements that are 

applicable throughout the group. It also sets out quantitative requirements reflecting risk appetite. 

 

The DZ BANK Group strives to avoid concentrations of risk that are not the conscious result of business policy. 

 

The methods used to measure risk are an integral element of the risk management system. They are regularly 

reviewed, refined where necessary, and adapted to changes in internal and external requirements. Risk model 

calculations are used to manage the DZ BANK Group. 

 

The tools used for the purposes of risk management are also designed to enable the DZ BANK Group to respond 

appropriately to significant market movements. For example, the market data used for the centralized, 

model-driven measurement of market risk is updated every trading day and significant market movements 

therefore lead to an immediate increase in the volatility of risk factors and, consequently, changes in market risk. 

In addition, changes in credit ratings and correlations affect the modeled level of credit risk. Conservative crisis 

scenarios for short-term and medium-term liquidity are intended to ensure that liquidity risk management takes 

adequate account of market crises. 

2.1.2 Management units and sectors 

Risk is managed groupwide on a consolidated basis and includes all entities in the DZ BANK Group. DZ BANK 

and its material subsidiaries – material in terms of their contribution to the DZ BANK Group’s aggregate risk; also 

referred to below as management units – are directly incorporated into the group’s risk management system, 

and managed, on the basis of the material risk types.  

 

From a risk perspective, the ‘DZ BANK’ management unit equates to the central institution and corporate bank 

operating segment and the holding function. The non-material subsidiaries and investee entities of DZ BANK are 

integrated into the risk management system either directly as part of other types of risk or indirectly as part of 

equity investment risk. How they are integrated is decided annually. 

 

Where a subsidiary defined as a management unit acts as the parent company of a subgroup, the entire 

subgroup comprising the parent company plus its subsidiaries and second-tier subsidiaries is considered to be the 

management unit. This means that the subsidiaries, second-tier subsidiaries, and investees of the DZ BANK 

subsidiaries are also included in the DZ BANK Group’s risk management system – indirectly via the entities that 

are included directly – with due regard to the minimum standards applicable throughout the group. 

 

The management units represent the operating segments in the interim consolidated financial statements of 

the DZ BANK Group and form the core of the financial services group.  

 

The insurance business operated at R+V differs in material respects from the other businesses of the DZ BANK 

Group. For example, actuarial risk is subject to factors that are largely different from those affecting the risks 

typically assumed in banking business. Furthermore, policyholders have a share in any gains or losses from 

investments in connection with life insurance, health insurance, and casualty insurance as specified under 

statutory or contractual arrangements, and this must be appropriately taken into account in the measurement of 

risk. Not least, the supervisory authorities also treat banking business and insurance business differently and this 

is reflected in differing regulatory regimes for banks and insurance companies. 
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Two sectors – Bank sector and Insurance sector – have been created within the DZ BANK Group for the purposes 

of economic risk management. The management units are assigned to these sectors as follows: 

 

Bank sector: 

− DZ BANK 

− BSH 

− DZ HYP 

− DZ PRIVATBANK 

− TeamBank 

− UMH 

− VR Smart Finanz 

 

Insurance sector:  

− R+V 

 

In the context of quantitative disclosures on the economic and the regulatory (normative) risk-bearing capacity of 

the DZ BANK Group and the DZ BANK financial conglomerate, the abbreviation R+V as used in this risk report 

refers to the R+V Versicherung AG insurance group for regulatory purposes. In contrast to the R+V subgroup 

defined in chapter I.2.1 of the 2024 group management report, the regulatory R+V Versicherung AG insurance 

group also comprises KRAVAG-SACH Versicherung des Deutschen Kraftverkehrs VaG, Hamburg. 

 

The subject of normative risk management is the DZ BANK banking group as defined in accordance with 

section 10a of the German Banking Act (KWG) in conjunction with articles 11 and 18 of the Capital 

Requirements Regulation (CRR). The DZ BANK banking group consists of DZ BANK as the superordinated entity 

plus other institutions and financial institutions that qualify as subsidiaries according to article 4 (1) no. 16 CRR. 

These entities essentially represent the Bank sector. Other subsidiaries that are consolidated for regulatory 

purposes are not included in the regulatory risk report owing to their minor significance. Equally, insurance 

companies and companies not in the financial sector are not part of the banking group for regulatory purposes. 

R+V is fully consolidated for commercial-law purposes but is not included in the banking group for regulatory 

purposes. 

2.1.3 KPIs 

Risks affecting liquidity and capital resources are managed on the basis of groupwide liquidity risk management 

and groupwide risk capital management. The purpose of liquidity risk management is to ensure adequate 

levels of liquidity reserves are in place in respect of risks arising from future payment obligations (liquidity 

adequacy). The aim of risk capital management is to ensure the availability of capital resources that are 

commensurate with the risks assumed (capital adequacy).  

 

The key risk management figures used in respect of liquidity are  

− the minimum liquidity surplus;  

− the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR); and  

− the net stable funding ratio (NSFR).  

 

The key risk management figures used in respect of capital are  

− economic capital adequacy;  

− the coverage ratio for the financial conglomerate;  

− the regulatory capital ratios;  

− the leverage ratio; and  

− the metrics for the minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL), which are the MREL 

ratio as a percentage of risk-weighted exposure amounts, the MREL ratio as a percentage of the leverage 

ratio exposure, the subordinated MREL ratio as a percentage of risk-weighted exposure amounts, and the 

subordinated MREL ratio as a percentage of the leverage ratio exposure. 
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2.2 Risk factors and risks 

The entities in the DZ BANK Group are exposed to a number of risk factors. These include developments 

concerning the entity’s environment that may have an adverse impact on the DZ BANK Group’s future financial 

position, liquidity situation, or financial performance. Risk factors either affect multiple types of risk (general risk 

factors) or are limited to specific types of risk (specific risk factors). Disclosures on general risk factors can be 

found in chapter VI.3. The specific risk factors are shown in the risk-type-specific chapters of this risk report. 

 

The main features of the directly managed risks in the Bank and Insurance sectors and how they break down 

across the operating segments reported in note 32 of the notes to the 2024 consolidated financial statements 

were shown in Fig. VI.1 and Fig. VI.2 respectively of the 2024 risk report. The financial and non-financial risks 

shown there correspond to the outcome of the risk inventory check and reflect the risks that are material to the 

DZ BANK Group. This presentation also applies to the first six months of the current year. 

2.3 Risk profile and risk appetite 

The DZ BANK Group’s business model and the associated business models used by the management units 

determine the risk profile.  

 

The values for the measurement of liquidity and capital adequacy presented in Fig. VI.1 reflect the liquidity 

risks and the risks backed by capital assumed by the DZ BANK Group. They illustrate the risk profile of the 

DZ BANK Group. The values for these KPIs are compared against the (internal) threshold values specified by the 

Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK – also referred to below as risk appetite – and against the (external) 

minimum targets laid down by the supervisory authorities. The KPIs are explained in more detail later in this risk 

report. 

 

These observation thresholds mark the transition point from a comfortable risk situation to a state of 

heightened alert, whereas the minimum thresholds represent a mandatory internal limit that must be 

maintained. Both thresholds are elements of the risk appetite statement. The internal minimum thresholds in the 

risk appetite statement largely represent the warning thresholds in the recovery plan. They are defined by the 

Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK and presented to the Risk Committee of DZ BANK’s Supervisory Board 

for acknowledgement. Depending on the situation and significance, the Chief Risk Officer, the Chief Financial 

Officer, the relevant committee of the Board of Managing Directors, or the full Board of Managing Directors may 

initiate operational corrective measures if observation thresholds are crossed. If the minimum thresholds are 

crossed, the escalation mechanisms set out in the recovery plan are triggered.  

2.4 Solvency and risk-bearing capacity 

The solvency of DZ BANK and its subsidiaries was never in jeopardy at any point during the reporting period. 

They also complied with regulatory requirements for liquidity adequacy. By holding ample liquidity reserves, the 

group aims to be able to protect its liquidity against any threats in the event of a crisis.  

 

The DZ BANK Group remained within its economic risk-bearing capacity in the first half of 2025 and also 

complied with regulatory requirements for capital adequacy on every reporting date.  
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FIG. VI.1 – LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY KPIS 

  Measured figure 
External 

minimum target 
Internal  

minimum threshold 

Internal 
observation 
threshold 

  
Jun. 30, 

2025 
Dec. 31, 

2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 

LIQUIDITY ADEQUACY         

DZ BANK Group  
(economic perspective) 

        

Minimum liquidity surplus (€ billion)1 19.6 22.7 0.0 0.0 5.0 4.0 7.5 5.0 

DZ BANK banking group  
(normative perspective) 

        

Liquidity coverage ratio (LCR, percent)2 139.0 143.9 100.0 100.0 112.5 112.5 125.0 125.0 

Net stable funding ratio  

(NSFR, percent)3 
122.8 125.0 100.0 100.0 106.0 106.0 110.0 110.0 

CAPITAL ADEQUACY         

DZ BANK Group  
(economic perspective) 

        

Economic capital adequacy (percent)4 214.2 200.3 100.0 100.0 120.0 120.0 140.0 140.0 

DZ BANK financial conglomerate 
(normative perspective) 

        

Coverage ratio (percent)5 142.2 136.1 100.0 100.0 115.0 113.0 125.0 123.0 

DZ BANK banking group  

(normative perspective)6 
        

Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio (percent) 17.9 15.8 9.9 10.0 11.8 11.8 13.0 13.0 

Tier 1 capital ratio (percent) 20.1 17.8 11.8 11.8 13.5 13.5 14.8 14.8 

Total capital ratio (percent) 22.8 20.1 14.2 14.2 16.0 16.0 17.3 17.3 

Leverage ratio (percent) 6.7 6.6 3.0 3.0 4.0 4.0 4.3 4.3 

MREL ratio as a percentage of risk-weighted 
exposure amounts 

40.4 36.2 27.3 27.0 28.5 28.4 28.8 28.7 

MREL ratio as a percentage of the leverage 
ratio exposure 

13.6 13.4 9.8 9.5 10.2 9.9 10.5 10.2 

Subordinated MREL ratio as a percentage of 
risk-weighted exposure amounts 

33.3 29.5 27.0 27.0 28.4 28.4 28.7 28.7 

Subordinated MREL ratio as a percentage of 
the leverage ratio exposure 

11.2 10.9 9.5 8.4 9.9 8.8 10.2 9.1 

 

1 For details, see chapter VI.4.2.2. 

2 For details, see chapter VI.4.3.1. 

3 For details, see chapter VI.4.3.2. 

4 For details, see chapter VI.5.3. 

5 For details, see chapter VI.5.4.2. 

6 For details, see chapter VI.5.4.3. 

3 General risk factors 

In the first half of 2025, the general risk factors that were applicable to the DZ BANK Group were essentially 

unchanged compared with those prevailing at the end of 2024 – with the exception of the macroeconomic risk 

factor escalation of geopolitical tensions and resulting trade friction. 

 

Some regions of the world are experiencing conflict that extends beyond their borders and is resulting in tensions 

between superpowers. It is impossible to rule out adverse financial effects on the real economy in the European 

Union (EU) including Germany. Assessments as to the impact of the war in Ukraine, the tensions in the South 

China Sea, and the stand-off on the Korean peninsula remain largely unchanged compared with when the 2024 

risk report was prepared.  

 

The aforementioned geopolitical tensions can adversely affect global trade. The current situation has changed in 

the following material ways compared with the end of 2024.  

 

The political implications of the conflict in the Middle East are much further-reaching than previous disputes in 

the region, and the conflict has spread. Given the United States’ support for Israel, the situation in the region 

could deteriorate further. A further escalation of the conflict could lead to the Strait of Hormuz being blocked, 

which would halt around a fifth of the world’s oil shipments. This would probably dramatically increase the price 
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of oil and throttle global growth. This would have serious consequences for the global economy. Major 

bottlenecks would be expected in the supply of crude oil and liquefied petroleum gas, which could send global 

market prices soaring and push up inflation again. 

 

In addition to the effects of disrupted supply chains, there is an ongoing risk that the introduction of 

reciprocal tariffs will further escalate the trade friction between the United States and the EU. Since August 

2025, the EU member states have been burdened with a baseline tariff of 15 percent on all imports into the 

United States, plus the additional levies that continue to be imposed on iron, steel, and aluminum products. 

There remains a risk that the tariff agreement reached could be unilaterally revoked and the threatened 

50 percent tariffs on EU imports could then actually come into force. The new tariff arrangements could 

continue to have a negative impact on the global economy, and on the export-dependent German economy in 

particular. For companies in Germany, the restrictions on global trade could lead to higher import prices and a 

shortage of input products on the one hand and, on the other, to a decline in exports.  

 

Fig. VI.2 provides an overview of the types of risk potentially affected by negative macroeconomic conditions. 

 

 
FIG. VI.2 – MACROECONOMIC RISK FACTORS AT A GLANCE 

Macroeconomic 
risk factors 

Change 
compared with 
end of previous 

year 

Risk type affected and relevant chapter in this risk report and the 2024 risk report 

Bank sector  Insurance sector 

Escalation of geopolitical 
tensions and 
resulting trade friction 

Deterioration 

Credit risk 
Chapter VI.6.2.1 
Chapter VI.6.3 

 

Market risk 
Chapter VI.13.2.2 
Chapter VI.13.2.3  

Market risk 
2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.10.3 

 

Operational risk 
2024 risk report:  
chapter VI.14.7 

 

Global economic downturn No change 

Credit risk Chapter VI.6.2  

Market risk 
2024 risk report:  
chapter VI.17.2 

Market risk 
2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.10.3  

 

Economic policy 
divergence in the eurozone 

No change Market risk 
2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.10.3 

 Market risk Chapter VI.13.2.1  

Ongoing weakness in the 
German economy 

No change Credit risk 
Chapter VI.6.2 
Chapter VI.6.4 

 Market risk 
2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.17.2 

Correction in 

real estate markets 
No change Credit risk Chapter VI.6.2.3  Market risk 

2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.17.2 

Scenarios involving interest-

rate cuts 
No change Market risk 

2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.10.3  

 Market risk 
2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.17.2 

Scenarios involving interest-
rate hikes 

No change 

Market risk 
2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.10.3 

 Life actuarial risk 
2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.16.2 

Technical risk of a 
home savings and 
loan company 

2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.11.3 

 Market risk 
2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.17.2 

Heightened volatility in the 
global financial markets 

No change Market risk 
2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.10.3 

 Market risk 
2024 risk report: 
chapter VI.17.2 
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4 Liquidity adequacy 

4.1 Strategy 

The management of liquidity adequacy is an integral component of business management in the DZ BANK 

Group and the management units. The regulatory requirements for a bank’s internal liquidity adequacy 

assessment process (ILAAP) must be followed. Liquidity adequacy is defined as the holding of sufficient liquidity 

reserves in relation to the risks arising from future payment obligations.  

 

Economic liquidity adequacy is managed on the basis of the internal liquidity risk model, which takes account of 

the impact on liquidity of other risks when measuring liquidity risk. Liquidity risk is significantly influenced by the 

risks that are backed by capital and those that are not backed by capital. In particular, reputational risk is relevant 

to liquidity risk.  

 

The normative perspective of liquidity adequacy is primarily based on the liquidity ratios required under Basel 

Pillar 1. Its objective is to assess the DZ BANK banking group’s ability to comply with regulatory minimum 

requirements (plus an internally specified management buffer). Internal liquidity risk management is 

supplemented by the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) and the net stable funding ratio (NSFR) calculated in line with 

the CRR requirements. 

4.2 Liquidity adequacy in the economic perspective 

4.2.1 Quantitative variables in liquidity risk 

 

Liquid securities 

The available liquid securities have a material influence on the level of the minimum liquidity surplus and the 

structural minimum liquidity surplus. Liquid securities are a component of the counterbalancing capacity and 

are largely held in the portfolios managed by DZ BANK’s Group Treasury and Capital Markets Trading divisions or 

in the portfolios of the treasury units at the subsidiaries of DZ BANK. Only bearer bonds are counted as liquid 

securities. 

 

Liquid securities comprise highly liquid securities that are suitable for collateralizing funding in private markets, 

securities eligible as collateral for central bank loans, and other securities that can be liquidated in the 1-year 

forecast period that is relevant for liquidity risk. 

 

The aforementioned securities are only eligible as liquid securities if they are not pledged as collateral, e.g. for 

secured funding. Securities that have been borrowed or taken as collateral for derivatives business or in 

connection with secured funding only become eligible when they are freely transferable. Eligibility of the 

securities taken as collateral is recognized on a daily basis and also takes into account factors such as restrictions 

on the period in which the securities are freely available. 

 

Liquid securities represent the largest proportion of the counterbalancing capacity and make a major 

contribution to maintaining solvency in the stress scenarios with defined limits at all times during the relevant 

forecast period. In the first month, which is a particularly critical period in a crisis, liquid securities are almost 

exclusively responsible for maintaining solvency in the stress scenarios with defined limits. 

 

Fig. VI.3 shows the liquidity value of the liquid securities that would result from secured funding or if the 

securities were sold. The total liquidity value as at June 30, 2025 amounted to €61.6 billion (December 31, 2024: 

€57.7 billion).  
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FIG. VI.3 – LIQUID SECURITIES OF THE DZ BANK GROUP 

€ billion Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Liquid securities eligible for GC Pooling (ECB Basket)1 29.9 27.3 

Securities in own portfolio 33.8 28.1 

Securities received as collateral 9.9 11.4 

Securities provided as collateral -13.8 -12.2 

Liquid securities eligible as collateral for central bank loans  27.1 25.5 

Securities in own portfolio 23.4 23.0 

Securities received as collateral 6.8 5.2 

Securities provided as collateral -3.1 -2.7 

Other liquid securities  4.5 4.9 

Securities in own portfolio 3.0 3.3 

Securities received as collateral 1.6 1.6 

Securities provided as collateral -0.1 -0.1 

Total 61.6 57.7 

Securities in own portfolio 60.2 54.5 

Securities received as collateral 18.4 18.2 

Securities provided as collateral -17.0 -15.0 

 

1 GC = general collateral, ECB Basket = eligible collateral for ECB funding. 

 

 

The rise in liquid securities that are eligible for GC Pooling and as collateral for central bank loans mainly resulted 

from the gradual growth of securities portfolios and from a higher number of reverse repos with customers, 

banks in the Cooperative Financial Network, and subsidiaries of DZ BANK. 

 
Unsecured short- and medium-term funding 

The main factors determining the minimum liquidity surplus and the structural minimum liquidity surplus besides 

the liquid securities are the availability and composition of the sources of funding. 

 

The DZ BANK Group has a highly diversified funding base for operational liquidity. A considerable portion is 

accounted for by money market activities resulting from the cash-pooling function with the local cooperative 

banks. Under these arrangements, the cooperative banks can invest excess liquidity with DZ BANK at any time. 

Conversely, if the cooperative banks need liquidity, they can obtain it from DZ BANK within the approved limits. 

Overall, this regularly results in a liquidity surplus, which provides one of the main pillars of short-term funding in 

the unsecured money markets. 

 

Corporate customers and institutional customers are another important source of funding for covering 

operational liquidity requirements in the DZ BANK Group. In the context of liquidity risk, corporate customers are 

those customers that are not banks and are not classified as institutional customers. 

 

For funding purposes, the management units also issue money market products based on debt certificates 

under a standardized groupwide multi-issuer euro commercial paper program through the offices and branches 

in Frankfurt am Main, New York, Hong Kong, London, and Luxembourg. DZ BANK also runs a US-dollar-

denominated commercial paper program for Frankfurt am Main. Key repo and securities lending activities, 

together with the collateral management process, are managed centrally in DZ BANK’s Group Treasury division. 

 

The volume of funding on the interbank market is low; such funding is not strategically important to the 

DZ BANK Group. The range of funding sources in the unsecured money markets is shown in Fig. VI.4. 
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FIG. VI.4 – UNSECURED SHORT-TERM AND MEDIUM-TERM FUNDING OF THE DZ BANK GROUP 

€ billion Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Deposits 94.5 100.6 

Deposits of local cooperative banks 55.6 64.8 

Current account deposits of other customers 38.9 35.8 

Money market borrowing 86.8 73.9 

Central banks, interbank, and customer banks 12.1 10.7 

Corporate customers and institutional customers 36.7 41.6 

Certificates of deposit/commercial paper 38.0 21.6 

 

 

Deposits from the local cooperative banks were lower as at June 30, 2025 than as at December 31, 2024 due to 

seasonal effects. The decline was offset by the issue of commercial paper.  

 

Further information on funding can be found in chapter II.5 of the interim group management report. 

4.2.2 Risk position 

 

Minimum liquidity surplus 

Short-term economic liquidity adequacy is assured if none of the four stress scenarios with defined limits exhibit a 

negative value for the key risk indicator ‘minimum liquidity surplus’. Fig. VI.5 shows the results of measuring 

liquidity risk.  

 

 

FIG. VI.5 – MINIMUM LIQUIDITY SURPLUSES FOR THE DZ BANK GROUP, BY STRESS SCENARIO 

  Forward cash exposure Counterbalancing capacity 
Minimum 

liquidity surplus1 

€ billion Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Downgrading -66.7 7.6 120.4 42.5 53.7 50.1 

Corporate crisis -68.1 -60.3 87.6 83.0 19.6 22.7 

Market crisis -75.5 -67.4 106.9 101.0 31.4 33.6 

Combination crisis -74.5 -66.7 98.6 93.0 24.0 26.3 

 

1 The values with an orange background are the minimum liquidity surplus in the squeeze scenario. 

 

 

The results are based on a daily calculation and comparison of forward cash exposure and counterbalancing 

capacity. The values reported are the values that occur on the day on which the liquidity surplus calculated over 

the forecast period of 1 year is at its lowest point. 

 

The liquidity risk value measured as at June 30, 2025 for the stress scenario with defined limits with the lowest 

minimum liquidity surplus (squeeze scenario) was €19.6 billion (December 31, 2024: €22.7 billion). The decrease 

in the minimum liquidity surplus was largely due to the reduction in current account deposits and fixed-term 

deposits from banks in the Cooperative Financial Network.  

 

The minimum liquidity surplus as at June 30, 2025 was positive in the stress scenarios with defined limits. This is 

due to the fact that the counterbalancing capacity was above the cumulative cash outflows on each day of the 

defined forecast period in every scenario, which indicates that the cash outflows assumed to take place in a crisis 

could be comfortably covered. 

 

The limit for the minimum liquidity surplus as at June 30, 2025 was €0.0 billion (December 31, 2024: 

€1.0 billion). The internal observation threshold stood at €7.5 billion as at the reporting date (December 31, 

2024: €5.0 billion). 
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As at the reporting date, the minimum liquidity surplus exceeded the external minimum target laid down by 

the supervisory authorities, the internal minimum threshold, and the internal observation threshold. The 

target/threshold values are shown in Fig. VI.1. The limit for the minimum liquidity surplus was adhered to. 

 

Structural minimum liquidity surplus 

The structural economic liquidity adequacy in the baseline scenario is ensured if there is no negative value below 

the relevant limit in either of the two maturity bands, 2 to 5 years and 6 to 10 years. The results of this 

measuring of long-term liquidity risk presented in Fig. VI.6 are obtained by comparing the forward cash exposure 

and the counterbalancing capacity in the relevant maturity bands. The amount of the structural minimum 

liquidity surplus is disclosed for each maturity band. 

 

 

FIG. VI.6 – STRUCTURAL MINIMUM LIQUIDITY SURPLUS OF THE DZ BANK GROUP, BY FORECAST PERIOD 

  
Limit Structural minimum  

liquidity surplus 

€ billion Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Forecast period: 2–5 years -4.0 -4.0 45.6 50.6 

Forecast period: 6–10 years -6.0 -6.0 24.5 28.8 

 

 

The limits for the structural minimum liquidity surplus were adhered to as at the reporting date. 

4.3 Liquidity adequacy in the normative perspective 

4.3.1 Liquidity coverage ratio 

The liquidity coverage ratio has a short-term focus and is intended to ensure that institutions can withstand a 

liquidity stress scenario lasting 30 days. This KPI is defined as the ratio of available liquid assets (liquidity buffer) 

to total net cash outflows in defined stress conditions over the next 30 days. DZ BANK reports the LCR to the 

supervisory authority on a monthly basis. 

 

The LCR figure for the DZ BANK banking group can be found in Fig. VI.7. 

 

 
FIG. VI.7 – LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO OF THE DZ BANK BANKING GROUP 

  Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Total liquidity buffer (€ billion) 129.5 122.0 

Total net liquidity outflows (€ billion) 93.2 84.8 

LCR (percent) 139.0 143.9 

 

 

As at the reporting date, the external minimum target laid down by the supervisory authorities, the internal 

minimum threshold, and the internal observation threshold were exceeded. The target/threshold values are 

shown in Fig. VI.1. 

4.3.2 Net stable funding ratio 

The net stable funding ratio has a long-term focus and is intended to identify mismatches between the maturity 

structures of assets-side and liabilities-side business. The ratio is the amount of available stable funding (equity 

and liabilities) relative to the amount of required stable funding (assets-side business). The funding sources are 

weighted according to their degree of stability and assets are weighted according to their degree of liquidity 

based on factors defined by the supervisory authority. Excess cover in relation to the NSFR is the difference 

between the available stable funding and the required stable funding. 

 

The NSFR calculated for the DZ BANK banking group is presented in Fig. VI.8.  
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FIG. VI.8 – NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO OF THE DZ BANK BANKING GROUP 

  Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Available stable funding (weighted equity and liabilities; € billion) 286.1 290.7 

Required stable funding (weighted assets; € billion) 233.1 232.5 

Excess cover/shortfall (€ billion)¹ 53.0 58.1 

NSFR (percent) 122.8 125.0 

 

1 Excess cover = positive values, shortfall = negative values. 

 

 

As at the reporting date, the NSFR was above the internal minimum threshold and the internal observation 

threshold. The ratio also exceeded the external minimum target laid down by the supervisory authorities. The 

target/threshold values are shown in Fig. VI.1. 

5 Capital adequacy 

5.1 Strategy 

The management of capital adequacy is an integral component of business management in the DZ BANK Group 

and the management units. Capital adequacy is defined as the holding of sufficient capital to cover the risks 

assumed by the business. It is considered from both an economic and a normative perspective. 

5.2 Retrospective recalculation of the overall solvency requirement 

The annual recalculation of the overall solvency requirement and the regulatory risk capital requirement took 

place as at December 31, 2024 owing to scheduled changes to the parameters for the risk measurement 

procedures carried out in the second quarter of 2025 for the Insurance sector on the basis of R+V’s 2024 

consolidated financial statements and the updating of actuarial assumptions. The recalculation reflects updated 

measurements of insurance liabilities based on annual actuarial analyses, updated deferred taxes, and updates to 

parameters in the risk capital calculation. Because of the complexity and the amount of time involved, the 

parameters are not completely updated in the in-year calculation. An appropriate projection is made instead. 

 

In the economic perspective, the recalculation led to changes in the available internal capital, key risk indicators, 

and economic capital adequacy of the DZ BANK Group. In the normative perspective, the own funds, solvency 

requirements, and coverage ratio of the DZ BANK financial conglomerate were affected by the changes. The 

figures as at December 31, 2024 given in this risk report have been restated accordingly and are not directly 

comparable with the figures in the 2024 risk report. 

5.3 Capital adequacy in the economic perspective 

Economic capital adequacy is calculated as the ratio of available internal capital to the economic aggregate risk 

of the DZ BANK Group. The economic aggregate risk is calculated as the sum of the aggregate risk values of the 

Bank and Insurance sectors, comprising the risk capital requirement of the Bank sector, the overall solvency 

requirement of the Insurance sector, and a central economic capital buffer. Economic capital adequacy of 

100.0 percent or higher indicates that the DZ BANK Group has economic risk-bearing capacity. 

 

The DZ BANK Group’s available internal capital as at June 30, 2025 stood at €30,457 million. The comparable 

figure as at December 31, 2024 was €28,779 million. The limit derived from the available internal capital was 

set at €21,578 million for 2025 (2024: €21,191 million). As at June 30, 2025, aggregate risk was calculated at 

€14,220 million. The comparable figure as at December 31, 2024 was €14,365 million. 

 

As at June 30, 2025, the economic capital adequacy ratio for the DZ BANK Group was calculated at 

214.2 percent. The comparable figure as at December 31, 2024 was 200.3 percent. The increase in available 

internal capital due to the level of unappropriated earnings in the first six months, coupled with virtually 

unchanged aggregate risk, led to the rise in economic capital adequacy.  
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Fig. VI.9 provides an overview of economic capital adequacy and its components. 

 

 

FIG. VI.9 – ECONOMIC CAPITAL ADEQUACY OF THE DZ BANK GROUP 

  Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Available internal capital (€ million)1 30,457 28,779 

Limit (€ million) 21,578 21,191 

Aggregate risk (€ million)1 14,220 14,365 

Economic capital adequacy (percent)1 214.2 200.3 

 

1 Value as at December 31, 2024 after recalculation of R+V’s overall solvency requirement. Different values were stated in the 2024 risk report. 

 

 

As at the reporting date, the economic capital adequacy ratio was above the external minimum target, the 

internal minimum threshold, and the internal observation threshold. The target/threshold values are 

shown in Fig. VI.1. 

 

The limits and risk capital requirements for the Bank sector, broken down by risk type, are shown in Fig. VI.10. 

 

 

FIG. VI.10 – LIMITS AND RISK CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS IN THE BANK SECTOR 

  Limit Risk capital requirement 

€ million Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Credit risk 5,123 4,994 3,897 4,011 

Equity investment risk  1,084 1,364 845 807 

Market risk 6,310 7,120 3,325 3,621 

Technical risk of a home savings and loan company1 820 820 692 719 

Business risk2 500 500 – – 

Operational risk  1,206 1,157 1,034 1,041 

Total (after diversification) 14,078 14,941 9,180 9,565 

 

1 Including business risk and reputational risk of BSH. 

2 Apart from that of BSH, reputational risk is contained in the risk capital requirement for business risk. 

 

 

Fig. VI.11 sets out the limits and overall solvency requirements for the Insurance sector, broken down by risk 

type, and includes policyholder participation features. The definition of the limits and determination of overall 

solvency requirements take into account the ability to offset deferred taxes against losses (which arises where 

deferred tax liabilities can be eliminated in the loss scenario). Diversification effects between the risk types are 

also taken into consideration. Owing to these effects of correlation, the overall solvency requirement and limit 

for each risk type are not cumulative. 

 

In addition to the figures shown in Fig. VI.10 and Fig. VI.11, the aggregate risk includes a centralized capital 

buffer requirement across all types of risk, which was calculated at €751 million as at June 30, 2025 

(December 31, 2024: €475 million). The corresponding limit was €1,000 million (December 31, 2024: 

€550 million). The increase in the centralized capital buffer requirement during the first half of 2025 was 

primarily due to the recognition of a capital buffer of €240 million for sustainability risk. The capital buffer 

requirement relates to climate-related physical risks affecting credit risk and to climate-related transition risks 

affecting credit risk and business risk. 
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FIG. VI.11 – LIMITS AND OVERALL SOLVENCY REQUIREMENTS IN THE INSURANCE SECTOR 

  Limit 
Overall solvency 

requirement 

€ million Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024¹ 

Life actuarial risk2 1,130 1,100 918 939 

Health actuarial risk 380 400 348 324 

Non-life actuarial risk 2,440 2,250 1,550 1,572 

Market risk 5,020 4,450 3,705 3,862 

Counterparty default risk 470 325 301 252 

Operational risk  850 800 716 675 

Risks from entities in other financial sectors 250 265 200 200 

Total (after diversification) 6,500 5,700 4,289 4,325 

 

1 Values after recalculation of the overall solvency requirement. Different values were stated in the 2024 risk report. 

2 Reputational risk is implicitly included in the overall solvency requirement for life actuarial risk (lapse risk). 

 

5.4 Capital adequacy in the normative perspective 

5.4.1 Principles 

The normative perspective is an integral part of the internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP). The 

regulatory ratios presented below are used as part of the internal management of the DZ BANK financial 

conglomerate and the DZ BANK banking group.  

 

From the normative perspective, risk-bearing capacity is assured if, in the medium term, all regulatory minimum 

solvency requirements are met, even in crisis situations. An internal management buffer over and above the 

regulatory requirements for each ratio is also included in order to ensure that the group has an adequate level of 

capital. 

 

The procedures used to calculate these ratios are those required under CRR III, which has been in force since 

January 1, 2025. The material changes compared with the CRR rules that applied until December 31, 2024 

primarily relate to the calculation of the capital requirements for credit risk, both under the Standardized 

Approach to credit risk (CRSA) and under internal ratings-based (IRB) approaches. The calculation of the capital 

requirements for operational risk is also affected by the changes. Furthermore, CRR III introduces an ‘output 

floor’. This instrument is aimed at limiting the reductions in risk-weighted exposure amounts (RWEAs; synonym 

of the term ‘risk-weighted assets’ used in the 2024 risk report) that are achieved through the use of internal 

models, thereby ensuring a minimum threshold for the capital requirements. 

 

CRR III contains transitional guidance designed to enable institutions to gradually adapt to the new regulatory 

requirements. This guidance relates both to the output floor and to the calculation of the risk-weighted exposure 

amounts on the basis of internal models. 

5.4.2 DZ BANK financial conglomerate 

The DZ BANK financial conglomerate comprises the DZ BANK banking group and R+V. The financial 

conglomerate coverage ratio is the ratio between the total of own funds in the financial conglomerate and the 

total of solvency requirements for the conglomerate. The resulting ratio must be at least 100.0 percent.  

 

The changes in the coverage ratio and in the own funds and solvency requirements of the DZ BANK financial 

conglomerate are shown in Fig. VI.12. 
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FIG. VI.12 – REGULATORY CAPITAL ADEQUACY OF THE DZ BANK FINANCIAL CONGLOMERATE 

  
Jun. 30, 

20251 

Dec. 31, 

20242, 3 

Own funds (€ million) 38,849 37,453 

Solvency requirements (€ million) 27,320 27,524 

Coverage ratio of the financial conglomerate (percent) 142.2 136.1 

 

1 The values for the DZ BANK banking group included in the calculations were determined in accordance with the CRR III transitional guidance. 

2 The values for the DZ BANK banking group included in the calculations were determined in accordance with the CRR transitional guidance relating to IFRS 9. 

3 Final figures. Preliminary figures were stated in the 2024 risk report. 

 

 

The coverage ratio calculated for the DZ BANK financial conglomerate rose from 136.1 percent as at 

December 31, 2024 to 142.2 percent as at June 30, 2025. This was attributable, in particular, to a rise of 

€1,396 million in own funds and a decrease of €204 million in the solvency requirements. The effects that led to 

this change in the coverage ratio were the result of developments in the DZ BANK banking group and at R+V 

(see also chapter VI.5.4.3 and chapter VI.5.4.4). 

 

The final coverage ratio calculated for the financial conglomerate as at June 30, 2025 was higher than the 

external minimum target laid down by the supervisory authorities, the internal minimum threshold, and the 

internal observation threshold. The target/threshold values are shown in Fig. VI.1. 

5.4.3 DZ BANK banking group 

 

Regulatory minimum capital requirements  

The minimum capital requirements that the DZ BANK banking group has to comply with in 2025 under the 

Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process for Basel Pillar 2 (SREP) comprised those components of Pillar 1 laid 

down as mandatory by law and those individually specified by the banking supervisor.  

 

Institution-specific requirements under the additional capital requirements in Pillar 2, determined in the outcome 

of the SREP conducted for the DZ BANK banking group in 2024, also had to be satisfied. In this process, the 

banking supervisor specifies a mandatory add-on (Pillar 2 requirement) that is factored into the external 

minimum targets for the capital ratios and into the basis of calculation used to determine the threshold for the 

maximum distributable amount (MDA). Distributions are restricted if capital falls below the MDA threshold. 

 

In addition to this mandatory component, there is a recommended own funds amount under Pillar 2 (Pillar 2 

guidance), which likewise is determined from the SREP, but unlike the mandatory component relates only to 

common equity Tier 1 capital. Failure to comply with the own funds guidance under Pillar 2 does not constitute a 

breach of regulatory capital requirements. Nevertheless, this figure is relevant as an early-warning indicator. 

 

BaFin has classified DZ BANK as an other systemically important institution (O-SII). The DZ BANK banking group 

has to comply with an O-SII capital buffer (comprising common equity Tier 1 capital) as defined in section 10g 

(1) KWG at a level of 1.0 percent in 2025. The O-SII capital buffer was unchanged compared with the prior-year 

period. 

 

The mandatory minimum capital requirements relevant to the DZ BANK banking group under the SREP, and their 

components, are shown in Fig. VI.13. 
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FIG. VI.13 – REGULATORY MINIMUM CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE DZ BANK BANKING GROUP 

Percent 2025 2024 

Minimum requirement for common equity Tier 1 capital 4.5 4.5 

Additional Pillar 2 capital requirement 1.1 1.1 

Capital conservation buffer 2.5 2.5 

Countercyclical capital buffer1 0.7 0.7 

Systemic risk buffer1 0.1 0.1 

O-SII capital buffer 1.0 1.0 

Mandatory minimum requirement for common equity Tier 1 capital 9.9 10.0 

Minimum requirement for additional Tier 1 capital2 1.5 1.5 

Additional Pillar 2 capital requirement2 0.3 0.3 

Mandatory minimum requirement for Tier 1 capital 11.8 11.8 

Minimum requirement for Tier 2 capital2 2.0 2.0 

Additional Pillar 2 capital requirement2 0.5 0.4 

Mandatory minimum requirement for total capital 14.2 14.2 

 

1 The amount of the countercyclical capital buffer and the systemic risk buffer is recalculated at each reporting date. Unlike the other reported values, which apply to the entire financial year, the 

countercyclical capital buffers shown for 2025 and 2024 relate solely to the reporting dates.  

2 The minimum requirement and additional capital requirement can also be satisfied with own funds from higher categories. 

 

 

Regulatory capital ratios 

The regulatory own funds of the DZ BANK banking group as at June 30, 2025 amounted to a total of 

€34,532 million (December 31, 2024: €32,738 million). This equated to a rise in own funds of €1,794 million 

compared with the end of 2024 that mainly resulted from an increase in common equity Tier 1 capital of 

€1,426 million. 

 

The increase in common equity Tier 1 capital from €25,663 million as at December 31, 2024 to 

€27,089 million as at June 30, 2025 was primarily due to the interim profit of €879 million as at the reporting 

date, which was calculated taking account of all regulatory dividends and charges and was recognized in 

accordance with Decision (EU) 2015/656 of the ECB. Furthermore, common equity Tier 1 capital went up owing 

to the rise of €276 million in cumulative other comprehensive income calculated in accordance with IFRS and 

because there was no longer a deduction of €226 million for the loss allowances deficit for long-term equity 

investments. This change was due to long-term equity investments being switched from the IRB approach to the 

CRSA in connection with the introduction of CRR III. 

 

The fall of €11,033 million in the risk-weighted exposure amounts from €162,563 million as at December 31, 

2024 to €151,529 million as at June 30, 2025 was largely attributable to three effects: 

− The risk-weighted exposure amounts for credit risk (including long-term equity investments) went down by a 

total of €20,373 million. This was essentially caused by methodological changes resulting from the initial 

application of the CRR III rules, although the impact of the changes was partly cancelled out by 

countervailing effects relating to the volume of new business and existing business. 

− The rise of €9,685 million in the risk-weighted exposure amounts for operational risk was also attributable to 

methodological changes resulting from the initial application of the CRR III rules. 

− The risk-weighted exposure amounts determined for market risk declined by €345 million. 

 

As at June 30, 2025, the DZ BANK banking group’s common equity Tier 1 capital ratio was 17.9 percent, an 

increase of 2.1 percentage points compared with December 31, 2024 (15.8 percent). The Tier 1 capital ratio of 

20.1 percent calculated as at the reporting date was 2.3 percentage points higher than the figure as at 

December 31, 2024 (17.8 percent). The total capital ratio stood at 22.8 percent as at June 30, 2025, 

representing a rise of 2.7 percentage points compared with December 31, 2024 (20.1 percent). The higher 

capital ratios can predominantly be explained by the increase in common equity Tier 1 capital and a simultaneous 

fall in the risk-weighted exposure amounts. 
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Fig. VI.14 provides an overview of the DZ BANK banking group’s regulatory capital ratios. 

 

 

FIG. VI.14 – REGULATORY CAPITAL RATIOS OF THE DZ BANK BANKING GROUP 

  
Jun. 30, 

20251 

Dec. 31, 

20242 

Capital     

Common equity Tier 1 capital (€ million) 27,089 25,663 

Additional Tier 1 capital (€ million) 3,293 3,293 

Tier 1 capital (€ million) 30,382 28,956 

Total Tier 2 capital (€ million) 4,149 3,782 

Own funds (€ million) 34,532 32,738 

Risk-weighted exposure amounts     

Credit risk including long-term equity investments (€ million) 125,602 145,975 

Market risk (€ million) 5,164 5,509 

Operational risk (€ million) 20,763 11,078 

Total (€ million) 151,529 162,563 

Capital ratios     

Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio (percent) 17.9 15.8 

Tier 1 capital ratio (percent) 20.1 17.8 

Total capital ratio (percent) 22.8 20.1 

 

1 In accordance with the CRR III transitional guidance. 

2 In accordance with the CRR transitional guidance relating to IFRS 9. 

 

 

The external minimum targets, internal minimum thresholds, and internal observation thresholds for 

the common equity Tier 1 capital ratio, the Tier 1 capital ratio, and the total capital ratio were exceeded as at 

June 30, 2025. The target/threshold values are shown in Fig. VI.1. 

 

Leverage ratio 

The leverage ratio shows the ratio of Tier 1 capital to the total exposure measure. In contrast to credit-risk-

related capital requirements for which the assumptions are derived from models, the individual exposures in the 

calculation of the leverage ratio are not allocated their own risk weight but are generally included in the total 

exposure without being weighted. The total exposure measure comprises exposures reported on the balance 

sheet (excluding derivatives and securities financing transactions), derivatives exposures, securities financing 

transaction exposures, and other off-balance-sheet exposures. 

 

The leverage ratio and its components are shown in Fig. VI.15. 

 

 

FIG. VI.15 – LEVERAGE RATIO OF THE DZ BANK BANKING GROUP 

  Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Tier 1 capital (€ billion) 30.4 29.0 

Total exposure measure (€ billion) 450.9 440.6 

Leverage ratio (percent) 6.7 6.6 

 

 

As at the reporting date, the leverage ratio was above the external minimum target, the internal minimum 

threshold, and the internal observation threshold. The target/threshold values are shown in Fig. VI.1. 
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Minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities 

The MREL ratio as a percentage of risk-weighted exposure amounts is the ratio of the MREL volume to the 

total risk exposure amount (risk-weighted exposure amounts) of the DZ BANK banking group. The MREL volume 

is the total of the regulatory own funds of the DZ BANK banking group and the eligible external MREL liabilities 

of DZ BANK. To calculate the subordinated MREL ratio as a percentage of risk-weighted exposure 

amounts, only subordinated MREL liabilities are included in the numerator in addition to the regulatory own 

funds of the DZ BANK banking group. The denominator is the same as for the MREL ratio. 

 

The MREL ratio as a percentage of the leverage ratio exposure is the ratio of the MREL volume to the total 

exposure measure, which comprises on-balance-sheet asset items and off-balance-sheet items (including 

derivatives), known as the leverage ratio exposure of the DZ BANK banking group. To calculate the 

subordinated MREL ratio as a percentage of the leverage ratio exposure, only subordinated MREL 

liabilities are included in the numerator in addition to the regulatory own funds of the DZ BANK banking group. 

The denominator is the same as for the MREL ratio. 

 

The calculated MREL ratios are shown in Fig. VI.16. 

 

 

FIG. VI.16 – MINIMUM REQUIREMENT FOR OWN FUNDS AND ELIGIBLE LIABILITIES OF THE DZ BANK BANKING GROUP 

Percent Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

MREL ratio     

as a percentage of risk-weighted exposure amounts 40.4 36.2 

as a percentage of the leverage ratio exposure 13.6 13.4 

Subordinated MREL ratio     

as a percentage of risk-weighted exposure amounts 33.3 29.5 

as a percentage of the leverage ratio exposure 11.2 10.9 

 

 

The subordinated MREL ratio as a percentage of risk-weighted exposure amounts stood at 33.3 percent as at 

June 30, 2025, an increase of 3.8 percentage points compared with the end of 2024. Similarly, the MREL ratio as 

a percentage of risk-weighted exposure amounts also went up, advancing by 4.2 percentage points to 

40.4 percent. The main reason for the increase was the reduction in the risk-weighted exposure amounts and 

the growth of the MREL volume and of the subordinated MREL volume. 

 

The external minimum targets, internal minimum thresholds , and internal observation thresholds were 

exceeded as at June 30, 2025. The target/threshold values and measured values are shown in Fig. VI.1. 
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5.4.4 R+V 

The regulatory solvency requirements for insurance companies and insurance groups provide a means of 

evaluating the overall risk position in the R+V Versicherung AG insurance group.  

 

The group’s risk-bearing capacity for regulatory purposes is defined as the eligible own funds at group level in 

relation to the risks arising from operating activities. The changes in the regulatory risk-bearing capacity of R+V 

as a whole and each of its constituent entities are analyzed at least once a quarter. 

 

Fig. VI.17 shows how the solvency requirements are covered by eligible own funds. 

 

 

FIG. VI.17 – REGULATORY CAPITAL ADEQUACY OF R+V 

  Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 20241 

Own funds (€ million) 15,047 14,619 

Solvency requirements (€ million) 8,511 8,477 

Coverage ratio (percent) 176.8 172.5 

 

1 Final figures. Preliminary figures were stated in the 2024 risk report. 

 

 

The regulatory risk-bearing capacity of R+V as at June 30, 2025 was calculated at 176.8 percent. The final 

figure as at December 31, 2024 was 172.5 percent (preliminary figure given in the 2024 risk report: 

168.5 percent). The coverage ratio was thus above the external minimum target of 100.0 percent, which was the 

same target as had applied in 2024. 

 

The projections applied in the internal planning show that the R+V Versicherung AG insurance group’s solvency 

ratio will continue to exceed the solvency requirement as at December 31, 2025. 

 

 

 

Bank sector 

6 Credit risk 

6.1 Lending volume in the entire credit portfolio 

6.1.1 Asset class structure of the credit portfolio 

The reporting to the Board of Managing Directors on concentrations of credit risk includes a presentation of the 

credit portfolio broken down by asset class. This is done by dividing the credit portfolio into business-related 

homogeneous segments on the basis of characteristics such as industry code to reflect the sector, product type, 

and the rating system used to determine the credit rating. The characteristics are selected in such a way that the 

segments are subject to uniform risk factors. 

 

In its role as central institution for the Cooperative Financial Network, DZ BANK provides funding for the entities 

in the Bank sector and for the cooperative banks. For this reason, the cooperative banks, which are assigned to 

the asset class entities within the Cooperative Financial Network, account for one of the largest loans and 

receivables items in the group’s credit portfolio. 

 

DZ BANK also supports the cooperative banks in the provision of larger-scale funding to corporate customers. 

Corporate banking exposures relate to business with commercial customers, which is assigned mainly to the 

‘corporates’ asset class and the ‘asset-based lending / project finance’ asset class. The syndicated business 
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resulting from the corporate customer lending business, the direct business of DZ BANK, the real estate lending 

business of DZ HYP and BSH, and DZ HYP’s local authority lending business determine the asset-class breakdown 

for the remainder of the portfolio. 

 

The total lending volume rose by 0.3 percent in the first half of the year, from €486.1 billion as at December 31, 

2024 to €487.5 billion as at June 30, 2025.  

 

As at June 30, 2025, a significant proportion (39 percent) of the lending volume was concentrated in the 

financial sector (December 31, 2024: 40 percent). The financial sector comprises entities within the Cooperative 

Financial Network (cooperative banks) and the ‘financials’ asset class (mainly banks from other sectors of the 

banking industry and other financial institutions). 

 

Fig. VI.18 shows the breakdown of the credit portfolio by asset class. 

 

 
FIG. VI.18 – BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME, BY ASSET CLASS 

€ billion Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Entities within the Cooperative Financial Network1 140.2 143.4 

Financials 48.9 48.7 

Corporates2 86.5 84.5 

Asset-based lending/project finance 14.4 13.6 

Public sector 47.8 45.2 

Real estate (commercial and retail customers) 118.4 118.6 

Retail business (excluding real estate customers) 18.8 18.3 

Asset-backed securities and asset-backed commercial paper 11.9 12.3 

Other 0.7 1.5 

Total  487.5 486.1 

 

1 Cooperative banks. 

2 Including cooperatives for the purchase/sale of goods. 

 

6.1.2 Geographical structure of the credit portfolio (excluding Germany) 

Fig. VI.19 shows the geographical distribution of the credit portfolio by country group. Borrowers based in 

Germany are not included in this breakdown. The relevant country for the assignment to a country group is the 

one in which the economic risk arises. As at June 30, 2025, 68 percent of the total lending outside Germany was 

concentrated in Europe, which was virtually unchanged compared with the end of the prior year (December 31, 

2024: 67 percent). 

 

 
FIG. VI.19 – BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME, BY COUNTRY GROUP 

€ billion Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Europe 61.4 60.8 

of which: eurozone 40.0 38.6 

North America 14.8 16.1 

Central America 0.2 0.2 

South America 0.9 1.1 

Asia 9.1 8.9 

Africa 1.4 1.2 

Other 1.9 2.0 

Total 89.6 90.3 
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6.1.3 Rating structure of the credit portfolio 

The proportion of the total lending volume accounted for by rating classes 1A to 3A (investment grade) 

remained unchanged at 88 percent between December 31, 2024 and June 30, 2025. Rating classes 3B to 4E 

(non-investment grade) represented 10 percent, which was also unchanged. Defaults, represented by rating 

classes 5A to 5E, decreased by €0.1 billion to €5.4 billion as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €5.5 billion). 

They thus accounted for 1 percent of the total lending volume, as had also been the case at the end of 2024. 

 

Fig. VI.20 shows the lending volume by rating class according to the VR credit rating master scale.  

 

 

FIG. VI.20 – BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME, BY INTERNAL RATING CLASS 

€ billion   Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

In
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1A 43.4 43.0 

1B 7.0 5.7 

1C 157.8 158.4 

1D 18.5 19.6 

1E 20.2 21.9 

2A 23.3 21.3 

2B 34.7 30.1 

2C 32.0 34.7 

2D 32.4 33.7 

2E 35.9 37.5 

3A 23.1 23.1 
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3B 16.3 14.6 

3C 11.4 11.1 

3D 8.2 8.1 

3E 5.4 5.7 

4A 3.6 3.2 

4B 2.7 2.5 

4C 1.3 1.3 

4D 0.3 0.3 

4E 2.0 2.1 

Default 5.4 5.5 

Not rated 2.4 2.5 

Total 487.5 486.1 

 

6.1.4 Collateralized lending volume 

In the traditional lending business, the lending volume is a gross figure that has not been offset by collateral. 

The uncollateralized lending volume is defined as lending volume less the collateral received. In derivatives and 

money market business, where the lending volume already reflects the risk-mitigating effects of netting 

agreements and credit support annexes, collateral values are relatively low. In the securities business, there is 

generally no further collateralization to supplement the collateral already taken into account. For this reason, 

securities business is not included in the presentation of the collateralized lending volume. 

 

Fig. VI.21 shows the breakdown of the collateral value by type of collateral.  

 

The total collateral value fell from €131.4 billion as at December 31, 2024 to €129.7 billion as at June 30, 2025. 

The collateralization rate was 32.4 percent at the reporting date (December 31, 2024: 32.7 percent). 
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FIG. VI.21 – BANK SECTOR: COLLATERAL VALUE, BY TYPE OF COLLATERAL 

€ billion Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Guarantees, indemnities, risk subparticipations 6.9 6.9 

Credit insurance 6.5 6.6 

Land charges, mortgages, registered ship and aircraft mortgages 112.2 113.3 

Pledged loans and advances, assignments, other pledged assets 1.7 1.8 

Financial collateral 2.1 2.5 

Other collateral 0.3 0.3 

Total collateral 129.7 131.4 

Lending volume 399.9 402.2 

Uncollateralized lending volume 270.2 270.8 

Collateralization rate (percent) 32.4 32.7 

 

6.2 Credit portfolios particularly affected by negative macroeconomic conditions 

The following sections describe the lending volume of credit portfolios in which the effects of negative 

macroeconomic conditions were more noticeable than in the rest of the credit portfolios. 

6.2.1 Impact of US tariff policy 

The trade policy decisions of the United States, particularly on tariff policy (as described in chapter VI.3), influence 

global financial markets and corporate supply chains. Tariff increases or changes to existing trade agreements 

can impair the ability of businesses to compete and can lead to declining sales.  

 

The Bank sector’s credit portfolio has a diversified customer base. The customers most affected by US trade 

policy are a small number of companies that can probably handle the challenges posed by volatile market 

conditions. There is thus no reason to adjust the management of credit risk at present. DZ BANK is monitoring 

the impact of US trade policy on the global markets and supply chains, as well as the indirect effects on other 

borrowers. 

6.2.2 Structural change in the automotive sector 

The automotive sector has been undergoing a period of transformation for a number of years and faces certain 

challenges compared with other industries, such as low profit margins and a need for high levels of capital, 

coupled with long investment cycles. A major aspect of the transformation is the progressive switch from internal 

combustion technology to alternative drives, especially electric ones. In addition to the established major players, 

new manufacturers – especially from China – have made headway in the field of electric vehicles in recent years, 

generating a high market share in their domestic markets while also starting to play a role in international 

markets. This brings German vehicle manufacturers, in particular, under pressure and has triggered extensive 

cost-cutting programs. Long-term trends relating to digitalization, assistance systems, and autonomous driving 

are playing an ever greater role in the industry’s transformation too. These developments are continuing to 

maintain a very high level of pressure on the industry to transform. 

 

The automotive industry continues to record lackluster growth in the major markets of Europe and North 

America, and increasingly in China too. Globally, the industry is also being adversely affected by geopolitical 

tensions, the tariffs that have already been imposed, and potential trade disputes. Another factor is the risk of 

supply chain disruptions as a result of further potential bans on the export of rare earths from China. Such a 

move would severely affect the production of electric vehicles. The outlook for the remainder of 2025 remains 

muted as a result. In the medium term, therefore, growth is expected to be weaker, especially for German and 

European vehicle manufacturers. 

 

The volume of lending in the Bank sector’s automotive finance portfolio is concentrated in DZ BANK and came 

to €4.7 billion as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €5.5 billion). This portfolio includes loans to automotive 

suppliers, which are analyzed separately in chapter VI.6.4.2. The decline in the lending volume compared with 
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December 31, 2024 was primarily due to changes in how the portfolio is defined at DZ BANK. This effect 

amounted to around €0.5 billion. 

6.2.3 Commercial real estate finance 

 

Business model and macroeconomic risks 

Within the Bank sector, DZ HYP’s lending business with corporates includes financing for hotels, office real 

estate, department stores, shopping malls, and inner-city commercial properties that are mainly used for 

retail/wholesale businesses not offering day-to-day essentials (retail/wholesale segment). In addition, DZ HYP 

provides financing to property developers and project developers. It also finances purchases of land for which 

development plans have been drawn up.  

 

These asset classes have been negatively affected by a number of general and specific sources of uncertainty in 

recent years. Commercial real estate prices continued to stabilize in the first half of 2025, while rent prices 

generally rose across all types of property over the same period. However, the number of transactions in the 

commercial real estate market was slightly lower than in the first half of the prior year. Demand for commercial 

real estate was muted in the second quarter in particular. The commercial real estate finance segment continues 

to be affected by muted economic conditions, a rise in company insolvencies, and a still depressed business and 

consumer climate. A positive change in mood is emerging, however. The real estate market continues to be 

dominated by global crises and geopolitical concerns. Comparatively high interest rates and therefore elevated 

borrowing costs also had an ongoing adverse impact. 

 

The portfolios in question have so far proven to be crisis-resistant with no structural anomalies. Although the 

number of exposures with increased risk content subject to close monitoring continued to rise in the first half of 

2025, these loans remain at a moderate level. Moreover, critical exposures were often able to be transferred 

back to normal processing because counterparties stabilized or because of portfolio restructuring. The 

heightened requirements established in recent years with regard to the underlying value and cash flow 

performance of financed real estate had a supportive effect. 

 

Nevertheless, uncertainty stemming from risk factors of relevance for commercial real estate finance persists, 

particularly in terms of whether financially viable rental and purchase prices can be achieved. This could continue 

to adversely impact on cash flow, capital expenditure, and market values in the further course of 2025. For a 

return to a normal level, interest rates must remain stable and the economy and the macroeconomic climate 

must stage a significant and sustained recovery. 

 

Risks specific to individual real estate finance segments 

Hotels have been seeing a significant positive trend for some time now. Occupancy has largely stabilized at a 

high level. Nearly all hotel segments and categories recorded rising room prices and revenue growth in the first 

half of the year. The outlook for the second half of the year is positive. Despite ongoing challenges as a result of 

the shortage of skilled workers, as well as sustained competitive pressures and rising costs, hotels are no longer 

considered as an exposure with increased risk. 

 

Office real estate continues to be subject to uncertainty with regard to tenants’ future wishes and their space 

requirements in light of the new ways of working, which involve new space concepts and remote working. It is 

becoming apparent that less space will be required going forward, with demand increasingly focused on modern 

and high-quality premises in city centers or well connected locations with good access to services and amenities. 

Another adverse factor for this segment is the ongoing weakness of the economy, which is resulting in reduced 

demand for office space as it is causing many businesses to postpone their growth and investment plans. The 

modest recovery of present values and the still stable level of rents on new contracts are providing positive 

impetus and suggest a moderate uptrend. 

 

The rental markets for department stores, shopping malls, and inner-city commercial properties that are 

mainly used for retail/wholesale businesses not offering day-to-day essentials continued to recover in the 
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first half of 2025 on the back of the rise in rents on new contracts and the improved take-up of rental space in 

the first few months of the year. The present values of retail property rose for the first time in several years in the 

first six months of 2025. A clear focus on top locations, smaller premises, mixed-use designs, and alternative 

tenant models is emerging. Inflation-adjusted and calendar-adjusted retail sales were only marginally higher than 

in the prior-year period, and there has been a month-on-month decline of late. It remains to be seen whether 

the slight improvement in consumer sentiment seen recently and the generally positive trend in the economy will 

continue in the second half of the year. 

 

The market for transactions involving finance with construction risk remained challenging in the first half of 

2025, with market participants remaining reticent. There has been no noticeable impetus in the year to date. 

Real estate rentals and sales continued to suffer delays, although signs of a tentative return to a positive trend 

are emerging. 

 

Property development transactions showed further signs of growth, led by private own and third-party use. 

The market for project development remained difficult in the first six months of 2025. The office rental 

situation is still especially tricky. Whereas a growing number of exits at viable prices were achieved for advanced 

projects, construction projects that have not yet commenced continue to pose challenges as a result of delayed 

planning permissions, increased construction costs, and difficulty in exiting projects. An increase in interest rates 

during the planning stage is also having a braking effect on construction projects. This affected DZ HYP’s 

financing for land purchases, in particular. 

 

Lending volume by finance segment 

The Bank sector entities’ lending volume in the real estate asset class, which is presented in Fig. VI.18, totaled 

€118.4 billion as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €118.6 billion). Of this sum, €45.5 billion was 

attributable to the commercial real estate finance business under the umbrella of DZ HYP as at June 30, 2025 

(December 31, 2024: €46.0 billion). DZ HYP’s commercial finance lending volume in segments that are 

particularly affected by the negative macroeconomic conditions broke down as follows as at June 30, 2025 

(figures as at December 31, 2024 shown in parentheses): 

 

− Office real estate financing: €14.9 billion (€14.6 billion) 

− Department store financing: €0.4 billion (€0.4 billion) 

− Shopping mall financing: €2.4 billion (€2.5 billion) 

− Financing for inner-city commercial properties mainly used for retail/wholesale businesses not offering day-

to-day essentials: €0.7 billion (€0.8 billion) 

− Property developer and project developer financing and financing for land purchases: €5.6 billion 

(€5.8 billion) 

 

Financing for property developers and project developers and financing for land purchases also include certain 

portions of the financing for other aforementioned finance segments, in particular the financing of office real 

estate, which had a volume of €2.4 billion as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €2.5 billion). 

6.2.4 Financing in the consumer finance business 

The macroeconomic risk factors described in chapter VI.5.2 of the 2024 risk report continue to impact on the 

financial strength of retail customers. This was especially apparent in TeamBank’s consumer finance business. 

Some key risk indicators deteriorated further in the first half of 2025. Among other things, this led to a rise in 

non-performing loans. 

 

As at June 30, 2025, the volume of consumer finance extended by TeamBank amounted to €14.1 billion, which 

was unchanged compared with December 31, 2024. 
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6.2.5 Finance for corporates 

The deterioration of the macroeconomic situation is increasingly affecting VR Smart Finanz’s financing for small 

and medium-sized enterprises. Some key risk indicators deteriorated in the first half of 2025. This led to a rise in 

non-performing loans. 

 

As at June 30, 2025, the volume of finance extended by VR Smart Finanz to corporates amounted to €3.6 billion 

(December 31, 2024: €3.5 billion). 

6.3 Credit portfolios particularly affected by geopolitical tensions 

The following sections present the lending volume in the credit portfolios in which the effects of acute global 

crises were more noticeable than in the rest of the credit portfolios. This exposure mainly comprised short-dated 

trade finance, project finance backed by export credit agencies, and syndicated bank loans.  

 

The total lending volume in countries affected by global crises amounted to €4,821 million as at June 30, 2025 

(December 31, 2024: €4,613 million). This equated to 1 percent of the total lending volume in the Bank sector as 

at the reporting date, which was unchanged compared with the end of 2024.  

 

Fig. VI.22 shows the breakdown of the lending volume in the countries affected by the various crises. 

 

 

FIG. VI.22 – BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME IN REGIONS PARTICULARLY AFFECTED BY GEOPOLITICAL TENSIONS  

€ million Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Lending volume in countries affected directly by the war in Ukraine1 507 650 

of which uncollateralized: Belarus 1 1 

of which uncollateralized: Russia 87 86 

Lending volume in countries affected by the conflict in the Middle East 2,550 2,416 

of which uncollateralized: Egypt 63 13 

of which uncollateralized: Iraq 6 2 

of which uncollateralized: Israel 16 1 

of which uncollateralized: Saudi Arabia 253 143 

of which uncollateralized: Turkey 436 504 

Lending volume in regions affected directly by tensions in the South China Sea 1,764 1,547 

of which uncollateralized: China 1,352 1,146 

of which uncollateralized: Taiwan 151 92 

Total 4,821 4,613 

of which uncollateralized lending volume  2,364 1,989 

 

1 As at June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the entities in the Bank sector had not extended any uncollateralized loans to borrowers based in Ukraine. 

 

6.4 Credit portfolios with increased risk content 

The lending volume in the credit portfolios with increased risk content is analyzed separately because of their 

significance for the risk position. 

6.4.1 Finance for cruise ship building 

Owing to a high level of demand, utilization of cruise ship building capacity at the shipyards financed by 

DZ BANK is ensured until well into 2029. Nevertheless, the shipyards’ credit standing remains poor due to 

structural challenges that have yet to be solved. The affected companies’ financial circumstances have not yet 

stabilized sufficiently, making the outlook uncertain.  

 

The lending volume related to the financing of cruise ship building is exclusively attributable to DZ BANK and 

stood at €423 million as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €422 million). Collateral worth €370 million was 

available as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €354 million). As at the reporting date, the collateral chiefly 
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comprised export credit insurance of €184 million (December 31, 2024: €177 million) and €152 million from 

other public-sector guarantees, which was unchanged compared with the end of the prior year. 

6.4.2 Finance for automotive suppliers 

In addition to the factors described in chapter VI.6.2.2 that apply to the automotive sector as a whole, conditions 

remain particularly challenging for automotive suppliers in Germany. 

 

The automotive supply industry’s capital requirements remain at a record level and margins are still under 

significant pressure. Compared with vehicle manufacturers, automotive suppliers are in a relatively weak 

competitive position. Financial performance in the supply industry hinges primarily on the volume of vehicles 

produced, which was flat overall in the first half of 2025 due to weak global demand. This situation is also 

reflected in the latest forecasts covering the period up to and including 2026. Current uncertainty regarding 

tariffs and the availability of rare earths could reduce expectations further. 

 

The technology and development expertise of major global suppliers will ensure that they remain the partner of 

choice for global vehicle manufacturers. However, they are also in increasing competition with new market 

players that are leading the way when it comes to assistance systems and digitalization and will therefore acquire 

a growing share of value added at the expense of established suppliers. In the years ahead, growth impetus is 

anticipated first and foremost from Asia, and also to a lesser extent from North American markets. Uncertainty 

surrounding future drive systems and vehicle designs as well as expected geopolitical tensions and tariffs will 

likely have a long-term adverse impact on the market and thus also on suppliers and their transformation. It is 

also anticipated that the cost-cutting programs of European vehicle manufacturers will eat into suppliers’ 

financial performance. 

 

Within the Bank sector, finance for companies in the automotive supply industry, which falls into the ‘corporates’ 

asset class and mainly relates to DZ BANK, amounted to €2,701 million as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 

2024: €2,887 million). 

6.4.3 Finance for borrowers in the clothing and textile industry 

The clothing and textile industry tends to be sensitive to changes in the economic environment and inflation and 

sees a high number of insolvencies. Consumer retail demand remains slack. The luxury and upper price segment, 

which had previously been robust, and the e-commerce segment are also recording falling or flat revenue at 

present. Wage increases, high energy costs, and inflation have not yet been fully priced in by merchants, which is 

weighing heavily on margins in some cases. 

 

The clothing and textile industry depends to a large extent on the procurement of goods from Asia. Following 

attacks by Houthi rebels in the Red Sea and unrest in Bangladesh in 2024, supply chains are once again intact at 

present. Due to the protracted uncertainty surrounding supply chains and the impact of US tariff policy, 

however, procurement remains expensive and stockpiling has had to be stepped up.  

 

Within the Bank sector, the lending exposure to the clothing and textile industry is concentrated at DZ BANK. 

The affected lending volume in the Bank sector amounted to €2,203 million as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 

2024: €1,718 million. The increase compared with the volume as at the end of the prior year was attributable to 

the expansion of business with customers with good credit ratings. 

6.4.4 Finance for borrowers in the construction industry and for home improvement stores 

Given their above-average sensitivity (with a time lag) to changes in the wider economy and the fierce level of 

competition, the construction industry and home improvement stores have been battling several negative factors 

for quite a while. 

 

In 2024, the number of residential planning permissions granted was at its lowest level since 2010. Planning 

permissions had been falling consistently since April 2022. High costs for materials and expensive financing 

parameters are pushing up construction prices and dampening demand in sub-sectors of residential construction. 
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However, order intake has seen a moderate uptick since December 2024. The projection for orders on hand for 

the entire primary construction industry is more upbeat than in 2024, although there are no signs of an actual 

turnaround as yet. Capacity utilization in the construction segment remains low overall. International companies 

are in a better position in relative terms, as are German firms that have diversified as broadly as possible across 

the construction industry and potentially also operate in international markets. 

 

Public-sector construction is expected to see a boost from the German government’s special off-budget 

infrastructure fund, although the provisional nature of the government’s budget is currently having more of a 

dampening effect. Actual orders from the infrastructure fund are not anticipated before 2026 or 2027. In any 

case, orders will only be able to be executed gradually due to the ongoing shortage of skilled workers.  

 

In the home improvement store segment, customers remain reluctant to undertake more expensive home 

improvement projects, with sentiment adversely affected by the bleak economy and the dependence on the 

construction industry. In consumer-related sectors, however, the mood has improved. Product range 

adjustments, cost cutting, and renegotiations with suppliers have lifted profit margins slightly. 

 

The lending volume in this portfolio is mainly attributable to DZ BANK. As at June 30, 2025, loans and advances 

in the Bank sector totaled €6,818 million (December 31, 2024: €6,630 million). 

6.5 Volume of closely monitored and non-performing loans 

6.5.1 Closely monitored loans and forborne exposure 

Fig. VI.23 shows the volume of loans on the three monitoring lists – yellow list, watchlist, and default list – 

and the forborne exposure also included in these lists. A further item in the table shows the exposure managed 

as forborne but not subject to intensified loan management, i.e. not included in the lists. 

 

The closely monitored lending volume amounted to €15,404 million as at June 30, 2025, an increase of 

2 percent compared with the end of 2024 (December 31, 2024: €15,029 million).  

 

The forborne exposure rose from €4,186 million as at December 31, 2024 to €4,523 million as at June 30, 

2025, predominantly owing to an increase in the forborne exposure at DZ HYP. 

 

FIG. VI.23 – BANK SECTOR: CLOSELY MONITORED LENDING VOLUME AND FORBORNE EXPOSURE 

€ million Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Yellow list lending volume 4,732 4,842 

of which: forborne exposure 106 152 

Watchlist lending volume 5,264 4,712 

of which: forborne exposure 1,369 1,068 

Default list lending volume 5,408 5,475 

of which: forborne exposure 2,827 2,759 

Total lending volume on monitoring lists 15,404 15,029 

of which: forborne exposure 4,303 3,979 

Off-monitoring-list forborne exposure 220 207 

Total forborne exposure 4,523 4,186 

 

6.5.2 Non-performing loans 

As at June 30, 2025, the volume of non-performing loans (NPLs) had fallen to €5,408 million from 

€5,475 million as at December 31, 2024. The NPL ratio was unchanged on the end of 2024 at 1.1 percent. 

 

Fig. VI.24 shows the key figures relating to non-performing loans. 
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FIG. VI.24 – BANK SECTOR: KEY FIGURES FOR NON-PERFORMING LOANS 

  Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Total lending volume (€ billion) 487.5 486.1 

Volume of non-performing loans (€ billion)1 5.4 5.5 

Balance of loss allowances (€ billion)2 2.4 2.3 

Coverage ratio (percent)3 74.2 74.3 

NPL ratio (percent)4 1.1 1.1 

 

1 Volume of non-performing loans excluding collateral. 

2 IFRS specific loan loss allowances at stage 3, including provisions. 

3 Loss allowances as specified in footnote 2, plus collateral, as a proportion of the volume of non-performing loans. 

4 Volume of non-performing loans as a proportion of total lending volume. 

 

6.6 Risk position 

6.6.1 Risks in the entire credit portfolio 

The risk capital requirement for credit risk is based on a number of factors, including the size of single-borrower 

exposures, individual ratings, collateral, and the industry sector of each exposure.  

 

As at June 30, 2025, the credit value-at-risk amounted to €3,897 million (December 31, 2024: €4,011 million) 

with a limit of €5,123 million (December 31, 2024: €4,994 million). 

 

Fig. VI.25 shows the credit value-at-risk together with the average probability of default and expected loss.  

 

 

FIG. VI.25 – BANK SECTOR: FACTORS DETERMINING THE CREDIT VALUE-AT-RISK 

  Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Average probability of default (percent) 0.4 0.4 

Expected loss (€ million) 475 462 

Credit value-at-risk (€ million) 3,897 4,011 

 

 

In the analysis of individual concentrations, the 20 counterparties associated with the largest credit value-at-

risk accounted for 20 percent of the total credit value-at-risk as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: 

23 percent).  

6.6.2 Risks in the credit portfolios with increased risk content 

The risk capital requirement for credit portfolios exposed to increased credit risk is shown in Fig. VI.26. 

 

 

FIG. VI.26 – BANK SECTOR: CREDIT VALUE-AT-RISK1 FOR CREDIT PORTFOLIOS WITH INCREASED RISK CONTENT 

€ million Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Finance for cruise ship building 26 25 

Finance for automotive suppliers 50 55 

Finance for borrowers in the clothing and textile industry 18 14 

Finance for borrowers in the construction industry (including home improvement stores) 58 56 

 

1 Excluding decentralized capital buffer requirement. 
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7 Equity investment risk 

The carrying amounts of long-term equity investments relevant for the measurement of equity investment 

risk amounted to €2,818 million as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €2,827 million). 

 

The risk capital requirement for equity investment risk was calculated to be €845 million as at June 30, 2025 

(December 31, 2024: €807 million). The corresponding limit was €1,084 million as at the reporting date 

(December 31, 2024: €1,364 million). The lowering of the limit was attributable to the sale of a major long-term 

equity investment. A change in the risk modeling methods also led to a reduction in the level of risk measured, 

allowing the limit to be lowered by €100 million. 

8 Market risk 

8.1 Value-at-risk 

Fig. VI.27 shows the average, maximum, and minimum values-at-risk measured over the first half of the year, 

including a further breakdown by type of market risk. Furthermore, Fig. VI.28 shows the change in market risk by 

trading day in the reporting period. In both figures, the value-at-risk relates to the trading and banking books 

for regulatory purposes. 

 

 

FIG. VI.27 – BANK SECTOR: CHANGE IN MARKET RISK BY RISK SUBTYPE1, 2 

€ million Jun. 30, 2025 Average Maximum Minimum Dec. 31, 2024 

Interest-rate risk 50 44 58 35 39 

Spread risk 58 58 60 56 56 

Equity risk3 23 18 24 13 15 

Currency risk 5 4 6 2 4 

Commodity risk 2 1 2 1 1 

Aggregate risk4 69 66 71 59 68 

 

1 The disclosures relate to general market risk and spread risk. Asset-management risk is not included. 

2 Value-at-risk with 99.0% confidence level, 1-day holding period, 1-year observation period, based on a central market risk model for the Bank sector. Concentrations and effects of diversification 

were taken fully into account when calculating the risks. 

3 Including funds, if not broken down into constituent parts. 

4 Due to the diversification effect between the market risk subtypes, the aggregate risk does not tally with the total of the individual risks. 

 

 

The value-at-risk for interest-rate risk in all of the portfolios and the value-at-risk for interest-rate risk in the 

banking book for regulatory purposes are calculated using identical risk models. Variations in risk values are 

attributable to differences in the calculation bases used for the various portfolios. 

 

The value-at-risk for the interest-rate risk in the banking book for regulatory purposes amounted to 

€50 million as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €37 million). The increase in risk was chiefly due to an 

abrupt rise in euro swap rates in March, which pushed up the value-at-risk in the context of the historical 

simulation used to measure interest-rate risk in the banking book. 

 

As at June 30, 2025, the value-at-risk for market risk was €69 million (December 31, 2024: €68 million). 
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FIG. VI.28 – BANK SECTOR: CHANGE IN MARKET RISK BY TRADING DAY1 

 
 

1 Value-at-risk with 99.0% confidence level, 1-day holding period, 1-year observation period, based on a central market risk model for the Bank sector. Concentrations and effects of diversification 

were taken fully into account when calculating the risks. 

 

8.2 Periodic interest-rate risk and periodic spread risk in the banking book 

The periodic interest-rate risk and spread risk calculated for the banking book are shown in Fig. VI.29.  

 

 

FIG. VI.29 – BANK SECTOR: PERIODIC INTEREST-RATE RISK AND PERIODIC SPREAD RISK IN THE BANKING BOOK1 

€ million Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

IRRBB NIIMV risk 247 288 

CSRBB NIIMV risk 127 90 

 

1 IRRBB = interest-rate risk in the banking book; CSRBB = credit spread risk in the banking book;  

NII risk = periodic net interest income risk; MV risk = risk resulting from present-value changes in market value. 

 

 

The decline in the IRRBB NIIMV risk measured as at June 30, 2025 compared with the end of 2024 was largely 

attributable to changes to exposures and the changed interest-rate environment. 

 

The increase in the CSRBB NIIMV risk was due to the slight rise in periodic net interest income risk at DZ BANK, 

meaning that only a lower volume of risk at BSH and DZ HYP can now be offset. 

8.3 Risk capital requirement 

As at June 30, 2025, the risk capital requirement for market risk amounted to €3,325 million (December 31, 

2024: €3,621 million) with a limit of €6,310 million (December 31, 2024: €7,120 million). The limit was lowered 

largely in connection with a change to the model used to measure risk. 

 

The risk capital requirement encompasses the asset-management risk of UMH. Asset-management risk as at 

June 30, 2025 amounted to €88 million (December 31, 2024: €90 million).  

9 Technical risk of a home savings and loan company 

As at June 30, 2025, the risk capital requirement for the technical risk of a home savings and loan company 

amounted to €692 million (December 31, 2024: €719 million) with a limit of €820 million (December 31, 2024: 

€820 million). 
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10 Business risk and reputational risk 

As at June 30, 2025, the risk capital requirement for business risk amounted to €0 million, which was 

unchanged on the figure as at December 31, 2024. The risk capital requirement is set at zero if the model’s loss 

distribution is positive. 

 

The limit for business risk was also unchanged compared with the end of 2024 at €500 million.  

 

Reputational risk in the Bank sector is taken into account within business risk and is therefore implicitly 

included in the measurement of risk and assessment of capital adequacy. At BSH, reputational risk is measured 

and the capital requirement determined mainly as part of the technical risk of a home savings and loan company. 

11 Operational risk 

11.1 Losses 

Losses from operational risk do not follow a consistent pattern. The overall risk profile can be seen from the total 

losses incurred over the long term and is shaped by a small number of large losses. Over the course of time, 

regular fluctuations are evident in the pattern of losses as the frequency of relatively large losses in each 

individual case is very low. Presenting the change in losses meaningfully therefore requires a sufficiently long and 

unchanging time horizon for reporting purposes. The data is selected from the loss history for the past four 

quarters and on the basis of the date on which the expense is recognized in the income statement. 

 

The past four quarters – that is, the period from July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2025 – represent the relevant reporting 

period for an analysis of net losses. Fig. VI.30 shows the internal net losses from loss events reported in this 

period, classified by operational risk subtype, and a comparison with their long-term mean. 

 

In the past four quarters, the highest volume of losses was attributable to other operational risk, which was 

due to many loss events with low to medium loss severity. Based on the long-term mean, internal losses were 

dominated by compliance risk and legal risk.  

 

All in all, the losses in the past four quarters were lower than in the prior period. Losses did not reach a critical 

level relative to the expected loss from operational risk at any point in the first half of 2025. 

 

FIG. VI.30 – BANK SECTOR: NET LOSSES1 BY OPERATIONAL RISK SUBTYPE 

 

€ million 

Jul. 1, 2024– 
Jun. 30, 2025 

Long-term 
mean2 

Compliance risk – 21 

Legal risk 2 18 

Information risk including ICT risk 1 3 

Security risk 2 2 

Outsourcing risk – 1 

Project risk – 1 

Other operational risk 17 9 

Total³ 22 53 

 

1 Internal losses. Operational losses related to credit risk are not included in this breakdown. 

2 The long-term mean is derived from loss data recorded since 2006. 

3 Losses that are allocable to more than one operational risk subtype are split equally between the relevant subtypes. 

 
  

65



DZ BANK   

2025 Half-Year Financial Report 

Interim group management report 

Risk report 

11.2 Risk position 

The risk capital requirement for operational risk was calculated at €1,034 million as at June 30, 2025 

(December 31, 2024: €1,041 million) with a limit of €1,206 million (December 31, 2024: €1,157 million). 

 

Fig. VI.31 shows the structure of the risk profile for operational risk in the Bank sector based on risk subtypes. 

 

The distribution of the risk capital requirement among the operational risk subtypes remained largely unchanged 

as at June 30, 2025 compared with the end of the previous year. Compliance risk and legal risk accounted for 

the most significant proportions of the risk capital requirement for operational risk. A large proportion of the risk 

capital requirement for these two risk subtypes was determined by the recorded losses and by the hypothetical 

risk scenarios for changes to case law and for breaches of sanctions and embargoes.  

 

 

FIG. VI.31 – BANK SECTOR: DISTRIBUTION OF RISK CAPITAL REQUIREMENT FOR OPERATIONAL RISK, BY RISK SUBTYPE1 

Percent Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Compliance risk 30.3 30.4 

Legal risk 18.9 19.1 

Information risk including ICT risk 17.0 16.8 

Security risk 5.1 5.0 

Outsourcing risk 5.9 6.0 

Project risk 6.3 6.3 

Other operational risk 16.5 16.4 

 

1 Proportion of the Bank sector’s total operational risk capital requirement attributable to each operational risk subtype. 
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Insurance sector 

12 Actuarial risk 

As at June 30, 2025, the overall solvency requirement for life actuarial risk amounted to €918 million 

(December 31, 2024: €939 million) with a limit of €1,130 million (December 31, 2024: €1,100 million). 

 

The overall solvency requirement for health actuarial risk came to €348 million as at June 30, 2025 

(December 31, 2024: €324 million). The limit was €380 million (December 31, 2024: €400 million). The increase 

in risk was primarily due to the first-time consolidation of an Italian subsidiary, which notably caused catastrophe 

risk to rise. 

 

The overall solvency requirement for non-life actuarial risk amounted to €1,550 million as at June 30, 2025 

(December 31, 2024: €1,572 million) with a limit of €2,440 million (December 31, 2024: €2,250 million).  

13 Market risk 

13.1 Change in lending volume 

In accordance with the breakdown specified in Solvency II, the bulk of credit risk within market risk is assigned to 

spread risk. The other parts of credit risk are measured within counterparty default risk and other risk types. 

 

The total lending volume of R+V rose by 1 percent in the first half of the year, from €90.8 billion as at 

December 31, 2024 to €91.7 billion as at June 30, 2025. 

 

The financial sector and the public sector, which are the dominant asset classes, accounted for 68 percent of 

the total lending volume, as they had at the end of 2024. 

 

The explanation of the asset class concept in the Bank sector (see chapter VI.6.1.1) applies analogously to the 

Insurance sector. Fig. VI.32 shows the breakdown of the lending volume by asset class. 

 

 

FIG. VI.32 – INSURANCE SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME, BY ASSET CLASS 

€ billion Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Financials 41.7 40.7 

Corporates 11.6 11.9 

Public sector 20.7 20.8 

Real estate (commercial and retail customers) 16.8 16.5 

Other retail business 0.1 0.1 

Asset-backed securities and asset-backed commercial paper 0.8 0.9 

Total  91.7 90.8 

 

 

In the real estate asset class (commercial and retail customers), the volume of lending in the home finance 

business came to €14.6 billion as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €14.3 billion). Of this amount, 

86 percent was accounted for by loans for less than 60 percent of the value of the property (December 31, 

2024: 87 percent).  
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As at the reporting date, the volume of home finance was broken down by finance type as follows (figures as at 

December 31, 2024 shown in parentheses):  

− Consumer home finance: €13.3 billion (€13.0 billion) 

− Commercial home finance: €0.1 billion (€0.1 billion) 

− Commercial finance: €1.2 billion (€1.2 billion) 

 

In the case of home finance, the entire volume disbursed is backed by traditional loan collateral. 

 

Fig. VI.33 shows the geographical distribution of the credit portfolio by country group. Borrowers based in 

Germany are not included in this breakdown. The relevant country for the assignment to a country group is the 

one in which the economic risk arises. As at June 30, 2025, 76 percent of the total lending outside Germany was 

concentrated in Europe (December 31, 2024: 75 percent). 

 

 

FIG. VI.33 – INSURANCE SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME, BY COUNTRY GROUP 

€ billion Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Europe 46.3 45.6 

of which: eurozone 37.4 36.8 

North America 8.1 8.2 

Central America 0.6 0.6 

South America 0.9 0.9 

Asia 3.2 3.4 

Africa 0.3 0.3 

Other 1.8 1.9 

Total 61.3 60.9 

 

 

For credit ratings, R+V generally uses ratings from rating agencies approved by the supervisory authorities. It 

also applies its own expert ratings in accordance with the provisions of Credit Rating Agency Regulation III to 

validate the external credit ratings. R+V has defined the external credit rating as the permitted maximum, even in 

cases where its own rating is better. The ratings calculated in this way are matched to the DZ BANK credit rating 

master scale using the methodology shown in Fig. VI.25 of the 2024 risk report. 

 

The rating structure of the lending volume in the Insurance sector is shown in Fig. VI.34. Of the total lending 

volume as at the reporting date, 75 percent was attributable to investment-grade borrowers (December 31, 

2024: 76 percent). The lending volume that is not rated, which remained unchanged compared with the end of 

2024 at 23 percent of the total lending volume, essentially comprised consumer home finance for which external 

ratings were not available. Consumer home finance is deemed to be low-risk because the lending is based on a 

selective approach and the mortgageable value of the assets is limited. 

 

In the analysis of individual concentrations, the ten counterparties associated with the largest lending volumes 

accounted for 14 percent of R+V’s total lending volume as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: 16 percent). 

13.2 Credit portfolios particularly affected by a negative environment 

13.2.1 Economic policy divergence in the eurozone 

Differences in economic policy in the eurozone are particularly affecting investments of R+V in Italy. R+V’s 

affected exposure as at June 30, 2025 amounted to €3,738 million (December 31, 2024: €3,308 million). The 

increase in the exposure compared with December 31, 2024 was largely due to investments in fixed-income 

securities and Italian government bonds.  
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FIG. VI.34 – INSURANCE SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME, BY INTERNAL RATING CLASS 

€ billion   Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

In
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1A 27.6 27.8 

1B 8.0 7.6 

1C – – 

1D 10.4 10.5 

1E – – 

2A 6.6 6.5 

2B 4.8 4.7 

2C 6.1 5.8 

2D 2.6 3.3 

2E – – 

3A 2.9 2.8 
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3B 0.7 0.4 

3C 0.3 0.4 

3D – – 

3E 0.2 0.2 

4A 0.1 0.1 

4B 0.1 0.1 

4C – – 

4D – – 

4E – – 

Default – 0.2 

Not rated 21.2 20.5 

Total 91.7 90.8 

 

13.2.2 Impact of US tariff policy 

The impact of US tariff policy described in chapter VI.6.2.1 affecting the Bank sector is equally relevant to the 

Insurance sector.  

13.2.3 Geopolitical tensions 

The following sections present the lending volume in the credit portfolios in which the effects of acute global 

crises were more noticeable than in the rest of R+V’s credit portfolios. The regional allocation of the exposures, 

which mainly comprise fixed-income securities, is shown in Fig. VI.35. 

 

 

FIG. VI.35 – INSURANCE SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME IN REGIONS PARTICULARLY AFFECTED BY GEOPOLITICAL TENSIONS 

€ million Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

Lending volume in countries affected by the conflict in the Middle East 546 590 

of which: Israel 250 290 

of which: Jordan 28 32 

of which: Saudi Arabia 267 268 

Lending volume in regions affected directly by tensions in the South China Sea 159 161 

of which: China 159 161 

Total 705 751 

 

 

The proportion of R+V’s lending volume that was associated with geopolitical tensions stood at 1 percent of its 

total lending volume as at June 30, 2025. This situation was unchanged compared with December 31, 2024.  
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13.3 Risk position 

As at June 30, 2024, the overall solvency requirement for market risk amounted to €3,705 million (December 

31, 2024: €3,862 million) with a limit of €5,020 million (December 31, 2024: €4,450 million). The higher limit 

compared with December 31, 2024 was largely in connection with a change to the model used to measure risk. 

 

Fig. VI.36 shows the overall solvency requirement for the various types of market risk. 

 

 

FIG. VI.36 – INSURANCE SECTOR: OVERALL SOLVENCY REQUIREMENT FOR MARKET RISK, BY RISK SUBTYPE 

€ million Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024¹ 

Interest-rate risk 1,948 2,199 

Spread risk 1,035 1,020 

Equity risk 1,605 1,609 

Currency risk 350 381 

Real-estate risk 469 473 

Total (after diversification) 3,705 3,862 

 

1 Values after recalculation of the overall solvency requirement. Different values were stated in the 2024 risk report. 

14 Counterparty default risk 

Receivables arising from reinsurance contracts held amounted to €31 million as at June 30, 2025 

(December 31, 2024: €68 million). Of this amount, 86 percent (December 31, 2024: 100 percent) was accounted 

for by entities with an external rating of A or better under the system of rating agency S&P Global Ratings. 

Meanwhile, receivables from reinsurance counterparties without a rating accounted for 14 percent as at June 30, 

2025 (December 31, 2024: 0 percent). 

 

The reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities is a variable that impacts on the default risk of reinsurance 

counterparties. Claims against reinsurers for insured events that have not yet occurred and for insured events 

from direct insurance operations and from inward reinsurance that have occurred, classified under the system of 

rating agency S&P Global Ratings, are shown in Fig. VI.37.  

 

 

FIG. VI.37 – INSURANCE SECTOR: VOLUME OF REINSURANCE CONTRACTS HELD, BY EXTERNAL RATING CLASS 

€ million Jun. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2024 

AAA 5 1 

AA+ to AA- 37 44 

A+ to A- 119 119 

B 1 3 

Not rated 50 13 

Total 211 180 

 

 

Overdue receivables from policyholders and insurance brokers more than 90 days past due as at the 

reporting date amounted to €30 million as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €12 million). 

 

As at June 30, 2025, the overall solvency requirement for counterparty default risk amounted to €301 million 

(December 31, 2024: €252 million) with a limit of €470 million (December 31, 2024: €325 million). The rise in 

the overall solvency requirement was due to higher amounts past due that are owed by policyholders or 

insurance brokers. 
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15 Operational risk 

As at June 30, 2025, the overall solvency requirement determined for operational risk amounted to 

€716 million (December 31, 2024: €675 million). The limit was €850 million as at the reporting date (December 

31, 2024: €800 million). This increase in risk was due to higher insurance liabilities calculated in accordance with 

Solvency II. 

16 Risks from entities in other financial sectors 

As at June 30, 2025, the overall solvency requirement for risks from entities in other financial sectors stood at 

€200 million (December 31, 2024: €200 million) with a limit of €250 million (December 31, 2024: €265 million).  
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Income statement  
for the period January 1 to June 30, 2025 

 

 
   

 

€ million 
 

(Note)
 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025
 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Net interest income 
 

(05)
 

1,913 2,358

Interest income 
  

7,306 7,953

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method 
  

6,206 7,793

Interest income not calculated using the effective interest method 
  

1,100 159

Current income and expense 
  

52 41

Interest expense 
  

-5,445 -5,635

Net fee and commission income 
 

(06)
 

1,662 1,565

Fee and commission income 
  

2,997 2,838

Fee and commission expenses 
  

-1,335 -1,273

Gains and losses on trading activities 
 

(07)
 

191 -473

Gains and losses on investments 
 

(08)
 

-38 12

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments 
 

(09)
 

21 112

Gains and losses from the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost 
  

8 36

Insurance service result 
  

1,078 637

Insurance revenue 
 

(47)
 

6,274 5,843

Insurance service expenses 
 

(49)
 

-5,062 -5,130

Net income/expenses from reinsurance contracts held 
  

-134 -75

Gains and losses on investments held by insurance companies and other insurance company gains 

and losses 
 

(10)
 

-226 2,945

of which interest income calculated using the effective interest method 
  

997 939

Insurance finance income or expenses 
 

(11)
 

-88 -3,074

Gains and losses from the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost in the 

insurance business 
  

2 2

Loss allowances 
 

(12)
 

-241 -206

Administrative expenses 
 

(13)
 

-2,321 -2,276

Other net operating income 
 

(14)
 

165 73

Profit before taxes   2,127 1,711

Income taxes 
 

(15)
 

-633 -465

Net profit    1,494 1,246

   

Attributable to: 
 
 

 

Shareholders of DZ BANK 
 
 

 
1,410 1,182

Non-controlling interests    84 64
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Statement of comprehensive income  
for the period January 1 to June 30, 2025 

 

    

€ million  (Note) 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Net profit    1,494 1,246

Other comprehensive income/loss    329 -509

Items that may be reclassified to the income statement   14 -462

Gains and losses on debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  (16) -633 -1,520

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign operations  (16) -66 28

Insurance finance income or expenses included in other comprehensive income  (16) 760 821

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint ventures and associates accounted for using the 

equity method  (16) -14 2

Income taxes  (17) -33 207

Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement   315 -47

Gains and losses on equity instruments for which the fair value OCI option has been exercised   327 259

Gains and losses in relation to financial liabilities for which the fair value option has been 

exercised, attributable to changes in own credit risk   12 -550

Gains and losses arising from remeasurement of defined benefit plans   90 132

Income taxes  (17) -113 113

Total comprehensive income/loss    1,824 737

   

Attributable to:   

Shareholders of DZ BANK   1,714 694

Non-controlling interests  110 43
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Balance sheet as at June 30, 2025 

 

ASSETS       

    

€ million  (Note) 

Jun. 30, 

2025 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Cash and cash equivalents  (18) 85,061 81,790

Loans and advances to banks  (19) 143,705 143,532

Loans and advances to customers  (20) 208,177 208,688

Hedging instruments (positive fair values)  (21) 788 796

Financial assets held for trading  (22) 29,766 30,441

Investments  (23) 66,998 62,049

Investments held by insurance companies  (24) 122,656 122,625

Property, plant and equipment, investment property, and right-of-use assets  (25) 1,774 1,828

Income tax assets  (26) 4,893 4,899

Other assets  (27) 6,818 7,077

Loss allowances  (28) -2,949 -2,843

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale  (29) 39 68

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk   -1,239 -1,310

Total assets    666,488 659,638

    

    

    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       

    

€ million  (Note) 

Jun. 30, 

2025 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Deposits from banks  (30) 184,175 187,526

Deposits from customers  (31) 148,814 154,103

Debt certificates issued including bonds  (32) 124,384 109,810

Hedging instruments (negative fair values)  (33) 615 659

Financial liabilities held for trading  (34) 41,471 42,234

Provisions  (35) 2,576 2,854

Insurance contract liabilities  (36) 112,494 111,340

Income tax liabilities  (26) 5,262 4,844

Other liabilities  (37) 8,576 9,443

Subordinated capital  (38) 4,335 4,420

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk   -169 -171

Equity  (39) 33,954 32,578

Shareholders’ equity   31,803 30,542

Subscribed capital   4,926 4,926

Capital reserve   5,551 5,551

Retained earnings   18,770 17,673

Reserve from other comprehensive income   -738 -902

Additional equity components   3,293 3,293

Non-controlling interests   2,151 2,036

Total equity and liabilities    666,488 659,638
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€ million 
 

Sub-

scribed 

capital

Capital 

reserve 

Retained 

earnings

Reserve 

from 

other 

compre-

hensive 

income

Addi-

tional

equity

compo-

nents

Share-

holders’

equity

Non- 

control- 

ling 

interests 

Total 

equity

Equity as at Jan. 1, 2024 
 

4,926
 

5,551 
 

15,977
 

-642
 

3,293 29,106 1,963 31,069

Net profit 
 

-
 

- 
 

1,182 -
 

- 1,182 64 1,246

Other comprehensive income/loss 
 

-
 

- 91 -579 - -488 -21 -509

Total comprehensive income/loss 
 

-
 

- 1,273 -579 - 694 43 737

Changes in scope of consolidation 
 

-
 

- 1 - - 1 -97 -95

Acquisition/disposal of non-controlling interests 
 

-
 

- -55 - - -54 -5 -60

Reclassifications within equity 
 

-
 

- 102 -102 - - - -

Dividends paid 
 

-
 

- 
 

-448 - - -448
 

-22 -470

Equity as at Jun. 30, 2024 
 

4,926
 

5,551 
 

16,851
 

-1,323
 

3,293
 

29,299
 

1,882 
 

31,181

 
  

  
Equity as at Jan. 1, 2025 

 
4,926

 
5,551 

 
17,673

 
-902

 
3,293 30,542 2,036 32,578

Net profit 
 

-
 

- 
 

1,410
 

-
 

- 1,410 84 1,494

Other comprehensive income/loss 
 

-
 

- 60 243 - 304 26 329

Total comprehensive income/loss 
 

-
 

- 1,471 243 - 1,714 110 1,824

Capital increase/capital repaid 
 

-
 

- - - - - 3 3

Changes in scope of consolidation 
 

-
 

- - - - - 41 41

Acquisition/disposal of non-controlling interests 
 

-
 

- -5 - - -5 -4 -9

Reclassifications within equity 
 

-
 

- 80 -80 - - - -

Dividends paid 
 

-
 

- -448 - - -448 -34 -482

Equity as at Jun. 30, 2025 
 

4,926
 

5,551 18,770 -738 3,293 31,803 2,151 33,954
 

In the first half of 2025, a dividend of €0.25 per share was paid to the shareholders of DZ BANK AG for the 

2024 financial year (first half of 2024: €0.25 per share). 

Further information on equity is presented in note 39. 
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Statement of cash flows 

 

   

€ million  

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Net profit  1,494 1,246

Non-cash items included in net profit  -1,367 -2,541

Subtotal  127 -1,295

Cash changes in assets and liabilities arising from operating activities   

Loans and advances to banks and customers  100 -11,114

Other assets and liabilities from operating activities  2,436 904

Hedging instruments (positive and negative fair values)  -152 529

Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading  -469 -476

Deposits from banks and customers  -8,464 8,887

Debt certificates issued including bonds  14,583 11,602

Interest payments and dividends (net cash flow)  1,241 1,496

Income taxes paid  -310 -295

Cash flows from operating activities  9,092 10,238

Cash flows from investing activities  -5,353 -7,056

Cash flows from financing activities  -468 -618
 

 

   

€ million  2025 2024

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1  81,790 101,954

Cash flows from operating activities  9,092 10,238

Cash flows from investing activities  -5,353 -7,056

Cash flows from financing activities  -468 -618

Cash and cash equivalents as at June 30  85,061 104,518
 

Statements of cash flows provide banks with limited useful information, which is why the DZ BANK Group’s 

statement of cash flows is not material to the group. The group does not use the statement of cash flows for 

liquidity and financial planning, nor as a management tool. 

The statement of cash flows shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the reporting period. 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with central banks. As at January 1, 2024, 

cash and cash equivalents had also included €124 million from disposal groups. The cash and cash equivalents 

do not include any financial investments with maturities of more than 3 months at the date of acquisition. 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents are broken down into operating, investing, and financing activities. 

Cash payments from lessees in repayment of lease liabilities, which are included in cash flows from financing 

activities, amounted to a cash outflow of €56 million in the first half of 2025 (first half of 2024: cash outflow 

of €54 million).  

The first-time consolidation of subsidiaries generated a cash inflow of €2 million (first half of 2024: 

€12 million). There were no cash outflows as a result of the deconsolidation of subsidiaries (first half of 2024: 

cash outflow of €149 million). 
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Notes 

A General disclosures 

» 01 Basis of preparation 

Pursuant to section 115 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) in conjunction with section 117 no. 2 

WpHG, the interim consolidated financial statements of DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, 

Frankfurt am Main, (DZ BANK) for the first half of the 2025 financial year have been prepared in accordance 

with the provisions of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European 

Union (EU). In particular, the requirements of IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting have been taken into account. 

All figures are rounded to the nearest whole number. This may result in very small discrepancies in the 

calculation of totals and percentages. 

» 02 Accounting policies and estimates 

Changes in accounting policies 

The financial statements of the entities consolidated in the DZ BANK Group have been prepared using uniform 

accounting policies. The accounting policies used to prepare these financial statements were the same as 

those applied in the consolidated financial statements for the 2024 financial year, unless these policies are 

subject to the amendments described below. 

First-time application in 2025 of changes in IFRS 

The listed amendments to IFRS have been applied for the first time in DZ BANK’s interim consolidated financial 

statements for the first half of the 2025 financial year: 

– Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates) 

 

The amendments to IAS 21 set out when a currency is exchangeable into another currency and when it is not. 

They also indicate how an entity determines the exchange rate to apply when a currency is not exchangeable 

and, where this is the case, what information an entity must disclose. 

The amendments to IAS 21 must be applied to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2025. These 

amendments have no impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

Changes in presentation 

In note 02 (accounting policies and estimates) of the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 

2024, changes had been made to the presentation in insurance finance income or expenses of experience 

adjustments for premiums received and for insurance acquisition cash flows paid that relate to future service. 

As a consequence of these changes, the following amounts for the comparative period have been adjusted in 

the income statement: 
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Income statement for the period January 1 to June 30, 2024 

 

       

€ million  

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024 

before 

restatement

 Amount of 

restatement

 Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024 

after 

restatement

(…)  

Insurance service result  970 -333 637

Insurance revenue  6,158 -315 5,843

Insurance service expenses  -5,113 -17 -5,130

Net income/expenses from reinsurance contracts held  -75 - -75

(…)  

Insurance finance income or expenses  -3,407 333 -3,074

(…)  

Profit before taxes  1,711 - 1,711

Income taxes  -465 - -465

Net profit  1,246 - 1,246
 

Furthermore, the aforementioned presentation change results in related adjustments to the associated 

comparative disclosures in note 04 (segment information), note 11 (insurance finance income or expenses), 

note 47 (insurance revenue), note 48 (presentation of income or expense in the insurance business), and 

note 49 (change in the carrying amounts of insurance contract liabilities). 

As a consequence of the changes that were set out in note 02 (accounting policies and estimates) of the 

consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2024, the comparative disclosures for the total of the 

undiscounted expected credit losses on purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets that were 

recognized for the first time during the reporting period have been adjusted in note 45 (nature and extent of 

risks arising from financial instruments), specifically in the disclosures on loss allowances and gross carrying 

amounts. 

As a consequence of the changes that were set out in note 02 (accounting policies and estimates) of the 

consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2024, stage 3 extensions in the presentation of gross 

carrying amounts and of loss allowance are no longer shown as derecognitions and repayments or as an 

addition/increase in loan drawdowns in note 45 (nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments), 

specifically in the disclosures on loss allowances and gross carrying amounts. The aim of this change is to 

provide reliable and more relevant information. The comparative disclosures have therefore been adjusted. 

Furthermore, the aforementioned presentation change results in related adjustments to the associated 

comparative disclosures in note 12 (loss allowances) and note 28 (loss allowances). 

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 8.41 et seq., the realization of the currency translation reserve 

resulting from the deconsolidation of a subsidiary in an amount of €22 million was recognized under other 

comprehensive income/loss instead of under changes in scope of consolidation. This resulted in related 

adjustments to the comparative disclosures in the statement of comprehensive income and in note 16 (items 

reclassified to the income statement), note 17 (income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive 

income), and note 39 (equity), specifically in the breakdown of changes in equity by component of other 

comprehensive income. 

In note 45 (nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments), specifically in the disclosures on loss 

allowances and gross carrying amounts, the receivables repayable on demand in cash and cash equivalents are 

no longer shown in the presentation of gross carrying amounts from 2025 due to the immaterial level of loss 

allowances. The aim of this change is to provide reliable and more relevant information. 
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Sources of estimation uncertainty 

It is sometimes necessary to make assumptions and estimates in accordance with the relevant financial 

reporting standards in order to determine the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, income, and expenses 

recognized in the interim consolidated financial statements. These assumptions and estimates are based on 

historical experience, planning, and expectations or forecasts regarding future events. 

Assumptions and estimates are used primarily in determining the fair value of financial assets and financial 

liabilities and in identifying any impairment of financial assets. Estimates also have a material impact on 

determining the impairment of goodwill or intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations. 

Furthermore, assumptions and estimates affect the measurement of right-of-use assets, insurance contract 

liabilities, other assets held by insurance companies, provisions for employee benefits, provisions for share-

based payment transactions, provisions relating to building society operations, and other provisions as well as 

the recognition and measurement of income tax assets and income tax liabilities. 

» 03 Scope of consolidation 

The changes to the scope of consolidation as at the balance sheet date compared with the scope of 

consolidation as at December 31, 2024 were largely due to the first-time consolidation of BCC Assicurazioni 

S.p.A., Milan, Italy, (BCC Assicurazioni) in the R+V subgroup and to the deconsolidation of DVB Transport 

Finance Limited i.L., London, United Kingdom. 
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B Disclosures relating to the income statement and 
the statement of comprehensive income 

» 04 Segment information 

Information on operating segments 

 

INFORMATION ON OPERATING SEGMENTS FOR THE PERIOD JANUARY 1 TO JUNE 30, 2025   

         

 

 

€ million  

BSH R+V TeamBank UMH .

.

Net interest income  309 - 266 25

Net fee and commission income  9 - -15 1,148

Gains and losses on trading activities  - - - -1

Gains and losses on investments  -12 - - -13

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments  -3 - - 32

Gains and losses from the derecognition of financial assets 

measured at amortized cost  - - - -

Insurance service result  - 1,072 - -

Gains and losses on investments held by insurance companies 

and other insurance company gains and losses  - -150 - -

Insurance finance income or expenses  - -88 - -

Gains and losses from the derecognition of financial assets  

measured at amortized cost in the insurance business  - 1 - -

Loss allowances  -17 - -118 -

Administrative expenses  -253 - -141 -636

Other net operating income  54 39 3 21

Profit/loss before taxes  86 875 -5 575

Cost/income ratio (%)  70.9 - 55.5 52.5

Regulatory RORAC (%)  14.5 17.0 -1.9 >100.0

Average own funds/solvency requirement  1,190 10,265 532 1,001

Total assets/total equity and liabilities as at Jun. 30, 2025  82,805 136,921 10,808 5,235
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 DZ BANK –

CICB

DZ HYP DZ PRIVAT-

BANK

VR Smart

Finanz

DZ BANK –

holding

function

Other/

Consolidation

Total

 726 393 73 75 -62 108 1,913

 362 2 121 -19 - 54 1,662

 228 1 9 - - -46 191

 -12 - - - - -1 -38

 55 -54 2 - - -11 21

 

 9 - - - - -1 8

 - - - - - 6 1,078

. 

. - - - - - -76 -226

 - - - - - - -88

 

 - - - - - 1 2

 -46 -40 5 -23 - -2 -241

 -738 -136 -156 -42 -106 -113 -2,321

 26 6 - -2 - 18 165

 610 171 53 -11 -169 -58 2,127

 52.9 39.1 76.1 77.8 - - 49.5

 21.2 28.9 25.0 -12.9 - - 20.7

 5,750 1,184 423 170 - - 20,515

 392,033 84,787 22,024 3,636 23,814 -95,575 666,488
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INFORMATION ON OPERATING SEGMENTS FOR THE PERIOD JANUARY 1 TO JUNE 30, 2024   

         

 

 

€ million  

BSH R+V TeamBank UMH .

.

Net interest income  282 - 262 31

Net fee and commission income  -1 - -18 1,126

Gains and losses on trading activities  - - - -

Gains and losses on investments  - - - 5

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments  - - - 69

Gains and losses from the derecognition of financial assets 

measured at amortized cost  - - - -

Insurance service result  - 621 - -

Gains and losses on investments held by insurance companies 

and other insurance company gains and losses  - 3,033 - -

Insurance finance income or expenses  - -3,074 - -

Gains and losses from the derecognition of financial assets  

measured at amortized cost in the insurance business  - - - -

Loss allowances  -6 - -86 -

Administrative expenses   -249 - -143 -612

Other net operating income  22 6 4 -3

Profit/loss before taxes  47 586 19 616

Cost/income ratio (%)  82.2 - 57.7 49.8

Regulatory RORAC (%)  7.4 12.5 7.5 >100.0

Average own funds/solvency requirement  1,266 9,392 510 660

Total assets/total equity and liabilities as at Dec. 31, 2024  82,684 134,737 10,857 5,935
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 DZ BANK –

CICB

DZ HYP DZ PRIVAT-

BANK

VR Smart

Finanz

DZ BANK –

holding

function

Other/

Consolidation

Total

 791 389 89 69 -77 522 2,358

 312 5 115 -17 - 43 1,565

 -72 - 12 - - -413 -473

 7 - - - - - 12

 88 -25 -22 - - 2 112

 

 37 - -1 - - - 36

 - - - - - 16 637

. 

. - - - - - -88 2,945

 - - - - - - -3,074

 

 - - - - - 2 2

 -53 -39 - -23 - 1 -206

 -728 -131 -146 -39 -117 -111 -2,276

 1 9 5 -1 - 30 73

 383 208 52 -10 -194 4 1,711

 62.5 34.7 73.7 76.5 - - 54.3

 13.7 31.1 30.9 -12.3 - - 17.8

 5,606 1,339 337 163 - - 19,273

 386,178 85,931 21,681 3,618 23,412 -95,395 659,638
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General information on operating segments 

The information on operating segments has been prepared using the management approach in accordance 

with IFRS 8. Under this standard, external reporting must include segment information that is used internally 

for the management of the entity and for the purposes of quantitative reporting to the chief operating 

decision-makers. The information on operating segments has therefore been prepared on the basis of the 

internal management reporting system.  

Definition of operating segments 

Segmentation is fundamentally based on the integrated risk and capital management system, the function of 

which is to create transparency, notably in respect of the risk structure and risk-bearing capacity of the 

individual management units. The segment information presents separate disclosures for the management 

units DZ HYP AG, Hamburg/Münster, (DZ HYP), TeamBank AG Nürnberg, Nuremberg, (TeamBank), 

DZ PRIVATBANK, and the BSH, R+V, UMH, and VR Smart Finanz subgroups. DZ BANK is broken down into the 

central institution and corporate bank (DZ BANK – CICB) and the group management function (DZ BANK – 

holding function) in line with the internal financial reporting structure. The DZ BANK – CICB operating 

segment comprises the cooperative central institution function, which supports the operating activities of the 

local cooperative banks, and the corporate bank function. DZ BANK – holding function is mainly used to pool 

tasks carried out on behalf of the DZ BANK Group in relation to commercial law, tax, and prudential 

supervision. The total assets of DZ BANK – holding function include the equity, plus a number of other items 

such as a notional carrying amount for the long-term equity investment in DZ BANK – CICB, together with the 

carrying amounts of the long-term equity investments in the other management units. The notional long-term 

equity investment in DZ BANK – CICB is measured in an amount equating to 11 percent of the risk-weighted 

assets of DZ BANK – CICB. DZ BANK – holding function does not constitute an operating segment within the 

meaning of IFRS 8.5 but is presented separately in line with the internal reporting structure. All other 

companies in the DZ BANK Group, which are not required to provide regular quantitative reports to the chief 

operating decision-makers, and the consolidations are reported on an aggregated basis under 

Other/Consolidation.  

Presentation of operating segments 

Interest income and associated interest expenses generated by the operating segments are offset and reported 

as net interest income in the information on operating segments because, from a group perspective, the 

operating segments are managed solely on the basis of the net figure. 

Measurement 

Internal reporting to the chief operating decision-makers is primarily based on the IFRS accounting and 

measurement principles applicable to the DZ BANK Group.  

Intragroup transactions between operating segments and internal transactions in the DZ BANK – CICB 

operating segment are carried out on an arm’s-length basis. These transactions are predominantly reported 

internally using the financial reporting standards applied to external financial reporting. 

The key indicators for assessing the performance of the operating segments are profit/loss before taxes, the 

cost/income ratio, and the return on risk-adjusted capital (regulatory RORAC).  

The cost/income ratio shows the ratio of administrative expenses to operating income and reflects the 

economic efficiency of the operating segment concerned.  

Operating income comprises net interest income, net fee and commission income, gains and losses on trading 

activities, gains and losses on investments, other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments, gains 
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and losses from the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost, net income from insurance 

business, and other net operating income. 

Regulatory RORAC is a risk-adjusted performance measure. It reflects the relationship between profit before 

taxes and the average own funds for the year (calculated as an average of the monthly figures) in accordance 

with the own funds/solvency requirements for the financial conglomerate. It therefore shows the return on the 

regulatory risk capital employed.  

Other/Consolidation 

The consolidation-related adjustments shown under Other/Consolidation to reconcile operating segment 

profit/loss before taxes to consolidated profit/loss before taxes are attributable to the elimination of intragroup 

transactions and to the fact that investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the 

equity method. Differences between the figures in internal management reporting and those reported in the 

consolidated financial statements that arise from the recognition of internal transactions in the 

DZ BANK – CICB operating segment are also eliminated. 

The adjustments to net interest income are primarily the result of the elimination of intragroup dividend 

payments and are also attributable to the early redemption of issued bonds and commercial paper acquired by 

entities in the DZ BANK Group other than the issuer. Internal transactions in the DZ BANK – CICB operating 

segment are also eliminated in net interest income and with offsetting entries under gains and losses on 

trading activities. 

The figure under Other/Consolidation for net fee and commission income largely relates to the fee and 

commission business of TeamBank and the BSH subgroup with the R+V subgroup. 

The remaining adjustments are mostly also attributable to the consolidation of income and expenses. 
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» 05 Net interest income 

 

 
  

€ million  
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

INTEREST INCOME AND CURRENT INCOME AND EXPENSE  7,358 7,993

Interest income from  7,306 7,953

Lending and money market business  6,248 6,534

Bonds and other fixed-income securities  764 608

Portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk  286 813

Financial assets with a negative effective interest rate  -3 -3

Other assets  10 1

Current income and expense from  52 41

Shares and other variable-yield securities  25 15

of which income from other shareholdings  15 4

Investments in subsidiaries  4 3

Entities accounted for using the equity method  22 22

of which relating to investments in joint ventures  26 24

of which relating to investments in associates  -5 -2

Income from profit-pooling, profit-transfer and partial profit-transfer agreements  2 1

INTEREST EXPENSE ON  -5,445 -5,635

Deposits from banks and customers  -3,805 -4,003

Debt certificates issued including bonds  -1,500 -1,380

Subordinated capital  -78 -80

Portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk  -65 -178

Financial liabilities with a positive effective interest rate  7 8

Provisions and other liabilities  -4 -2

Total  1,913 2,358
 

The interest expense on provisions and other liabilities included interest expense on lease liabilities of 

€4 million (first half of 2024: €4 million).  

Since the beginning of this year, portfolios of structured money market business and derivatives have no 

longer been held for trading. Starting in the reporting period, the interest income and expense arising in 

connection with this business are now reported under net interest income and no longer under gains and 

losses on trading activities. The relevant amounts are interest income of €375 million from lending and money 

market business and interest expense of €614 million for deposits from banks and customers.  
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» 06 Net fee and commission income 

 

   

€ million  
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Fee and commission income  2,997 2,838

Securities business  2,310 2,202

Asset management  193 190

Payments processing including card processing  198 180

Lending business and trust activities  110 99

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments  57 55

International business  7 6

Building society operations  21 18

Other  101 88

Fee and commission expenses  -1,335 -1,273

Securities business  -988 -908

Asset management  -117 -120

Payments processing including card processing  -92 -106

Lending business  -42 -39

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments  -6 -6

Building society operations  -29 -35

Other  -61 -60

Total  1,662 1,565
 

Fee and commission income included revenue from contracts with customers pursuant to IFRS 15 in an 

amount of €2,997 million (first half of 2024: €2,836 million); see note 56. 

» 07 Gains and losses on trading activities 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025
 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Gains and losses on non-derivative financial instruments and embedded derivatives 
 

-234
 

-162

Gains and losses on derivatives 
 

394
 

-387

Gains and losses on exchange differences 
 

31
 

76

Total 
 

191
 

-473
 

Gains and losses on exchange differences included currency translation losses of €41 million on financial 

instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss (first half of 2024: gains of €19 million).  

Since the beginning of this year, portfolios of structured money market business and derivatives have no 

longer been held for trading. Starting in the reporting period, the interest income and expense and the fair 

value gains and losses arising in connection with this business are now reported under net interest income and 

under other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments and no longer under gains and losses on 

trading activities. This results in an increase of €183 million in gains and losses on trading activities compared 

with the figure that would have previously been disclosed. The changes predominantly affect gains and losses 

on derivatives, with a net loss of €224 million under net interest income and a net gain of €75 million under 

other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments.  
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» 08 Gains and losses on investments 

 

 
 
 

€ million 
 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Gains and losses on the disposal of bonds and other fixed-income securities  -24 7

Gains and losses on the disposal of shares and other variable-yield securities  -14 5

Gains and losses on investments in joint ventures  1 -

Reversals of impairment losses  1 -

Total  -38 12
 

» 09 Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments 

 

   

€ million  
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Gains and losses from fair value hedge accounting  34 6

Gains and losses on financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss that are not related 

to derivatives held for trading purposes  41 77

Gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other than trading  -58 -36

Gains and losses on financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss  5 65

Total  21 112
 

Gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other than trading result from the valuation and realization 

of derivatives that are used for economic hedging but are not included in hedge accounting.  

Since the beginning of this year, portfolios of structured money market business and derivatives have no 

longer been held for trading. Starting in the reporting period, fair value gains of €56 million arising in 

connection with this business are now reported under other gains and losses on valuation of financial 

instruments and no longer under gains and losses on trading activities. The changes predominantly affect 

gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other than trading, with a net gain of €75 million.  

» 10 Gains and losses on investments held by insurance companies and other 
insurance company gains and losses 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025
 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Income from investments held by insurance companies 
 

3,408
 

4,776

Interest income and current income 
 

1,497
 

1,411

Income from reversals of impairment losses and reversals of loss allowances, and unrealized gains 
 

35
 

393

Gains on valuation through profit or loss of investments held by insurance companies 
 

1,477
 

2,552

Gains on disposals 
 

398
 

421

Expenses in connection with investments held by insurance companies 
 

-3,518
 

-1,416

Administrative expenses 
 

-89
 

-88

Depreciation/amortization expense, additions to loss allowances, and impairment losses and unrealized losses 
 

-1,215
 

-85

Losses on valuation through profit or loss of investments held by insurance companies 
 

-1,754
 

-590

Losses on disposals 
 

-459
 

-653

Other non-insurance gains and losses 
 

-116
 

-415

Total 
 

-226
 

2,945
 

Other non-insurance gains and losses included interest expense on lease liabilities amounting to €1 million 

(first half of 2024: €1 million). 
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Income from and expenses in connection with investments held by insurance companies and other non-

insurance gains and losses included additions to loss allowances of €38 million (first half of 2024: €20 million) 

and reversals of loss allowances of €23 million (first half of 2024: €34 million). 

» 11 Insurance finance income or expenses 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025
 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Insurance finance income or expenses from insurance contracts 
 

-91
 

-3,077

Insurance finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held 
 

3
 

3

Total 
 

-88
 

-3,074
 

» 12 Loss allowances 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025
 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Loss allowances for loans and advances to banks 
 

4
 

-1

Additions 
 

-16
 

-18

Reversals 
 

19
 

15

Recoveries on loans and advances to banks previously impaired 
 

1
 

2

Loss allowances for loans and advances to customers 
 

-244
 

-196

Additions 
 

-1,089
 

-1,011

Reversals 
 

802
 

778

Directly recognized impairment losses 
 

-27
 

-23

Recoveries on loans and advances to customers previously impaired 
 

55
 

43

Other 
 

14
 

17

Loss allowances for investments 
 

-1
 

-

Additions 
 

-17
 

-12

Reversals 
 

16
 

12

Loss allowances for other assets 
 

-
 

-

Directly recognized impairment losses 
 

-
 

-1

Other loss allowances for loans and advances 
 

1
 

-9

Additions to and reversals of provisions for loan commitments 
 

1
 

-9

Additions to and reversals of provisions for financial guarantee contracts 
 

-4
 

-6

Additions to and reversals of other provisions for loans and advances 
 

3
 

7

Total 
 

-241
 

-206
 

Gains and losses from credit-risk-related modifications and other gains and losses on financial assets that are 

purchased or originated credit-impaired assets (POCI assets) are reported under the ‘Other’ line item. Other 

gains and losses on POCI assets consist of the changes in the loss allowances for these assets within the 

reporting period. 

» 13 Administrative expenses 

 

   

€ million  
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Staff expenses  -1,145 -1,089

General and administrative expenses  -1,038 -1,048

Depreciation and amortization  -138 -139

Total  -2,321 -2,276
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» 14 Other net operating income 

 

   

€ million  
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Income from the reversal of provisions and accruals  100 41

Gains and losses on non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale  42 19

Gains on the disposal of other assets  16 12

Restructuring expenses  -6 -13

Residual other net operating income  12 15

Total  165 73
 

» 15 Income taxes 

 

   

€ million  

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Current tax expense  -602 -509

Deferred tax expense/income  -31 43

Total  -633 -465
 

IAS 34 states that income taxes in interim consolidated financial statements are to be calculated on the basis 

of the best possible estimate of the weighted average tax rate for the year as a whole. This tax rate is based 

on the legislation that is in force or has been adopted at the relevant balance sheet date. 

» 16 Items reclassified to the income statement 

The following amounts were recognized in other comprehensive income/loss or reclassified from other 

comprehensive income/loss to the income statement in the reporting period: 

 

   

€ million  
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Gains and losses on debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income -633 -1,520

Gains (+)/losses (-) arising during the reporting period -783 -1,914

Gains (-)/losses (+) reclassified to the income statement during the reporting period 149 394

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign operations -66 28

Gains (+)/losses (-) arising during the reporting period -66 6

Gains (-)/losses (+) reclassified to the income statement during the reporting period - 22

Insurance finance income or expenses included in other comprehensive income 760 821

Gains (+)/losses (-) arising during the reporting period 760 821

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint ventures and associates accounted for using the equity 

method -14 2

Gains (+)/losses (-) arising during the reporting period -14 2
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» 17 Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income 

The table below shows the income taxes on the various components of other comprehensive income: 

 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Jan. 1–Jun. 30, 2025 
 

Jan. 1–Jun. 30, 2024 

€ million 
 

Amount 

before taxes

Income 

taxes

Amount 

after taxes

Amount 

before taxes

Income 

taxes

Amount 

after taxes

Items that may be reclassified to the income statement 47 -33 14 -669 207 -462

Gains and losses on debt instruments measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income -633 228 -405 -1,520 528 -992

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign 

operations -66 14 -52 28 -7 21

Insurance finance income or expenses included in other 

comprehensive income 760 -275 485 821 -314 508

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint 

ventures and associates accounted for using the equity 

method -14 - -14 2 - 2

Items that will not be reclassified to the income 

statement 429 -113 315 -160 113 -47

Gains and losses on equity instruments for which the fair 

value OCI option has been exercised 327 -83 244 259 -23 236

Gains and losses in relation to financial liabilities for 

which the fair value option has been exercised, 

attributable to changes in own credit risk 12 -4 8 -550 172 -378

Gains and losses arising from remeasurement of defined 

benefit plans 90 -27 63 132 -37 95

Total 476 -146 329 -829 320 -509
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C Balance sheet disclosures 

» 18 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jun. 30, 

2025
 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Cash on hand 
 

342 446

Balances with central banks 
 

84,720 81,344

Total 
 

85,061 81,790
 

» 19 Loans and advances to banks 

 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Repayable on demand 
 

Other loans and advances 
 

Total 

€ million 
 

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Domestic banks 
 

2,513 3,745 124,971 124,122 127,484 127,867

Affiliated banks 
 

1,642 1,936 114,886 116,031 116,528 117,967

Other banks 
 

872 1,809 10,084 8,091 10,956 9,900

Foreign banks 
 

2,810 1,830 13,410 13,835 16,221 15,665

Total 
 

5,324 5,575 138,381 137,957 143,705 143,532
 

» 20 Loans and advances to customers 

 

 
 
 

 
 

€ million 
 

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Loans and advances to domestic customers 
 

179,184 178,565

Loans and advances to foreign customers 
 

28,993 30,123

Total 
 

208,177 208,688
 

» 21 Hedging instruments (positive fair values)  

Hedging instruments (positive fair values) amounted to €788 million (December 31, 2024: €796 million) and 

resulted solely from derivatives used as fair value hedges.  
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» 22 Financial assets held for trading 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jun. 30, 

2025
 

Dec. 31, 

2024

DERIVATIVES (POSITIVE FAIR VALUES) 
 

14,660
 

16,231
Interest-linked contracts 

 
11,346

 
12,752

Currency-linked contracts 
 

2,374
 

2,686

Share-/index-linked contracts 
 

716
 

571

Credit derivatives 
 

224
 

222

Other contracts 
 

-
 

1

BONDS AND OTHER FIXED-INCOME SECURITIES 
 

11,160
 

10,441
Money market instruments 

 
1,641

 
1,361

Bonds 
 

9,519
 

9,080

SHARES AND OTHER VARIABLE-YIELD SECURITIES 
 

2,506
 

2,102
Shares 

 
2,506

 
2,102

RECEIVABLES 
 

1,440
 

1,666
of which from affiliated banks 

 
306

 
516

of which from other banks 
 

490
 

598

Money market placements 
 

306 680

with banks 
 

306
 

680

Promissory notes and registered bonds 
 

1,133 986

from banks 
 

490
 

434

from customers  643 552

Total  29,766 30,441
 

» 23 Investments 

 

 
 
 

 
 

€ million 
 

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 
 

62,897 58,076

Money market instruments 
 

1,996 2,082

Bonds 
 

60,901 55,995

Shares and other variable-yield securities 
 

3,298 3,184

Shares and other shareholdings 
 

379 357

Investment fund units 
 

2,919 2,826

Investments in subsidiaries 
 

231 217

Investments in joint ventures 
 

389 386

Investments in associates 
 

185 186

Total 
 

66,998 62,049
 

The carrying amount of investments in joint ventures accounted for using the equity method totaled 

€389 million (December 31, 2024: €386 million). €161 million of the investments in associates has been 

accounted for using the equity method (December 31, 2024: €163 million). 
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» 24 Investments held by insurance companies 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jun. 30, 

2025
 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Investment property 
 

3,610
 

3,655

Investments in subsidiaries 
 

695
 

761

Investments in joint ventures 
 

77
 

76

Investments in associates 
 

20
 

20

Mortgage loans 
 

12,605
 

12,685

Promissory notes and loans 
 

5,695
 

5,991

Registered bonds 
 

5,752
 

5,729

Other loans 
 

954
 

906

Variable-yield securities 
 

12,114
 

12,257

Fixed-income securities 
 

56,045
 

55,403

Derivatives (positive fair values) 
 

298
 

60

Deposits with ceding insurers and other investments 
 

30
 

223

Assets related to unit-linked contracts 
 

24,762
 

24,859

Total 
 

122,656
 

122,625
 

» 25 Property, plant and equipment, investment property, and right-of-use assets 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jun. 30, 

2025
 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Land and buildings 
 

836
 

841

Office furniture and equipment 
 

176
 

187

Investment property 
 

281
 

285

Right-of-use assets 
 

480
 

515

Total 
 

1,774
 

1,828
 

» 26 Income tax assets and liabilities 

 

 
  

€ million  
Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Income tax assets  4,893 4,899

Current income tax assets  430 385

Deferred tax assets  4,464 4,514

Income tax liabilities  5,262 4,844

Current income tax liabilities  908 671

Deferred tax liabilities  4,355 4,173 

» 27 Other assets 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jun. 30, 

2025
 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Other assets held by insurance companies 
 

3,853 3,983

Goodwill 
 

198 155

Other intangible assets 
 

411 440

of which software 
 

358 389

of which acquired customer relationships 
 

2 2

Other loans and advances 
 

553 639

Receivables from initial margins 
 

1,265 1,321

Residual other assets 
 

538 540

Total 
 

6,818 7,077
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The breakdown of other assets held by insurance companies is as follows: 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jun. 30, 

2025
 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Intangible assets 
 

356
 

187

Reinsurance contract assets 
 

314
 

312

Receivables 
 

1,014
 

1,119

Credit balances with banks, checks and cash on hand 
 

700
 

1,029

Property, plant and equipment 
 

499
 

465

of which right-of-use assets held by insurance companies 
 

54
 

57

Residual other assets 
 

971
 

872

Loss allowances 
 

-2
 

-2

Total 
 

3,853
 

3,983
 

» 28 Loss allowances 

Loss allowances for loans and advances to banks and for loans and advances to customers also comprise the 

loss allowances recognized for finance lease receivables. 

The following table shows the changes in loss allowances, which are reported on the assets side of the 

balance sheet, broken down by individual balance sheet item: 

 

        

  Loans and advances to banks  Loans and advances to customers 

€ million  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI assets

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  15 2 26 243 504 1,430 18

Additions  16 1 1 113 497 372 25

Utilizations  - - - - -1 -104 -3

Reversals  -13 -1 -2 -201 -267 -283 -24

Other changes  - - 1 85 -154 88 -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  19 3 26 240 580 1,504 17

  

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  15 1 36 248 555 1,965 20

Additions  14 1 2 103 467 503 15

Utilizations  - - -1 - -1 -185 -3

Reversals  -11 -1 -7 -177 -286 -328 -10

Other changes  - - 7 76 -160 88 -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  17 1 37 250 574 2,043 22
 

 

      

  

Investments  Other  

assets 

Total 

€ million  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  3 1 4 1 2,248

Additions  1 1 4 - 1,032

Utilizations  - - -3 - -110

Reversals  -1 -2 -5 - -798

Other changes  - - - - 21

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  3 1 - - 2,392

  

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  4 - - - 2,843

Additions  4 - - - 1,108

Utilizations  - - - - -189

Reversals  -2 - - - -823

Other changes  - - - - 11

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  5 - - - 2,949
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» 29 Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 

The non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale include individual non-current assets 

together with assets and liabilities from disposal groups not qualifying as discontinued operations, as 

described below.  

The disposal groups not qualifying as discontinued operations include units in various investment funds with a 

carrying amount of €13 million. The sale is expected to take place within a year. 

The individual non-current assets classified as held for sale comprise real estate with a carrying amount of 

€24 million and investment fund units of €2 million. The sale of these individual non-current assets classified 

as held for sale is expected to take place within a year. 

The sale of individual non-current assets classified as held for sale gave rise to income of €42 million in the 

period under review (first half of 2024: €19 million), which was recognized under other net operating income.  

On July 25, 2025, a contract was signed for the sale of Zimmer & Hälbig Holding GmbH, Bielefeld, which is an 

equity-accounted associate recognized under investments. The transaction is expected to be completed in the 

second half of 2025 and is still subject to the approval of the antitrust regulators. 

» 30 Deposits from banks 

 

            

  
Repayable on demand  With agreed maturity or  

notice period 
 Total 

€ million  
Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Domestic banks  48,763 53,177 109,038 110,890 157,801 164,066

Affiliated banks  45,476 48,921 25,107 28,511 70,583 77,432

Other banks  3,287 4,256 83,930 82,379 87,218 86,634

Foreign banks  8,852 8,798 17,522 14,661 26,374 23,459

Total  57,615 61,975 126,560 125,551 184,175 187,526
 

Since the beginning of this year, portfolios of structured money market business have no longer been held for 

trading. Consequently, the money market deposits from banks that had previously been recognized under 

financial liabilities held for trading were recognized under deposits from banks in an amount of €3,592 million 

as at June 30, 2025. 

» 31 Deposits from customers 

 

            

  
Repayable on demand  With agreed maturity or  

notice period 
 Total 

€ million  
Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Domestic customers  35,915 36,793 95,425 96,782 131,340 133,575

Foreign customers  14,301 18,063 3,173 2,465 17,474 20,528

Total  50,216 54,856 98,598 99,247 148,814 154,103
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» 32 Debt certificates issued including bonds 

 

 
  

€ million  
Jun. 30, 

2025 
Dec. 31, 

2024

Bonds issued  86,435 88,139

Mortgage Pfandbriefe  33,495 32,551

Public-sector Pfandbriefe  2,585 2,759

Other bonds  50,355 52,829

Other debt certificates issued  37,950 21,672

Total  124,384 109,810
 

As was also the case as at December 31, 2024, all other debt certificates issued are commercial paper. 

» 33 Hedging instruments (negative fair values) 

Hedging instruments (negative fair values) amounted to €615 million (December 31, 2024: €659 million) and 

resulted solely from derivatives used as fair value hedges. 

» 34 Financial liabilities held for trading 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jun. 30, 

2025
 

Dec. 31, 

2024

DERIVATIVES (NEGATIVE FAIR VALUES) 
 

15,630
 

14,997
Interest-linked contracts 

 
10,645

 
11,148

Currency-linked contracts 
 

3,348
 

2,314

Share-/index-linked contracts 
 

1,498
 

1,397

Other contracts 
 

63
 

61

Credit derivatives 
 

75
 

77

SHORT POSITIONS 
 

2,865
 

2,379

BONDS ISSUED 
 

22,796
 

20,961

DEPOSITS 
 

180
 

3,898
of which from affiliated banks 

 
41

 
3,773

of which from other banks 
 

56
 

59

Money market deposits 
 

41
 

3,754

from banks 
 

12
 

3,742

from customers 
 

29
 

13

Promissory notes and registered bonds issued 
 

139
 

143

to banks 
 

84
 

90

to customers 
 

55
 

53

Total 
 

41,471
 

42,234
 

As was also the case as at December 31, 2024, bonds issued mainly comprise share certificates and index-

linked certificates.  

Since the beginning of this year, portfolios of structured money market business have no longer been held for 

trading. Consequently, the money market deposits from banks that had previously been recognized under 

financial liabilities held for trading were recognized under deposits from banks in an amount of €3,592 million 

as at June 30, 2025.  
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» 35 Provisions 

 

 
  

€ million 
 

Jun. 30, 

2025
 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Provisions for employee benefits 
 

1,033
 

1,170

Provisions for defined benefit plans 
 

635
 

729

Provisions for other long-term employee benefits 
 

198
 

216

of which for semi-retirement schemes 
 

76
 

83

Provisions for termination benefits 
 

180
 

193

of which for early retirement schemes 
 

21
 

23

of which for restructuring 
 

141
 

151

Provisions for short-term employee benefits 
 

20
 

32

Provisions for share-based payment transactions 
 

46
 

59

Other provisions 
 

1,498
 

1,625

Provisions relating to building society operations 
 

801
 

833

Provisions for loan commitments 
 

235
 

243

Provisions for financial guarantee contracts 
 

127
 

128

Other provisions for loans and advances 
 

23
 

27

Provisions for restructuring 
 

20
 

25

Provisions for onerous contracts 
 

18
 

15

Residual provisions 
 

273
 

353

Total 
 

2,576
 

2,854
 

The underlying discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligations rose from 3.40 percent as at 

December 31, 2024 to 3.70 percent as at June 30, 2025. At 2.30 percent, the assumption about the salary 

trend was unchanged compared with December 31, 2024. The assumption about the annuity trend was 

reduced from 2.20 percent as at December 31, 2024 to 2.10 percent as at June 30, 2025.   

» 36 Insurance contract liabilities 

 

  

€ million  
Jun. 30, 

2025 
Dec. 31, 

2024

Insurance contract liabilities  112,494 111,339

Liability for remaining coverage  99,788 98,482

Liability for incurred claims  12,705 12,856

Reinsurance contract liabilities  - 1

Liability for remaining coverage  - 2

Total  112,494 111,340
 

» 37 Other liabilities 

 

   

€ million  

Jun. 30, 

2025 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Other liabilities of insurance companies  5,663 5,863

Accruals  1,089 1,724

Other payables  335 301

Lease liabilities  510 543

Liabilities from initial margins  577 620

Residual other liabilities  402 393

Total  8,576 9,443
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The table below gives a breakdown of insurance companies’ other liabilities. 

 

   

€ million  

Jun. 30, 

2025 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Other provisions  367 391

of which provisions for defined benefit plans  87 103

Payables and residual other liabilities  5,296 5,471

of which insurance lease liabilities  63 65

Total  5,663 5,863
 

The underlying discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligations rose from 3.40 percent as at 

December 31, 2024 to 3.70 percent as at June 30, 2025. At 2.25 percent, the assumption about the salary 

trend was unchanged compared with December 31, 2024. The assumption about the annuity trend was 

reduced from 2.20 percent as at December 31, 2024 to 2.10 percent as at June 30, 2025. 

» 38 Subordinated capital 

 

   

€ million  
Jun. 30, 

2025 
Dec. 31, 

2024

Subordinated liabilities  4,334 4,419

Share capital repayable on demand  1 1

Total  4,335 4,420
 

» 39 Equity 

The table below shows a breakdown of the reserve from other comprehensive income: 

 

 
     

 
 

Items not reclassified to 

the income statement 
 

Items reclassified to the income 

statement 

 

 

 

 

€ million 
 

Reserve from 

equity 

instruments 

for which the 

fair value OCI 

option has 

been 

exercised

Reserve from 

gains and 

losses on 

financial 

liabilities for 

which the fair 

value option 

has been 

exercised, 

attributable 

to changes in 

own credit 

risk

Reserve from 

debt 

instruments 

measured at 

fair value 

through other 

compre-

hensive 

income

Currency 

translation 

reserve

Reserve for 

insurance 

contracts 

measured at 

fair value 

through other 

compre-

hensive 

income

Equity as at Jan. 1, 2024 
 

514 267 -7,889 62 6,405

Other comprehensive income/loss 
 

212 -377 -874 26 434

Total comprehensive income/loss 
 

212 -377 -874 26 434

Acquisition/disposal of non-controlling interests 
 

- - 1 - -

Reclassifications within equity 
 

-100 -2 - - -

Equity as at Jun. 30, 2024 
 

625 -112 -8,763 88 6,839

 
 

    

Equity as at Jan. 1, 2025 
 

531 -83 -7,327 109 5,868

Other comprehensive income/loss 
 

219 8 -361 -61 438

Total comprehensive income/loss 
 

219 8 -361 -61 438

Reclassifications within equity 
 

-82 2 - - -

Equity as at Jun. 30, 2025 
 

669 -74 -7,687 49 6,306
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The changes in loss allowances included in the reserve from other comprehensive income, broken down by 

individual balance sheet item, were as follows: 

 

                 

  

Loans and 

advances 

to 

customers  

Investments 

 

Investments held by insurance  

companies 

 

Total

€ million  Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  - 9 2 25 31 35 13 115

Additions  - 5 1 - 8 10 2 26

Utilizations  - - - - - - -2 -2

Reversals  - -3 -1 - -7 -10 -18 -39

Other changes  - - -1 - -1 - 17 15

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  - 10 2 25 30 35 12 115

          

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  - 12 2 20 31 34 9 108

Additions  1 11 1 - 12 24 2 51

Utilizations  - - - - - - -2 -2

Reversals  -1 -12 -2 - -18 -5 - -37

Other changes  - - - - 7 -14 - -7

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  - 11 2 20 32 40 9 114
 

The information on regulatory capital and on capital management pursuant to IAS 1.134-136, which also 

forms part of these IFRS interim consolidated financial statements, can be found in the risk report in the 

interim group management report in chapter VI.5 ‘Capital adequacy’.
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D Financial instruments and fair value disclosures 

» 40 Classes, categories, and fair values of financial instruments 

The following tables show the breakdown of net carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and 

financial liabilities by class (in accordance with IFRS 7) and by category of financial instrument (in accordance 

with IFRS 9): 

 

     

  Jun. 30, 2025  Dec. 31, 2024 

€ million  

Carrying 

amount

Fair value Carrying 

amount
 Fair value

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE  196,697 196,722 196,504 196,524
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss  73,918 73,943 74,624 74,644

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss  69,879 69,903 70,454 70,473

Loans and advances to customers  257 257 246 246

Hedging instruments (positive fair values)  788 788 796 796

Financial assets held for trading  29,766 29,790 30,441 30,461

Investments  3,720 3,720 3,663 3,663

Investments held by insurance companies  35,349 35,349 35,309 35,309

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss  4,039 4,039 4,171 4,171

Loans and advances to banks  1,117 1,117 1,168 1,168

Loans and advances to customers  503 503 515 515

Investments  2,419 2,419 2,487 2,487

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  122,764 122,764 121,858 121,858

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive 

income  117,508 117,508 116,496

 

116,496

Loans and advances to customers  1,772 1,772 1,810 1,810

Investments  37,083 37,083 36,356 36,356

Investments held by insurance companies  78,654 78,654 78,330 78,330

Financial assets designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income  5,256 5,256 5,362 5,362

Investments  431 431 404 404

Investments held by insurance companies  4,825 4,825 4,958 4,958

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale  15 15 22 22

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST  453,521 446,599 446,663 438,730
Cash and cash equivalents  84,720 84,719 81,344 81,344

Loans and advances to banks  142,533 140,284 142,312 139,627

Loans and advances to customers  202,413 196,457 202,951 196,375

Investments  22,791 22,876 18,586 18,616

Investments held by insurance companies  189 148 150 137

Other assets  2,114 2,114 2,631 2,631

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk  -1,239 - -1,310 -

FINANCE LEASES  344 343 379 370
Loans and advances to customers  344 343 379 370
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  Jun. 30, 2025  Dec. 31, 2024 

€ million  

Carrying 

amount

Fair value Carrying 

amount
 Fair value

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE  77,259 77,162 75,613 75,523
Financial liabilities mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss  47,939 47,882 45,439 45,384

Deposits from banks  3,592 3,592 - -

Hedging instruments (negative fair values)  615 615 659 659

Financial liabilities held for trading  41,471 41,414 42,234 42,180

Other liabilities  2,262 2,262 2,546 2,546

Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss  29,320 29,280 30,174 30,138

Deposits from banks  3,310 3,310 3,448 3,448

Deposits from customers  7,473 7,456 7,672 7,653

Debt certificates issued including bonds  18,537 18,513 19,054 19,037

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST  430,708 426,225 427,640 422,558
Deposits from banks  177,273 175,319 184,077 181,770

Deposits from customers  141,341 140,194 146,431 145,387

Debt certificates issued including bonds  105,847 104,352 90,756 88,926

Other liabilities  2,081 2,082 2,127 2,129

Subordinated capital  4,335 4,278 4,420 4,347

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk  -169 - -171 -

LEASES  573 573 608 608
Other liabilities  573 573 608 608

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS AND LOAN COMMITMENTS  362 509 371 573
Financial guarantee contracts  127 127 128 128

Provisions  127 127 128 128

Loan commitments  235 381 243 445

Provisions  235 381 243 445
 

There is no active market with quoted prices pursuant to IFRS 13.76 for home savings loans, home savings 

deposits, or similar assets and liabilities. The specific features of a home savings product also mean that there 

is currently no suitable method for calculating fair value in accordance with IFRS 13. The home savings 

contracts cannot be measured individually because the allocation of home savings loans depends on the 

overall performance of the collective building society operations (allocation assets) and thus, in particular, on 

the performance of the home savings deposits (link to the collective). Consequently, the financial assets and 

financial liabilities resulting from collective building society operations are shown only at their carrying 

amounts in the table above.  

Building society simulations are used to calculate risk-bearing capacity and for regulatory purposes. The 

simulations have been updated in line with the increased requirements imposed by the banking supervisor in 

recent years. Statistical parameters, empirical values, and current market assessments are used in these 

collective simulations. The present value of the expected future cash flows from the collective contracts in 

force, less cost components and risk margins, is compared with the balance of the carrying amounts from 

building society operations below. The balance of the carrying amounts from building society operations 

amounted to an excess of liabilities and stood at minus €54,110 million (December 31, 2024: minus 

€55,678 million), whereas the collective present value came to minus €44,658 million (December 31, 2024: 

minus €48,656 million). 

The differences between the carrying amount and the fair value of financial assets held for trading, financial 

liabilities held for trading, deposits from customers, and debt certificates issued including bonds in the 

‘financial assets measured at fair value’ and ‘financial liabilities measured at fair value’ classes are due to the 

deferral of differences, not recognized in the income statement, between the fair value and transaction price 

of financial instruments at the time of initial recognition, which are based on unobservable valuation 

parameters. 
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» 41 Differences not recognized at the time of initial recognition 

Differences that are not recognized at the time of initial recognition of financial instruments (day-one profit or 

loss) arise if the fair value of a financial instrument differs from its transaction price at the time of initial 

recognition and the calculation of the fair value is not substantiated by a price quoted in an active market for 

an identical asset or identical liability or is not based on a valuation technique that only uses data from 

observable markets. Such transactions are initially recognized at fair value on the balance sheet, plus the day-

one profit or loss that has not been recognized in profit or loss. This difference is amortized to profit or loss 

over the maturity period or at the time that all parameters factored into the valuation models are observable. 

The following table shows the deferred day-one profit or loss that has not yet been amortized to profit or loss, 

broken down by class pursuant to IFRS 7. 

 

   

  Measured at fair value 

€ million  

Financial 

assets

Financial 

liabilities

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  15 72

Additions as a result of transactions  5 80

Differences amortized to profit or loss  -1 -48

Reclassifications  -3 3

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  16 107

  

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  20 90

Additions as a result of transactions  17 34

Differences amortized to profit or loss  -9 -36

Reclassifications  -4 4

Changes attributable to currency translation  1 4

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  24 97
 

» 42 Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on the balance sheet 

Fair value hierarchy 

The fair value measurements are assigned to the levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows: 

 

            

  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

€ million  

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Assets  111,935 103,232 51,226 59,222 33,562 34,070

Loans and advances to banks  - - 1,117 1,168 - -

Loans and advances to customers  - - 2,056 2,102 476 469

Hedging instruments (positive fair values)  - - 788 796 - -

Financial assets held for trading  10,327 7,321 18,355 21,828 1,108 1,312

Investments  31,612 27,881 9,796 12,694 2,246 2,336

Investments held by insurance companies  69,983 68,010 19,115 20,634 29,731 29,953

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as  

held for sale  13 21 - - 2 1

Liabilities  3,467 2,236 72,672 71,998 1,024 1,289

Deposits from banks  - - 6,902 3,448 - -

Deposits from customers  - - 7,264 7,399 192 254

Debt certificates issued including bonds  713 - 17,344 18,493 457 545

Hedging instruments (negative fair values)  - - 615 659 - -

Financial liabilities held for trading  2,754 2,236 38,348 39,511 312 433

Other liabilities  - - 2,199 2,488 63 58
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The investments held by insurance companies measured at fair value include assets related to unit-linked 

contracts. These are offset within insurance contract liabilities by financial liabilities that arise from unit-linked 

insurance products and are measured using the variable fee approach under IFRS 17, and within other 

liabilities by liabilities measured at fair value from investment contracts that are allocated to unit-linked life 

insurance. 

Transfers 

Assets and liabilities held at the balance sheet date and measured at fair value on a recurring basis were 

transferred as follows between Levels 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy:  

 

         

  

Transfers 

from Level 1 to Level 2  

Transfers 

from Level 2 to Level 1 

€ million  

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Financial assets measured at fair value  4,820 3,447 23,680 14,626

Financial assets held for trading  1,061 862 4,468 4,763

Investments  2,560 2,004 16,936 7,323

Investments held by insurance companies  1,199 581 2,276 2,539

Financial liabilities measured at fair value  26 15 1,050 1,055

Debt certificates issued including bonds  - - 705 682

Financial liabilities held for trading  26 15 345 374
 

Transfers from Level 1 to Level 2 were due to quoted prices no longer being obtainable in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities. Transfers from Level 2 to Level 1 were due to the availability of quoted prices in 

active markets that had previously not existed. 

In the DZ BANK Group, transfers between Levels 1 and 2 take place when there is a change in the inputs that 

is relevant to categorization in the fair value hierarchy. 

Fair value measurements within Levels 2 and 3 

Fair value measurements within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy either use prices available in active markets 

for similar, but not identical, financial instruments or use valuation techniques largely based on observable 

market data. The measurements are reviewed periodically. If valuation techniques are used that include a 

material valuation parameter that is not observable in the market, the relevant fair value measurements are 

categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

Generally, the discounted cash flow (DCF) method is used in the model-based measurement of the fair value 

of financial instruments without optionalities. Modeling of the yield curves is based on a multi-curve approach 

with collateral discounting. Simple products on which options exist are measured using customary standard 

models in which the inputs are quoted in active markets. For structured products on which options exist, a 

wide range of standard valuation techniques are used. The valuation models are calibrated on the basis of 

available market prices and validated regularly. The fair values of structured products can be measured by 

breaking these products into their constituent parts, which are then measured using the valuation methods 

described below. 

The basis for measurement is the selection of an adequate yield curve for each specific instrument. The 

measurement is carried out by selecting appropriate tenor-specific forward curves for projecting variable cash 

flows. The nature and collateralization of the transactions determines how they are discounted using yield 

curves that can be adjusted on the basis of relevant spreads. 
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Prices in active markets are used (provided these prices are available) for the fair value measurement of loans 

and advances as well as unstructured bonds. Otherwise, the DCF method is mainly used. Discounting is based 

on yield curves that are adjusted for liquidity-related and credit rating-related costs using spreads. Product-

dependent funding spreads are added to the yield curve for liabilities attributable to registered creditors, debt 

certificates issued including bonds, and subordinated capital. Bonds and other fixed-income securities are 

adjusted using issuer-specific spreads or spreads derived from the issuer’s internal and external credit rating, 

sector, and risk category. Customer-appropriate spreads and collateralization rates are taken into account for 

the measurement of loans when the DCF method is used. When loans are measured, the valuation technique 

is calibrated in such a way that the model price at the time of acquisition corresponds to the transaction price. 

In exceptional cases, the nominal amount of the debt instrument in question provides the best evidence of fair 

value. 

The fair value measurement of shares and other variable-yield securities and of other shareholdings is 

determined by applying income capitalization approaches and observing transaction prices. The best indicator 

of fair value is obtained from the transaction prices for recent transactions involving the relevant financial 

instruments, provided there have been any such transactions. Otherwise, the fair value is measured using 

income capitalization approaches in which future income and dividends – calculated on the basis of forecasts 

and estimates – are discounted, taking risk parameters into account. 

The fair value measurement of investment fund units is determined using the pro rata net asset value. This is 

adjusted for any outstanding performance-related remuneration entitlements of fund managers; risk 

adjustments are also taken into account. Some investments in real estate companies are also measured at net 

asset value. In this case, the liabilities are subtracted from the fair values of the real estate tied up in the 

company and the result is multiplied by the percentage of shareholding. The prices of units in real estate funds 

that are not managed by the DZ BANK Group are provided by the asset management company that manages 

these funds. These units are measured regularly at net asset value. Fair value measurement is also based on 

valuations, current values, and prices in recent transactions. 

The fair value measurement of standardized derivatives traded in liquid markets is based on observable market 

prices and/or industry-standard models using observable inputs. To discount the cash flows of derivatives, a 

distinction is made between non-collateralized and collateralized transactions when using yield curves in order 

to take into account the specific funding costs. Moreover, calculation of the model prices for products on 

which options exist mostly requires the input of additional market data (e.g. volatilities, correlations, repo 

rates). As far as possible, this data is derived implicitly from quoted market prices that are available. If 

observable quoted market prices are not available, or only available to a limited extent, the DZ BANK Group 

uses customary interpolation and extrapolation mechanisms, historical time series analyses, and fundamentals 

analyses of economic variables to generate the required inputs. It also uses expert assessments on a small 

scale.  

The fair value measurement of OTC financial derivatives applies the option in IFRS 13.48, which enables the 

total net amount to be measured. In the first step, credit risk is not taken into account. Next, counterparty-

specific credit risk arising from derivatives is recognized after the total net amount has been determined. 

Credit valuation adjustments (CVAs) are recognized to take into account counterparty credit risk and debt 

valuation adjustments (DVAs) are recognized to take into account the group’s own credit risk. Their 

measurement also takes account of collateral and uses market-implied parameters with matching maturities or 

internal parameters with matching maturities for the probability of default and loss given default. 

The measurement of financial instruments also involves carrying out measurement adjustments to a suitable 

degree. These include, among other things, model reserves that enable uncertainties regarding model 

selection, model parameters, and model configuration to be taken into account. The DZ BANK Group 

measures financial instruments at the price at which these financial instruments can be realized in the market. 

If this differs from the measurement of the individual instruments (e.g. measurement at middle rates), the 
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bid/ask adjustments (close-out reserves) are determined on a net basis applying the option in IFRS 13.48. 

Measurement takes account of the group’s funding structure.  

If the value of the financial instruments is based on unobservable inputs and they are thus assigned to Level 3 

of the fair value hierarchy, the exact value of these inputs can be determined as at the balance sheet date 

from a range of appropriate possible alternatives. Determining the value for the inputs from a range has an 

impact on the fair value recognized. The following disclosures explain the material unobservable input 

categories (known as risk categories) for Level 3 financial instruments. These categories are factored into the 

significance analysis. Their areas of application are also shown below. 

Risk categories 

Discount rate for investments in companies 

Both observable and unobservable inputs are factored into the discount rate for investments in companies. 

The risk-free basic interest rate is an observable input. The material unobservable inputs are the premium for 

market risk, the company-specific beta factor and, if applicable, a growth markdown. A sensitivity analysis is 

carried out at the level of the discount rate as a whole rather than at the level of the individual unobservable 

inputs factored into the discount rate. The presentation of the sensitivities to the discount rate for investments 

in companies relates to a shift of plus 1 basis point. 

Adjustment spreads 

Adjustment spreads help to calibrate model prices to transaction prices. They are particularly factored into the 

measurement of bonds and registered securities. Financial instruments for which subordinated spreads are 

available are all assigned to Level 3 as these generally have their own unobservable spreads with a significant 

effect on fair value. 

Asset-backed-securities spreads (ABS spreads) 

ABS spreads encompass ABS spread curves derived from sector, rating, or expert assessments. These curves 

are used, for example, to measure ABSs and other structured bonds. The presentation of the sensitivities to 

ABS spreads relates to a shift of plus 1 basis point. 

Probability of default 

Probability of default describes a banking regulation-related risk parameter used to measure credit risk. The 

probability of default of a borrower, issuer, or counterparty is the probability that the borrower, issuer, or 

counterparty will not be able to meet its payment obligations or other contractual obligations in the future. 

The presentation of the sensitivities to probability of default relates to a shift of plus 1 basis point. 

Bond spreads 

Bond spreads contain both credit rating-related and issuer-related spread curves for corporates and 

governments. Also in this category are benchmark bond spread curves that, for example, are factored into the 

measurement of issues, bonds, promissory notes, bond futures, and bond options. The presentation of the 

sensitivities to bond spreads relates to a shift of plus 1 basis point. 

Dividend estimate 

This category covers estimated future dividend yields as well as repo yields and convenience yields. The 

presentation of the sensitivities to dividends relates to a shift of plus 1 percent. 
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Duration 

Duration is the unobservable, weighted average lifetime of mortgage-backed securities. The presentation of 

the sensitivities to duration relates to a shift of plus 1 year. 

Equity prices 

This category includes not only equity prices but also prices for equity indices. Equity prices are used to measure 

equities and derivative products based on equities, but they are also used to measure issues and profit-sharing 

rights. The presentation of the sensitivities to equity prices relates to a shift of plus 1 percent in relation to fair 

value. 

 

 

Fair value adjustments 

As a component of fair value, fair value adjustments must be taken into account in the significance analysis in 

their full absolute amount, provided they are unobservable. The absolute amount of the fair value adjustment 

is disclosed as the sensitivity. 

Fund prices 

This category contains prices both for commodity funds and for equity funds. Fund prices are factored into the 

measurement of funds and issues. The presentation of the sensitivities to fund prices relates to a shift of plus 

1 percent in relation to fair value. 

Funding and treasury spreads 

Funding and treasury spreads are internal measurement spreads for determining the fair values of own issues. 

The presentation of the sensitivities to funding and treasury spreads relates to a shift of plus 1 basis point. 

Mean reversion 

This category comprises the unobservable parameter ‘mean reversion’ in the Hull-White model, which is used 

to model short rates. The presentation of the sensitivities to mean reversion relates to a shift of plus 1 basis 

point. 

Illiquid market prices 

In some circumstances, depending on the liquidity of the individual bond spread curve, liquid market price 

information may not be available as at the valuation date for marked-to-market financial instruments such as 

bearer bonds. Where this is the case, the financial instruments are assigned to Level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy. The presentation of the sensitivities to illiquid market prices relates to a shift of plus 1 percent in 

relation to fair value (fair value changes by plus 1 percent of the current market price). 

Volatilities 

These include various volatilities for commodities, equities, and currencies as well as cap/floor volatilities and 

swaption volatilities. For the latter, particularly derivative products such as swaps and options, fly volatilities 

and risk reversal volatilities are also factored into the calculations. The presentation of the sensitivities to 

volatilities relates to a shift of plus 1 percentage point for volatilities with log-normal distribution and a shift of 

plus 1 basis point for volatilities with normal distribution. 

109



 DZ BANK  
2025 Half-Year Financial Report 
Interim consolidated financial statements 
Notes 

 

Impairment 

Impaired financial instruments are generally assigned to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The absolute 

amount is disclosed as the sensitivity. 

Yield curves 

In addition to standard yield curves, this category covers cross-currency spread curves and tenor basis spread 

curves as well as fixing, fund, and swap rates. Yield curves are factored into the measurement of most 

financial instruments. The presentation of the sensitivities to yield curves relates to a shift of plus 1 basis point. 

Aggregate sensitivity 

For each product type whose fair value is based on unobservable inputs and is therefore assigned to Level 3 of 

the fair value hierarchy, the inputs used in the measurement of the assets and liabilities are used to determine 

and present an aggregate sensitivity. The aggregate sensitivity, presented in euros, provides information about 

the sensitivity of assets and liabilities in each class to a change in the unobservable inputs used in the 

measurement of this class, such inputs belonging to the risk category identified for this class. The aggregate 

sensitivity relates to a standardized change in the inputs in the risk category, for example relating to a change 

of plus 1 basis point. An aggregate sensitivity of €1 million for the ‘yield curves’ risk category would therefore 

mean that a change of plus 10 basis points would result in an increase in fair value of €10 million for the line 

item. 
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The following tables show the valuation techniques, risk categories, and sensitivity reference values, as well as 

the aggregate sensitivities, used for the fair value measurements at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

Measurements of fair value at Level 3 as at June 30, 2025 

 

          

Class according to  

IFRS 13 

 Assets/liabilities  Fair value 

(€ million)

 Valuation  

technique 

 Risk category  Sensitivity  

reference value 

Aggre-

gate 

sensitivity 

(€ million)

Loans and advances 

to customers 

 
Other bank loans 27 Mark-to-model (DCF) 

Probability  

of default Shift of +1 basis point -

 

Other bank loans 17

Present value for 

which loss allowances 

have been recognized Impairment 

Absolute amount  

(impairment) -

 
Registered securities 219 Mark-to-model (DCF) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 3

 
 Mark-to-model (DCF) 

Probability  

of default Shift of +1 basis point -

  Mark-to-model (DCF) Yield curves Shift of +1 basis point -

 
Other loans and 

advances 213 Mark-to-model (DCF) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 3

Financial assets held 

for trading 

 
Shares 1 Mark-to-market Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 
Bonds 4

Black model (simple 

option pricing model) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 

Bonds 

Mark-to-market Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 
83 Mark-to-market Illiquid market prices 

Shift of +1% in 

relation to fair value 1

 
Bonds 47 Mark-to-model (DCF) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 
 

Black model (simple 

option pricing model) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 6

 
Derivatives 76

Black model (simple 

option pricing model) Volatilities (normal) Shift of +1 basis point -2

 
 

Analytical  

yield curve model Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 2

 
Derivatives 46

Analytical  

yield curve model Volatilities (normal) Shift of +1 basis point 42

 
 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 38

 
Derivatives 493

Multi-factor yield curve 

model Volatilities (normal) Shift of +1 basis point 13

 
Derivatives 19 Local volatility model Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 1

 
 

One-factor yield curve 

model Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 8

 
Derivatives 87

One-factor yield curve 

model Volatilities (normal) Shift of +1 basis point 2

 
Derivatives 149 Mark-to-model (DCF) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 18

 
Promissory notes and 

registered bonds 103 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -
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Class according to  

IFRS 13 

 Assets/liabilities  Fair value 

(€ million)

 Valuation  

technique 

 Risk category  Sensitivity  

reference value 

Aggre-

gate 

sensitivity 

(€ million)

Investments 

 Shares and other 

shareholdings 159

Income capitalization 

approach 

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies Shift of +1 basis point -

 
Shares and other 

shareholdings 

Mark-to-model (DCF) Dividend estimate 

Shift of +1 percentage 

point 2

 113 Mark-to-model (DCF) Yield curves Shift of +1 basis point -

 
Shares and other 

shareholdings 18 Mark-to-market Illiquid market prices 

Shift of +1% in 

relation to fair value -

 Shares and other 

shareholdings 88

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach   -

 

Bonds 

Mark-to-market Illiquid market prices 

Shift of +1% in 

relation to fair value 13

 
1,262 Mark-to-market Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 

Bonds 

Mark-to-model (DCF) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 272 Mark-to-model (DCF) Duration Shift of +1 year -5

 

Bonds 16

Present value for 

which loss allowances 

have been recognized Impairment 

Absolute amount  

(impairment) -

 Investments in 

associates 14

Income capitalization 

approach 

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies Shift of +1 basis point -

 
Investments in 

associates 1 Mark-to-model (DCF) Yield curves Shift of +1 basis point -

 Investments in 

associates 8

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach   -

 Investments in 

subsidiaries 57

Income capitalization 

approach 

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies Shift of +1 basis point -

 Investments in 

subsidiaries 64

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach   -

 
Investments in 

subsidiaries 106 Mark-to-model (DCF) Yield curves Shift of +1 basis point -

 
Investments in 

subsidiaries 4 Net asset value   -

 
Investment fund units 55 Mark-to-model (other) Fund prices 

Shift of +1% in 

relation to fair value 1

 Investment fund units 8 Net asset value    -
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Class according to  

IFRS 13 

 Assets/liabilities  Fair value 

(€ million)

 

Valuation  

technique 

 

Risk category  Sensitivity  

reference value 

Aggre-

gate 

sensitivity 

(€ million)

Investments held by 

insurance  

companies 

 

Shares and other 

variable-yield securities  2 

Income capitalization 

approach  

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 

Shares and other 

variable-yield securities  26 Valuation reports      -

 

Shares and other 

variable-yield securities  10 

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach      -

 

Shares and other 

variable-yield securities  5,570 Net asset value      -

 

Investments in 

associates  8 

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach      -

 

Investments in 

associates  13 Net asset value      -

 

Investments in joint 

ventures  3 

Income capitalization 

approach  

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 

Investments in joint 

ventures  74 Net asset value      -

 

Investments in 

subsidiaries  320 

Income capitalization 

approach  

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 

Investments in 

subsidiaries  1 

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach      -

 

Investments in 

subsidiaries  201 Net asset value      -

 Fixed-income securities  521 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -1

 

Fixed-income securities 

  Mark-to-model (DCF)  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -2

  2,700 Mark-to-model (DCF)  ABS spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 Mortgage loans  12,601 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -11

 

Registered bonds 

  Mark-to-model (DCF)  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -4

  2,928 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  78

 Registered bonds  1,061 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -1

 

Promissory notes and 

loans  3,097 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -2

 

Promissory notes and 

loans  259 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 

Other loans and 

receivables  80 

Approximation 

method      -

 

Other loans and 

receivables  152 Mark-to-model (DCF)  

Probability  

of default  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 

Assets managed for 

third parties  104 Net asset value      -

Non-current assets 

and disposal groups 

classified as held for 

sale  Investments  2 Net asset value      -
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Class according to  

IFRS 13 

 Assets/liabilities  Fair value 

(€ million)

 

Valuation  

technique 

 

Risk category  Sensitivity  

reference value 

Aggre-

gate 

sensitivity 

(€ million)

Deposits from 

customers 

 Other deposits  15 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -

 

Other deposits 

  

Analytical  

yield curve model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -1

  177 

Analytical  

yield curve model  Volatilities (normal)  Shift of +1 basis point  12

Debt certificates 

issued including 

bonds 

 Other bonds  336 Mark-to-market  Illiquid market prices  

Shift of +1 percentage 

point  3

 Other bonds  16 

Analytical  

yield curve model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -

 Other bonds 105 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -3

Financial liabilities 

held for trading 

 

Bonds issued, share 

certificates and index-

linked certificates, and 

other debt certificates 

issued 

  Local volatility model  Equity prices  

Shift of +1% in 

relation to fair value  1

  63 Local volatility model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -3

 

Bonds issued, share 

certificates and index-

linked certificates, and 

other debt certificates 

issued  4 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -

 Derivatives  10 

Analytical  

yield curve model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -1

    

Black model (simple 

option pricing model)  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -7

    

Black model (simple 

option pricing model)  Equity prices  

Shift of +1% in 

relation to fair value  1

 Derivatives  84 

Black model (simple 

option pricing model)  Volatilities (normal)  Shift of +1 basis point  14

    Local volatility model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -3

 Derivatives  38 Local volatility model  

Volatilities (log-

normal)  

Shift of +1 percentage 

point  2

 Derivatives  45 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -19

 Derivatives  47 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -5

    

One-factor yield curve 

model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -2

 Derivatives  21 

One-factor yield curve 

model  Mean reversion  Shift of +1 basis point  -

Other liabilities  Derivatives  63 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -
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Measurements of fair value at Level 3 as at December 31, 2024 

 

          

Class according to  

IFRS 13 

 Assets/liabilities  Fair value 

(€ million)

 Valuation  

technique 

 Risk category  Sensitivity  

reference value 

Aggre-

gate 

sensitivity 

(€ million)

Loans and advances 

to customers 

 
Other bank loans 28 Mark-to-model (DCF) 

Probability  

of default Shift of +1 basis point -

 

Other bank loans 17

Present value for 

which loss allowances 

have been recognized Impairment 

Absolute amount  

(impairment) -

 
Registered securities 223 Mark-to-model (DCF) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 4

 
 Mark-to-model (DCF) 

Probability  

of default Shift of +1 basis point -

  Mark-to-model (DCF) Yield curves Shift of +1 basis point -

 
Other loans and 

advances 201 Mark-to-model (DCF) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 4

Financial assets held 

for trading 

 
Shares 1 Mark-to-market Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 
Bonds 3

Black model (simple 

option pricing model) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 

Bonds 

Mark-to-market Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 
207 Mark-to-market Illiquid market prices 

Shift of +1% in 

relation to fair value 2

 
Bonds 49 Mark-to-model (DCF) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 
 

Black model (simple 

option pricing model) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 7

 
Derivatives 68

Black model (simple 

option pricing model) Volatilities (normal) Shift of +1 basis point -1

 
 

Analytical  

yield curve model Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 2

 
Derivatives 25

Analytical  

yield curve model Volatilities (normal) Shift of +1 basis point 14

 
 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 42

 
Derivatives 530

Multi-factor yield curve 

model Volatilities (normal) Shift of +1 basis point 10

 
Derivatives 11 Local volatility model Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 1

 
 

One-factor yield curve 

model Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 9

 
 

One-factor yield curve 

model Volatilities (normal) Shift of +1 basis point 1

 
Derivatives 73

One-factor yield curve 

model Mean reversion Shift of +1 basis point -

 
Derivatives 184 Mark-to-model (DCF) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) 31

 
Promissory notes and 

registered bonds 161 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -
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Class according to  

IFRS 13 

 Assets/liabilities  Fair value 

(€ million)

 Valuation  

technique 

 Risk category  Sensitivity  

reference value 

Aggre-

gate 

sensitivity 

(€ million)

Investments 

 Shares and other 

shareholdings 148

Income capitalization 

approach 

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies Shift of +1 basis point -

 
Shares and other 

shareholdings 

Mark-to-model (DCF) Dividend estimate 

Shift of +1 percentage 

point 1

 103 Mark-to-model (DCF) Yield curves Shift of +1 basis point -

 
Shares and other 

shareholdings 18 Mark-to-market Illiquid market prices 

Shift of +1% in 

relation to fair value -

 Shares and other 

shareholdings 89

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach   -

 

Bonds 

Mark-to-market Illiquid market prices 

Shift of +1% in 

relation to fair value 11

 
1,068 Mark-to-market Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 

Bonds 

Mark-to-model (DCF) Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment) -

 589 Mark-to-model (DCF) Duration Shift of +1 year -6

 

Bonds 16

Present value for 

which loss allowances 

have been recognized Impairment 

Absolute amount  

(impairment) -

 Investments in 

associates 14

Income capitalization 

approach 

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies Shift of +1 basis point -

 
Investments in 

associates 1 Mark-to-model (DCF) Yield curves Shift of +1 basis point -

 Investments in 

associates 8

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach   -

 Investments in 

subsidiaries 52

Income capitalization 

approach 

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies Shift of +1 basis point -

 Investments in 

subsidiaries 66

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach   -

 
Investments in 

subsidiaries 96 Mark-to-model (DCF) Yield curves Shift of +1 basis point -

 
Investments in 

subsidiaries 4 Net asset value   -

 
Investment fund units 54 Mark-to-model (other) Fund prices 

Shift of +1% in 

relation to fair value 1

 Investment fund units 10 Net asset value    -
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Class according to  

IFRS 13 

 Assets/liabilities  Fair value 

(€ million)

 

Valuation  

technique 

 

Risk category  Sensitivity  

reference value 

Aggre-

gate 

sensitivity 

(€ million)

Investments held by 

insurance  

companies 

 

Shares and other 

variable-yield securities  3 

Income capitalization 

approach  

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 

Shares and other 

variable-yield securities  27 Valuation reports      -

 

Shares and other 

variable-yield securities  9 

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach      -

 

Shares and other 

variable-yield securities  5,823 Net asset value      -

 

Investments in 

associates  8 

Income capitalization 

approach      -

 

Investments in 

associates  13 Net asset value      -

 

Investments in joint 

ventures  3 

Income capitalization 

approach  

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 

Investments in joint 

ventures  73 Net asset value      -

 

Investments in 

subsidiaries  320 

Income capitalization 

approach  

Discount rate for 

investments in 

companies  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 

Investments in 

subsidiaries  1 

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach      -

 

Investments in 

subsidiaries  199 Net asset value      -

 Fixed-income securities  511 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -1

    Mark-to-model (DCF)  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -2

 Fixed-income securities  2,782 Mark-to-model (DCF)  ABS spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 Mortgage loans  12,682 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -19

    Mark-to-model (DCF)  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -3

 Registered bonds  2,465 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Fair value adjustments 

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  55

 Registered bonds  1,291 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -2

 

Promissory notes and 

loans  3,092 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -2

 

Promissory notes and 

loans  309 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 

Other loans and 

receivables  79 Amortized cost      -

 

Other loans and 

receivables  155 Mark-to-model (DCF)  

Probability  

of default  Shift of +1 basis point  -

 

Assets managed for 

third parties  108 Net asset value      -

Non-current assets 

and disposal groups 

classified as held for 

sale  Investments  1 

Simplified income 

capitalization 

approach      -
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Class according to  

IFRS 13 

 Assets/liabilities  Fair value 

(€ million)

 

Valuation  

technique 

 

Risk category  Sensitivity  

reference value 

Aggre-

gate 

sensitivity 

(€ million)

Deposits from 

customers 

 

Other deposits 

  

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -2

  83 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Volatilities (normal)  Shift of +1 basis point  -1

 

Other deposits 

  

Analytical  

yield curve model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -1

  171 

Analytical  

yield curve model  Volatilities (normal)  Shift of +1 basis point  7

Debt certificates 

issued including 

bonds 

 Other bonds  365 Mark-to-market  Illiquid market prices  

Shift of +1 percentage 

point  4

 Other bonds  16 

Analytical  

yield curve model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -

 

Other bonds 

 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -4

  164 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Volatilities (normal)  Shift of +1 basis point  -1

Financial liabilities 

held for trading 

 

Bonds issued, share 

certificates and index-

linked certificates, and 

other debt certificates 

issued  3 

Black model (simple 

option pricing model)  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -

 

Bonds issued, share 

certificates and index-

linked certificates, and 

other debt certificates 

issued  103 Local volatility model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -2

    

Analytical  

yield curve model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -1

 Derivatives  9 

Analytical  

yield curve model  Volatilities (normal)  Shift of +1 basis point  -4

    

Black model (simple 

option pricing model)  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -8

    

Black model (simple 

option pricing model)  

Volatilities (log-

normal)  

Shift of +1 percentage 

point  2

 Derivatives  92 

Black model (simple 

option pricing model)  Volatilities (normal)  Shift of +1 basis point  8

    Local volatility model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -3

 Derivatives  59 Local volatility model  

Volatilities (log-

normal)  

Shift of +1 percentage 

point  2

 Derivatives  60 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -12

 Derivatives  81 

Multi-factor yield curve 

model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -7

    

One-factor yield curve 

model  Fair value adjustments  

Absolute amount (fair 

value adjustment)  -2

 Derivatives  26 

One-factor yield curve 

model  Mean reversion  Shift of +1 basis point  -

Other liabilities  Derivatives  58 Mark-to-model (DCF)  Bond spreads  Shift of +1 basis point  -
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Fair value measurements within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 

The table below shows the changes in the fair value measurements of assets within Level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy: 

 

      

€ million  

Loans and 

advances to 

customers

Derivatives 

used for 

hedging 

(positive fair 

values)

Financial 

assets held 

for trading

Investments Investments 

held by 

insurance 

companies

Non-current 

assets and 

disposal 

groups 

classified as 

held for sale

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  641 5 1,737 2,442 28,692 -

Additions (purchases)  - - 1,055 371 1,704 -

Transfers  - - -326 -354 -555 -

from Level 3 to Levels 1 and 2  - - -672 -874 -688 -

from Levels 1 and 2 to Level 3  - - 346 520 133 -

Disposals (sales)  -11 - -1,170 -321 -1,018 -

Changes resulting from measurement at fair value  -1 - -5 10 -182 -

through profit or loss  -4 - 2 6 177 -

through other comprehensive income  3 - -7 4 -359 -

Other changes  7 -5 5 17 39 -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  636 - 1,295 2,165 28,680 -

  

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  469 - 1,312 2,336 29,953 1

Additions (purchases)  11 - 1,854 915 1,920 -

Transfers  - - -418 295 70 -

from Level 3 to Levels 1 and 2  - - -591 -578 -243 -

from Levels 1 and 2 to Level 3  - - 173 873 313 -

Disposals (sales)  -2 - -1,754 -1,355 -1,050 -1

Changes resulting from measurement at fair value  - - 115 52 -1,016 -

through profit or loss  -1 - 114 7 -328 -

through other comprehensive income  1 - 1 45 -688 -

Other changes  -2 - - 3 -147 2

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  476 - 1,108 2,246 29,731 2
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The table below shows the changes in the fair value measurements of liabilities within Level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy: 

 

     

€ million  

Deposits from 

customers

Debt 

certificates 

issued 

including 

bonds

Financial 

liabilities held 

for trading

Other 

liabilities

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  290 510 505 -

Additions (issues)  - 68 996 -

Transfers  63 - -180 -

from Level 3 to Level 2  - - -464 -

from Level 2 to Level 3  63 - 284 -

Disposals (settlements)  - -52 -853 -

Changes resulting from measurement at fair value  16 12 -74 -

through profit or loss  -8 -5 -53 -

through other comprehensive income  23 17 -21 -

Other changes  -1 - - -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  368 538 394 -

  

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  254 545 433 58

Additions (issues)  - 17 897 -

Transfers  -64 -12 -337 -

from Level 3 to Level 2  -70 -118 -631 -2

from Level 2 to Level 3  6 106 293 2

Disposals (settlements)  - -83 -657 -3

Changes resulting from measurement at fair value  4 -10 -23 9

through profit or loss  4 -12 -17 9

through other comprehensive income  - 1 -6 -

Other changes  -3 1 -1 -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  192 457 312 63
 

As part of the processes for fair value measurement, the DZ BANK Group reviews whether the valuation 

methods used for the measurement are appropriate. This review takes place at every balance sheet date, i.e. 

at least every 6 months. For the valuation parameters used in the valuation methods, a review is carried out as 

part of a significance analysis to examine whether unobservable inputs have a significant influence on the fair 

value.  

For each input used in the calculation of fair value, a liquidity score is determined on an ongoing basis that 

provides information on whether the underlying market is active and the input is observable. Various 

parameters are used to determine the liquidity score, irrespective of the market data group. In respect of 

equity prices, for example, a check is carried out of whether the equity was traded in the analysis period and 

whether the trading volume has exceeded a certain threshold. For bonds, the bid-ask spread and the number 

of price contributors are taken into account. The rules on determining the liquidity score are set centrally by 

DZ BANK AG and apply to all group entities. On the basis of the liquidity scores determined, the fair value 

measurements are assigned to the levels of the fair value hierarchy, provided that the group entities use the 

centralized market database. In the DZ BANK Group, transfers between the levels generally take place as soon 

as there is a change in the inputs that is relevant to categorization in the fair value hierarchy.  

In each step of these processes, both the distinctive features of the particular product type and the distinctive 

features of the business models of the group entities are taken into consideration. 

Transfers of fair values from Levels 1 and 2 to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are largely attributable to a 

revised estimate of the market observability of the valuation parameters used in the valuation methods. 

Transfers from Level 3 to Levels 1 or 2 are essentially due to the availability of a price listed in an active market 

and to the inclusion in the valuation method of material valuation parameters observable in the market.  
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The amount of gains or losses recognized in profit or loss resulting from the recurring fair value measurements 

within Level 3 of assets and liabilities held at the balance sheet date constituted a net loss of €2 million during 

the reporting period (first half of 2024: net gain of €311 million). The gains or losses are predominantly 

included in gains and losses on trading activities, other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments, 

and gains and losses on investments held by insurance companies and other insurance company gains and 

losses.  

Exercise of option pursuant to IFRS 13.48 

The option offered by IFRS 13.48 of measuring a net risk position for financial assets and financial liabilities is 

used for portfolios whose components are recognized under the following balance sheet items: loans and 

advances to banks, loans and advances to customers, hedging instruments (positive fair values), financial 

assets held for trading, investments, deposits from banks, deposits from customers, debt certificates issued 

including bonds, hedging instruments (negative fair values), financial liabilities held for trading, subordinated 

capital, and equity. If allocation of the portfolio-based valuation adjustments to the assets and liabilities is 

required, it is generally carried out in proportion to the nominal amounts of the financial instruments in 

question. 

Sensitivity analysis 

In the DZ BANK Group, financial instruments are generally assigned to Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy using a sensitivity-based significance analysis of unobservable inputs. Taking a prudent valuation 

approach pursuant to article 105 of the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR), an uncertainty spread is 

formed for the unobservable inputs that, as a rule, equates to the 90 percent quantile and the 10 percent 

quantile for the distribution of the input; the change in fair value at the ends of the spread is also examined. 

The following table shows the changes in the fair values of financial instruments assigned to Level 3 of the fair 

value hierarchy that would occur if all inputs in each risk category were factored into the measurement with 

the ends of each uncertainty spread. Changes in fair value at the lower and upper end of the uncertainty 

spread are shown separately. In practice, however, it is unlikely that all unobservable inputs would be at the 

extreme end of their uncertainty spread at the same time. 
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Changes in fair values, using alternative assumptions for unobservable inputs 

 

         

  Jun. 30, 2025  Dec. 31, 2024 

€ million  

Alternative 

assumptions 

at the lower 

end of the 

uncertainty 

spread

Alternative 

assumptions 

at the upper 

end of the 

uncertainty 

spread

Alternative 

assumptions 

at the lower 

end of the 

uncertainty 

spread

Alternative 

assumptions 

at the upper 

end of the 

uncertainty 

spread

Loans and advances to customers  

Other loans and advances  2 -2 2 -2

Financial assets held for trading  

Derivatives  -2 2 -1 1

Investments  

Shares and other shareholdings  6 -1 2 1

Bonds  -5 5 -14 14

Investments in subsidiaries  7 -7 5 -5

Investment fund units  -5 2 -5 2

Investments held by insurance companies  

Investments in subsidiaries  22 -19 22 -19

Fixed-income securities  34 -35 30 -33

Mortgage loans  2 -2 4 -4

Registered bonds  129 -129 133 -133

Promissory notes and loans  56 -76 49 -81

Other loans  2 -3 2 -3

Deposits from customers  

Other deposits  - - 1 -1

Debt certificates issued including bonds  

Other bonds  - - 1 -1

Financial liabilities held for trading  
Bonds issued, share certificates and index-linked certificates, and other debt 

certificates issued  - - 1 -1

Derivatives  -2 2 -3 3

Other liabilities  

Derivatives  -3 3 -4 4
 

» 43 Reclassification 

On January 1, 2021, financial assets had been reclassified prospectively due to a change to the business model 

that was attributable to the R+V-wide strategic program known as ‘Wachstum durch Wandel’ (growth 

through change) and to the related realignment and optimization of strategic asset allocation. This resulted in 

a comprehensive change to the management of R+V’s investments. 

Financial assets with a gross carrying amount of €15,606 million (fair value: €18,156 million) categorized as 

‘financial assets measured at amortized cost’ had been reclassified as ‘financial assets measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income’ in 2021. As at June 30, 2025, the carrying amount of the reclassified 

assets still held was €9,460 million (December 31, 2024: €10,078 million) and their fair value was 

€8,506 million (December 31, 2024: €9,291 million). 

Financial assets of €3,139 million categorized as ‘financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss’ 

had been reclassified as ‘financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income’ in 2021. 

As at June 30, 2025, the fair value of the reclassified assets still held was €679 million (December 31, 2024: 

€817 million). At the time of reclassification, the reclassified assets had an average effective interest rate of 

2.25 percent; as at June 30, 2025, their carrying amount-weighted effective interest rate was 3.56 percent 

(December 31, 2024: 3.48 percent). During the reporting period, these assets generated interest income of 

€21 million (first half of 2024: €24 million). 
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» 44 Hedge accounting 

Gains and losses arising on hedging instruments and hedged items that need to be recognized in profit or loss 

are reported in the gains and losses from hedge accounting under other gains and losses on valuation of 

financial instruments. The breakdown of gains and losses from hedge accounting, by type of hedge, is as 

follows: 

 

   

€ million  

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Gains and losses on fair value hedges  7 -

Gains and losses on hedging instruments  -4 54

Gains and losses on hedged items  10 -54

Gains and losses on portfolio fair value hedges  27 5

Gains and losses on hedging instruments  49 995

Gains and losses on hedged items  -22 -989

Total  34 6
 

» 45 Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 

Disclosures pursuant to IFRS 7.35F(a)-36(b) can be found in this note in the notes to the interim consolidated 

financial statements. With the exception of the qualitative and quantitative disclosures pursuant to 

IFRS 7.35F(a)-36(b), further disclosures on the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 

(IFRS 7.31-42) are included in the risk report in the interim group management report in chapter VI.4 ‘Liquidity 

adequacy’, in chapters VI.6 ‘Credit risk’ and VI.8 ‘Market risk’ for the Bank sector, and in chapter VI.13 

‘Market risk’ for the Insurance sector.  

The disclosures published in the risk report form part of the content of these notes to the consolidated financial 

statements. 

Credit risk management practices 

The rules for recognizing loss allowances are based on the calculation of expected losses in the lending 

business, on investments, on investments held by insurance companies, and on other assets. The impairment 

rules are applied only to those financial assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. These 

are 

– financial assets measured at amortized cost; and 

– financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

The impairment rules are also applied to 

– financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments that fall within the scope of IFRS 9 and are not 

recognized at fair value through profit or loss; 

– lease receivables; and 

– trade receivables and contract assets pursuant to IFRS 15. 

In accordance with IFRS 9, the three-stage approach is used, additionally taking POCI assets into account, to 

determine the expected losses: 
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– Stage 1: For financial assets whose credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition that 

were not credit-impaired upon initial recognition, the 12-month credit loss is recognized. Interest is 

recognized on the basis of the gross carrying amount. 

– Stage 2: For financial assets whose credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but are not 

considered credit-impaired, the loss allowances are determined in the amount of the assets’ lifetime 

expected credit losses. Interest is recognized on the basis of the gross carrying amount. 

– Stage 3: Financial assets are classified as credit-impaired and thus assigned to stage 3 if they are deemed to 

be in default pursuant to article 178 CRR as operationalized in the DZ BANK Group’s definition of default. 

Because the indicators and events deemed to be stage 3 criteria under IFRS 9 cover the same scope and, at 

the same time, lead to default pursuant to article 178 CRR, there is a correlation between these two 

classifications. Therefore, if the financial assets are in default, they are also classified as credit-impaired and 

assigned to stage 3. Here too, loss allowances are recognized in the amount of the lifetime expected credit 

losses. Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated on the amortized cost after loss 

allowances using the effective interest method. 

– POCI assets: Financial assets that are already deemed credit-impaired upon initial recognition are not 

assigned to the 3-stage model. Instead, they are recognized at their fair value rather than at their gross 

carrying amount. Consequently, interest is recognized for these assets using a risk-adjusted effective interest 

rate. 

The review of whether the credit risk of financial assets, financial guarantee contracts, and loan commitments 

has increased significantly since initial recognition is carried out on an ongoing basis. The assessment is 

conducted both for individual financial assets and for portfolios of assets using quantitative and qualitative 

analysis. As a rule, quantitative analysis looks at the expected credit risk over the entire residual life of the 

financial instruments in question. Macroeconomic information is also taken into account in the form of shift 

factors. The model-driven default probability profiles used in economic and regulatory risk management are 

adjusted on the basis of these shift factors (see the section ‘Impact of macroeconomic conditions’). For the 

quantitative transfer criterion, the credit risk as at the balance sheet date for the residual life is compared with 

the assets’ credit risk over the same maturity period estimated at the time of initial recognition. The thresholds 

that indicate a significant increase in credit risk are determined for each portfolio separately as the ratio of the 

latest changes in the lifetime probability of default (lifetime PD) to the portfolio’s past lifetime PD. Internal risk 

measurement systems, external credit ratings, and risk forecasts are also used to assess the credit risk of 

financial assets. The maximum value for these transfer thresholds is 200 percent. 

There are also 3 qualitative transfer criteria: assets for which forbearance measures have been agreed, assets 

where the counterparty has been put on the watchlist for the early identification of risk, and assets where 

payments are more than 30 days past due. These also have significantly increased credit risk and are assigned 

to stage 2, unless they need to be assigned to stage 3. Payments being more than 30 days past due is deemed 

a backstop criterion because, as a rule, the other transfer criteria mean that financial assets are allocated to 

stage 2 well before payments become more than 30 days past due. 

Assets with low credit risk and/or an investment-grade credit rating are also monitored for increases in credit risk 

and for credit rating changes. If the quantitative transfer threshold is exceeded, however, the low credit risk 

exemption means that these assets are transferred to stage 2 only if a qualitative transfer criterion applies or if a 

non-investment-grade credit rating is awarded. The low credit risk exemption applies to securities. 

If, on the balance sheet date, it is found that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk compared 

with previous balance sheet dates, the financial assets in question are transferred back to stage 1 and the loss 

allowances are brought back down to the level of the 12-month expected credit loss. If a financial instrument 

in stage 3 recovers, the difference between the interest income determined for the period of credit 

impairment on the basis of amortized cost and the actual interest income recognized in respect of the 

financial instrument for the period concerned is reported as a reversal of an impairment loss or a reversal of 

loss allowances. A transfer back from stage 3 is carried out if there are no longer indicators of credit 

impairment. As there is a methodological correlation between stage 3 and default status, the transfer back 
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from stage 3 always takes place when the default status ceases to apply due to recovery of the financial 

instrument. 

Expected losses are calculated as the probability-weighted present value of the expected outstanding payments. 

In the case of transactions assigned to stage 1 of the impairment model, the expected defaults in the next 12 

months are analyzed. For stage 2 transactions, the residual life is used. The expected losses are discounted with 

the original effective interest rate for the transaction and variable-rate assets with the current interest rate. The 

calculation uses the regulatory model (probability of default, loss given default, and expected loan amount at the 

time of default), with adjustments to satisfy the requirements of IFRS 9. The estimated parameters incorporate 

historical, current, and forward-looking default information. This is applied when loss allowances are determined, 

in the form of shifts in the default probabilities calculated using statistical methods (shift factors). Depending on 

the portfolio and exposure amount, the calculation of the expected loss for specific exposures in stage 3 also 

uses this type of parameter-based approach or draws on individual expert appraisals of the expected cash flows 

and probability-weighted scenarios at individual transaction level. 

For the purpose of calculating loss allowances for portfolios, the portfolios are grouped according to shared 

credit risk characteristics, e.g. credit rating, date of origination, residual life, industry and origin of the borrower, 

and type of asset. 

Directly recognized impairment losses reduce the carrying amounts of assets directly. Unlike loss allowances, 

which are estimates, directly recognized impairment losses are specified in an exact amount if this is justified 

because the receivable is not collectible (e.g. as a result of the notification of an insolvency ratio). Impairment 

losses can be recognized directly by writing down the asset value and/or by using existing loss allowances. As 

a rule, asset values are written down directly after all recovery and enforcement measures have been 

completed. Directly recognized impairment losses are also applied to immaterial amounts.  

In the retail consumer finance business, further adjustments are carried out because, for various input 

parameters in the impairment model, it is assumed that developments observable in the past are no longer 

fully representative of future developments. The appropriateness test carried out for the adjustments as at 

June 30, 2025 found that the adjustments only needed to be updated with regard to changes in the portfolio 

volume. Taking portfolio growth into consideration, the requirement for loss allowances increased by 

€3 million to €41 million as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €38 million).  

Impact of macroeconomic conditions 

The established models and processes for calculating expected losses on specific exposures or at portfolio level 

in line with IFRS 9 have generally been retained. The impact of geopolitical risks is also examined at specific 

exposure level. Primary effects due to customer or supplier relationships and secondary effects such as supply 

bottlenecks and price increases attributable to tariffs are considered as part of impact analyses. At portfolio 

level, the forecast macroeconomic conditions are taken into account by adjusting the model-driven default 

probability profiles used in economic and regulatory risk management on the basis of shift factors. 

The macroeconomic scenarios specifically look at future trends in the labor market, interest rates in the money 

market, changes in gross domestic product, inflation, real estate prices, and energy prices and are primarily 

based on economic forecasts provided by the Economic Roundtable, which is made up of representatives from 

the entities in the DZ BANK Group. The Economic Roundtable considers various scenarios when deciding on its 

macroeconomic forecasts. At a minimum, these scenarios must include a baseline scenario and a risk scenario 

that each have a significant probability of occurrence in a relevant macroeconomic environment. The 

Economic Roundtable participants determine the probability of occurrence of the scenarios relative to each 

other. 
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The shift factors are then derived from macroeconomic inputs for various levels of default probability using 

stress test models that already existed or that were developed for IFRS 9. The risk parameters adjusted on the 

basis of the macroeconomic scenarios are then factored into the calculation of loss allowances. 

The methods and assumptions, including the forecasts, are validated regularly. 

The shift factors used as at June 30, 2025 are based on 2 macroeconomic scenarios developed by the 

Economic Roundtable of the DZ BANK Group in April 2025: the baseline scenario with a probability of 

occurrence of 60 percent and the risk scenario with a probability of occurrence of 40 percent. A third, 

opportunity scenario that was still being used as at December 31, 2024 is no longer included in the Economic 

Roundtable’s scenarios because the possibility of the United States and EU reaching a trade agreement that 

does not involve tariffs no longer appears sufficiently probable. At the same time, the probability of the risk 

scenario has been raised. In general, expectations about future developments depend heavily on the 

geopolitical situation and on the uncertainties stemming from US tariff policy. The baseline scenario is based 

on the assumption that the trade dispute between the United States and its trading partners will lead to 

higher tariffs and weaker growth in the eurozone. Expansionary fiscal policy in Germany will stimulate 

economic growth from 2026/2027 onward. In the risk scenario, escalating trade disputes and a further 

increase in geopolitical tensions will have a more prolonged adverse impact on economic growth. 

The main macroeconomic forecasts for 2025 to 2029 used to calculate the expected loss as at June 30, 2025 

were as follows: 

 

                     

  2025  2026  2027  2028  2029 

 Baseline Risk Baseline Risk Baseline Risk Baseline Risk Baseline Risk

DAX 40, Germany  Index 22,300 16,900 24,100 17,700 25,500 18,600 27,000 19,500 28,600 20,500

EURO STOXX 50, European Monetary 

Union (EMU)  Index 5,300 4,200 5,700 4,400 6,000 4,600 6,400 4,800 6,800 5,000

Unemployment rate, Germany  % 3.40 3.80 3.34 3.70 3.20 3.50 3.10 3.40 3.00 3.40

Harmonized unemployment rate, EU  % 6.30 7.00 6.10 6.80 5.80 6.60 5.70 6.50 5.50 6.50

Real GDP growth, Germany  

(seasonally and calendar-adjusted)  

Compared 

with prior 

year (%) 0.00 -0.75 1.00 0.00 2.00 1.25 1.75 1.00 1.50 1.00

Real GDP growth, EU (seasonally and 

calendar-adjusted)  

Compared 

with prior 

year (%) 0.70 -0.30 1.50 0.50 1.90 1.30 1.70 1.00 1.30 1.00

Consumer price index, Germany  

Compared 

with prior 

year (%) 2.00 2.50 2.25 2.75 2.75 3.00 2.25 2.75 2.25 2.75

Oil price (Brent), USD/bbl  

At year-

end 70 45 70 50 65 55 65 45 65 50

Natural gas price, USD/MMBtu  

At year-

end 2.00 1.25 2.00 1.50 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.25 1.75 1.50

Commercial real estate price index, 

Germany  

Compared 

with prior 

year (%) -1.50 -3.00 -1.00 -1.50 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 2.00 1.00

3m Euribor, EMU  % 1.80 2.10 1.90 2.85 2.30 3.00 2.30 2.95 2.30 2.80

10-year government bonds, Germany  % 2.75 3.00 3.00 3.25 3.00 3.25 3.00 3.00 2.75 3.00
 

On the basis of consultation with relevant experts, the shift factors determined using statistical methods were 

overridden again as at June 30, 2025 in order to better represent the currently critical market situation. This 

ensures that, on a sector-specific basis, the shift factors used take account of the identifiable material 

increases in risk as a result of the current crisis situation. These are not currently adequately depicted in the 

models, which are based on historical data. The methodology for the process of overriding the model shift 

factors at group level was unchanged compared with December 31, 2024. This aspect includes all identifiable 

material increases in risk resulting from current developments and factors influencing the economy that have 

yet to be included in the credit rating. These factors continue to include the war in Ukraine, other geopolitical 

risks, commodity shortages, supply chain difficulties, rising energy prices, global trade frictions, and the 
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consideration of climate-related and environmental risks. Overall, additional loss allowances of €403 million 

were recognized as at June 30, 2025 due to the expert-led override of the shift factors determined using 

statistical methods. 

The shifted lifetime PDs are then factored into the decision on stage assignment. An increase in the lifetime 

PDs resulting from the shift factors being overridden does not necessarily lead to a transfer to stage 2. 

Consequently, a second override is carried out for portfolios that are particularly affected. Unlike the first 

override component, this second override component results in a general stage 2 classification for all 

unimpaired exposures in certain sectors. The automotive supplier, construction, home improvement store, and 

textile/clothing sectors and the asset classes department stores, shopping malls, inner-city commercial 

properties, building contractors, project developers, and office real estate had a fixed classification as stage 2 

as at June 30, 2025, as had also been the case at December 31, 2024. This decision reflects current 

macroeconomic developments, such as supply chain disruptions, rises in energy prices and construction costs, 

the unavailability of materials, the shortage of skilled workers, the rise in interest rates, the gloomy economic 

outlook, and a changed competitor structure. The fixed staging that had been in place at the end of 2024 was 

reviewed again as at June 30, 2025 and, given the continued high level of uncertainty, was retained on the 

whole. However, there has been a significant uptrend in the hotel industry for some time now, so the hotels 

asset class has been removed from the fixed staging. This reduced the requirement for loss allowances by 

€6 million. 

Climate and environmental parameters are included in the Economic Roundtable’s scenario analysis. In the 

first instance, the focus is on carbon pricing, which is a factor in assessing macroeconomic variables. The 

scenarios devised by the Network for Greening the Financial System (NGFS), which show how climate change 

and action can affect key economic variables, are used in this context.  

Since December 31, 2024, DZ BANK has explicitly factored climate-related and environmental risks into the 

calculation of loss allowances. To this end, NGFS scenarios are used to determine customer-specific risk 

premiums based on the transition and physical risk scores. Currently, only the impacts of transition risk are 

verifiable. As a first step, the premiums only apply to corporates with a manual or automated credit risk score. 

The environmental, social, and corporate governance (ESG)-related increase in loss allowances stood at 

€2 million as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: €2 million). Specifications were drawn up for the e-

scorecards for the ‘finance companies’ and ‘project finance’ customer segments in the first half of 2025. The 

plan is for the risk premiums for climate-related and environmental risks to be factored into loss allowances 

for finance companies from 2026 and for project finance after that. 

Loss allowances and gross carrying amounts 

In the DZ BANK Group, loss allowances are recognized for the classes ‘financial assets measured at fair value’, 

‘financial assets measured at amortized cost’, ‘finance leases’, and ‘financial guarantee contracts and loan 

commitments’ in the amount of the expected credit losses. Trade receivables and contract assets that fall 

within the scope of IFRS 15 are assigned to the ‘financial assets measured at amortized cost’ class.  

The following tables show the extent to which the changes in the fair values, gross carrying amounts, and 

nominal amounts affect the level of loss allowances for each class. Given the immaterial level of loss 

allowances for cash and cash equivalents, they are not included here. 
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Financial assets measured at fair value 

 

           

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 

€ million  

Loss

allowances

Fair value Loss

allowances

Fair value Loss

allowances

Fair value

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  40 106,087 37 1,849 38 144

Addition/increase in loan drawdowns  8 14,287 - 55 - -

Change to financial assets due to transfer between stages  -1 -96 1 89 - 7

Transfer from stage 1  -2 -179 2 173 - 6

Transfer from stage 2  1 83 -1 -84 - 1

Use of loss allowances/directly recognized impairment losses  - - - - -2 -2

Derecognitions and repayments  -5 -8,671 -6 -174 - -5

Changes to models/risk parameters  - - 6 - -16 -

Additions  5 - 11 - 2 -

Reversals  -5 - -5 - -18 -

Amortization, fair value changes, and other changes in 

measurement  - -2,017 - 51 - 23

Exchange differences and other changes  - 93 - 3 - -

Deferred taxes  - - -2 - 17 -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  41 109,684 37 1,872 37 167

  

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  43 114,328 36 2,001 29 167

Addition/increase in loan drawdowns  15 14,696 2 74 - -

Change to financial assets due to transfer between stages  7 -363 -7 351 - 12

Transfer from stage 1  -1 -487 1 483 - 5

Transfer from stage 2  8 125 -8 -132 - 7

Use of loss allowances/directly recognized impairment losses  - - - - -2 -2

Derecognitions and repayments  -12 -11,355 -3 -118 - -135

Changes to models/risk parameters  -9 - 20 - 2 -

Additions  8 - 25 - 2 -

Reversals  -17 - -4 - - -

Amortization, fair value changes, and other changes in 

measurement  - -1,799 - -32 - -

Exchange differences and other changes  - -404 - -6 - -1

Changes in scope of consolidation  - 93 - - - -

Addition of subsidiaries  - 93 - - - -

Acquisition of non-controlling interests  1 - - - - -

Deferred taxes  - - -7 - - -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  44 115,197 41 2,270 29 41
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Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

 

               

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI assets 

€ million  

Loss

allowances

Gross

carrying

amount

Loss

allowances

Gross

carrying

amount

Loss

allowances

Gross

carrying

amount

Loss

allowances

Gross

carrying

amount

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  263 397,607 506 41,967 1,457 3,325 18 133

Restatements according to IAS 8  - -101,463 - - - - - -

Balance restated as at Jan. 1, 2024  263 296,144 506 41,967 1,457 3,325  18 133

Addition/increase in loan drawdowns  78 891,214 53 35,448 120 2,194 4 58

Change to financial assets due to transfer 

between stages  85 -3,602 -154 3,149 69 453 - -

Transfer from stage 1  -31 -7,112 30 7,041 1 71 - -

Transfer from stage 2  113 3,479 -195 -4,011 82 532 - -

Transfer from stage 3  2 30 11 119 -13 -149 - -

Use of loss allowances/directly recognized 

impairment losses  - - -1 - -107 -20 -3 -4

Derecognitions and repayments  -65 -874,122 -65 -37,760 -96 -2,511 -9 -56

Changes to models/risk parameters  -98 - 243 - 64 - 7 -

Additions  51 - 443 - 254 - 21 -

Reversals  -149 - -200 - -191 - -14 -

Amortization, fair value changes, and 

other changes in measurement  - 244 - 24 - 4 - -

Positive change in fair value of POCI assets  - - - - - - - 17

Exchange differences and other changes  - 102 1 38 20 20 - 3

Changes in the scope of consolidation  - - - 40 - - - -

Addition of subsidiaries  - - - 40 - - - -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  262 309,980 583 42,905 1,526 3,466 17 151

  

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  267 319,753 555 44,969 1,998 4,591 20 156

Addition/increase in loan drawdowns  76 831,289 54 25,254 161 2,553 2 36

Change to financial assets due to transfer 

between stages  76 -1,631 -160 1,084 84 547 - -

Transfer from stage 1  -30 -6,011 30 5,971 - 40 - -

Transfer from stage 2  103 4,353 -203 -5,029 100 676 - -

Transfer from stage 3  3 27 13 142 -16 -169 - -

Use of loss allowances/directly recognized 

impairment losses  - - -1 - -185 -23 -3 -5

Derecognitions and repayments  -49 -823,367 -82 -27,713 -104 -3,086 -6 -50

Changes to models/risk parameters  -97 - 208 - 114 - 9 -

Additions  45 - 413 - 342 - 13 -

Reversals  -142 - -205 - -228 - -4 -

Modifications  - - 1 1 1 - - -

Modification gains  - - 1 1 2 1 - -

Modification losses  - - - - -1 -1 - -

Amortization, fair value changes, and 

other changes in measurement  - -772 - -121 - -8 - -

Positive change in fair value of POCI assets  - - - - - - - 14

Exchange differences and other changes  -1 -388 -1 -112 10 17 - 3

Changes in the scope of consolidation  - -7 - 2 - - - -

Addition of subsidiaries  - 1 - 2 - - - -

Derecognition of subsidiaries  - -7 - - - - - -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  273 324,878 573 43,363 2,079 4,591 22 155
    

The undiscounted expected credit losses on purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets measured 

at amortized cost that were recognized for the first time during the reporting period totaled €54 million (first 

half of 2024: €45 million). 
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Held-for-sale financial assets measured at amortized cost 

 

           

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 

€ million  

Loss

allowances

Gross

carrying

amount

Loss

allowances

Gross

carrying

amount

Loss

allowances

Gross

carrying

amount

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  8 1,560 2 115 15 30

Addition/increase in loan drawdowns  - 60 - - - -

Change to financial assets due to transfer between 

stages  1 -8 2 6 -3 1

Transfer from stage 1  - -36 - 35 - 1

Transfer from stage 2  - 27 - -33 - 6

Transfer from stage 3  1 2 2 5 -3 -6

Derecognitions and repayments  - -34 - -2 - -1

Changes to models/risk parameters  -1 - -2 - 3 -

Additions  - - - - 3 -

Reversals  -1 - -2 - - -

Amortization, fair value changes, and other changes in 

measurement  - -23 - -2 - -

Exchange differences and other changes  - -52 - -4 - -1

Changes in scope of consolidation  -7 -1,504 -2 -113 -14 -29

Derecognition of subsidiaries  -7 -1,504 -2 -113 -14 -29

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  - - - - - -
 

Finance leases 

 

           

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 

€ million  

Loss

allowances

Gross

carrying

amount

Loss

allowances

Gross

carrying

amount

Loss

allowances

Gross

carrying

amount

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  1 394 3 63 3 6

Addition/increase in loan drawdowns  - 66 - 2 - 1

Change to finance leases due to transfer between stages  - -11 - 8 - 3

Transfer from stage 1  - -26 - 25 - -

Transfer from stage 2  - 15 - -18 - 4

Transfer from stage 3  - - - 1 - -1

Derecognitions and repayments  -1 -85 -3 -14 -1 -3

Changes to models/risk parameters  1 - 2 - 1 -

Additions  1 - 3 - 2 -

Reversals  -1 - -1 - -1 -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  1 364 2 59 3 6

  

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  1 320 2 58 3 7

Addition/increase in loan drawdowns  - 48 - 2 - -

Change to finance leases due to transfer between stages  - -8 - 6 - 3

Transfer from stage 1  - -27 - 26 - 1

Transfer from stage 2  - 18 -1 -21 - 4

Transfer from stage 3  - 1 - 1 -1 -2

Derecognitions and repayments  - -70 - -11 - -6

Changes to models/risk parameters  - - 1 - -1 -

Additions  - - 2 - 1 -

Reversals  -1 - -1 - -2 -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  1 289 2 54 2 5
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Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments 

 

               

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI assets 

€ million  

Loss

allowances

Nominal 

amount

Loss

allowances

Nominal 

amount

Loss

allowances

Nominal 

amount

Loss

allowances

Nominal 

amount

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  54 80,932 85 12,056 104 332 - 7

Addition/increase in loan drawdowns  33 31,997 32 4,199 43 133 1 8

Change to financial guarantee contracts 

and loan commitments due to transfer 

between stages  6 -554 -4 499 -1 54 - -

Transfer from stage 1  -2 -1,127 2 1,121 - 6 - -

Transfer from stage 2  7 573 -9 -625 2 52 - -

Transfer from stage 3  - 1 3 3 -3 -4 - -

Derecognitions and repayments  -39 -32,240 -45 -5,291 -49 -188 -1 -6

Changes to models/risk parameters  - - 2 - 37 - 3 -

Additions  11 - 25 - 49 - 3 -

Reversals  -11 - -23 - -12 - - -

Amortization, fair value changes, and 

other changes in measurement  - 81 - 10 - 1 - -

Exchange differences and other changes  -2 -140 2 -10 -2 - - -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  52 80,074 71 11,463 131 332 3 10

                 

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  59 79,777 102 11,646 183 539 27 201

Addition/increase in loan drawdowns  38 32,081 32 4,748 97 314 1 4

Change to financial guarantee contracts 

and loan commitments due to transfer 

between stages  3 -605 -3 563 - 42 - -

Transfer from stage 1  -3 -1,370 3 1,359 - 11 - -

Transfer from stage 2  5 760 -7 -805 2 44 - -

Transfer from stage 3  1 4 1 9 -2 -13 - -

Derecognitions and repayments  -33 -32,676 -40 -5,137 -78 -384 -2 -9

Changes to models/risk parameters  -5 - 4 - -15 - 4 -

Additions  10 - 35 - 43 - 6 -

Reversals  -15 - -31 - -57 - -2 -

Amortization, fair value changes, and 

other changes in measurement  - -290 - -28 - -6 - -

Exchange differences and other changes  -1 674 - 17 -6 - -4 -

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  61 78,961 94 11,808 182 505 25 196
 

Held-for-sale financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments 

The nominal values of the financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments classified as held for sale in 

stage 1 had amounted to €14 million as at January 1, 2024. During the first half of 2024, there had been 

increases of €31 million and derecognitions of €27 million. Following the sale of Fundamenta-Laskáskassza 

Lakástrakarékpénztár Zrt., Budapest, Hungary, in the first half of 2024, there were no longer any financial 

guarantee contracts and loan commitments classified as held for sale as at June 30, 2025. 
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» 46 Issuance activity 

The following table shows the new issues, early repurchases, and repayments upon maturity in connection 

with issuance activity for unregistered paper, broken down by line item. 

 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Jan. 1–Jun. 30, 2025 
 

Jan. 1–Jun. 30, 2024 

€ million 
 

New issues Repurchases Repayments New issues Repurchases Repayments

DEBT CERTIFICATES ISSUED INCLUDING BONDS 64,598 -859 -49,427 50,760 -931 -39,099

Bonds issued 8,623 -724 -9,966 11,984 -579 -11,059

Mortgage Pfandbriefe 2,354 -11 -1,480 2,985 -41 -1,797

Public-sector Pfandbriefe - - -513 - - -20

Other bonds 6,269 -713 -7,974 8,998 -538 -9,242

Other debt certificates issued 55,974 -134 -39,461 38,777 -352 -28,041

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 6,610 -606 -4,238 7,049 -662 -5,476

SUBORDINATED CAPITAL - -1 -97 - -1 -

Total 71,208 -1,465 -53,762 57,809 -1,594 -44,576
 

The transactions shown under other debt certificates issued all relate to commercial paper. The transactions 

presented under financial liabilities held for trading are carried out using bonds issued, including share 

certificates, index-linked certificates, and other debt certificates. The transactions under subordinated capital 

are carried out using subordinated liabilities.
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E Insurance business disclosures 

» 47 Insurance revenue 

 

   

€ million  
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Insurance revenue not under the premium allocation approach  1,688 1,623

Insurance revenue under the premium allocation approach  4,586 4,220

Total  6,274 5,843
 

» 48 Presentation of income and expense in the insurance business 

Insurance finance income or expenses, recognized in profit or loss and in other 
comprehensive income, from insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts 

 

   

€ million  
Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025 

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Insurance finance income or expenses from insurance contracts  860 -2,342

Changes in the fair value of underlying items relating to insurance contracts with direct participation features  1,599 -1,313

Interest accretion effects  -901 -1,063

Effects of changes in the discount rate  -20 109

Foreign exchange gains and losses, net  182 -75

Insurance finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held  8 7

Interest accretion effects  8 7

Total  868 -2,335

of which recognized in profit or loss  102 -3,156

of which recognized in other comprehensive income 766 820
 

The portion of the net foreign exchange gains and losses recognized in profit or loss, which amounted to a 

net gain of €189 million (first half of 2024: net loss of €81 million), is included in other non-insurance gains 

and losses within gains and losses on investments held by insurance companies and other insurance company 

gains and losses in the income statement. 
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» 49 Change in the carrying amounts of insurance contract liabilities 

The following tables show the change in the carrying amounts of the liability for remaining coverage and the 

liability for incurred claims: 

 

             

 
 

Liability for remaining 

coverage 
 

Liability for incurred claims 
 

Total 

 

€ million 
 

Excluding 

the loss 

component

Loss 

component

 

No premium 

allocation 

approach

Premium 

allocation 

approach: 

present value 

of expected 

cash flows

Premium 

allocation 

approach: risk 

adjustment

 

Carrying amount of insurance contract assets as at  

Jan. 1, 2025  -1 - - - - -

Carrying amount of insurance contract liabilities as at 

Jan. 1, 2025  98,001 481 4,156 8,606 95 111,339

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  98,001 481 4,156 8,606 95 111,338

OVERALL CHANGE RECOGNIZED IN PROFIT OR LOSS AND 

IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  -9,899 -142 4,044 3,800 5 -2,193

Insurance service result from insurance contracts  -5,724 -143 904 3,746 6 -1,212

Insurance revenue  -6,274 - - - - -6,274

Insurance contracts measured using the modified 

retrospective approach at the transition date  -902 - - - - -902

Insurance contracts measured using the fair value 

approach at the transition date  -224 - - - - -224

All other insurance contracts  -5,148 - - - - -5,148

Insurance service expenses  550 -143 904 3,746 6 5,062

Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses  - -8 855 3,797 33 4,677

Amortization of insurance acquisition cash flows  550 - - - - 550

Changes in the fulfillment cash flows relating to the 

liability for incurred claims  - - 49 -52 -27 -30

Changes that relate to future service under onerous 

contracts  - -135 - - - -135

Expenses for/income from investment components  -3,154 - 3,114 40 - -

Insurance finance income or expenses  -885 1 108 98 1 -677

Other  -135 - -82 -84 -2 -303

CONSOLIDATION EFFECTS  6 - - - - 6

CHANGES RESULTING FROM CASH FLOWS  11,342 - -4,246 -3,754 - 3,342

Premium income  12,155 - - - - 12,155

Insurance acquisition cash flows  -813 - - - - -813

Incurred claims paid and other insurance service 

expenses paid  - - -4,246 -3,754 - -8,000

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  99,450 339 3,954 8,652 99 112,494

Carrying amount of insurance contract liabilities as at 

Jun. 30, 2025  99,450 339 3,954 8,652 99 112,494
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Liability for remaining 

coverage 
 

Liability for incurred claims 
 

Total 

 

€ million 
 

Excluding 

the loss 

component

Loss 

component

 

No premium 

allocation 

approach

Premium 

allocation 

approach: 

present value 

of expected 

cash flows

Premium 

allocation 

approach: risk 

adjustment

 

Carrying amount of insurance contract assets as at  

Jan. 1, 2024  -1 - - - - -1

Carrying amount of insurance contract liabilities as at 

Jan. 1, 2024  92,568 464 3,854 8,170 92 105,150

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  92,568 464 3,854 8,170 92 105,149

OVERALL CHANGE RECOGNIZED IN PROFIT OR LOSS AND 

IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  -6,442 -4 4,352 3,632 - 1,538

Insurance service result from insurance contracts  -5,306 -5 1,090 3,510 -1 -713

Insurance revenue  -5,843 - - - - -5,843

Insurance contracts measured using the modified 

retrospective approach at the transition date  -736 - - - - -736

Insurance contracts measured using the fair value 

approach at the transition date  -32 - - - - -32

All other insurance contracts  -5,075 - - - - -5,075

Insurance service expenses  537 -5 1,090 3,510 -1 5,130

Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses  - -10 995 3,631 16 4,632

Amortization of insurance acquisition cash flows  537 - - - - 537

Changes in the fulfillment cash flows relating to the 

liability for incurred claims  - - 95 -121 -18 -44

Changes that relate to future service under onerous 

contracts  - 5 - - - 5

Expenses for/income from investment components  -3,233 - 3,195 38 - -

Insurance finance income or expenses  2,178 1 7 79 1 2,267

Other  -82 - 61 5 - -15

CONSOLIDATION EFFECTS  16 - - - - 16

CHANGES RESULTING FROM CASH FLOWS  10,109 - -4,339 -3,604 - 2,166

Premium income  10,892 - - - - 10,892

Insurance acquisition cash flows  -783 - - - - -783

Incurred claims paid and other insurance service 

expenses paid  - - -4,339 -3,604 - -7,943

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  96,250 461 3,867 8,198 92 108,869

Carrying amount of insurance contract liabilities as at 

Jun. 30, 2024  96,250 461 3,867 8,199 92 108,869
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The following tables show the change in the insurance contracts for which the premium allocation approach is 

not applied: 

 

             

 
 

Present 

value of 

expected 

cash flows

Risk 

adjustment

CSM 
 

Total 

 

€ million 
 

Insurance 

contracts 

measured 

using the 

modified 

retrospective 

approach at 

the transition 

date

Insurance 

contracts 

measured 

using the fair 

value 

approach at 

the transition 

date

All other 

insurance 

contracts

 

Carrying amount of insurance contract liabilities as at 

Jan. 1, 2025  95,041 933 3,325 94 2,710 102,102

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2025  95,041 933 3,325 94 2,710 102,102

OVERALL CHANGE RECOGNIZED IN PROFIT OR LOSS AND 

IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  -1,826 31 -113 1 274 -1,633

Insurance service result  -2,536 22 708 -2 1,230 -577

Changes that relate to current service  -257 -64 -72 -4 -212 -610

Amortization of the CSM in profit or loss based on 

provision of service  - - -72 -4 -212 -288

Release of the risk adjustment through profit or loss  - -64 - - - -64

Deviation from budgeted figures  -257 - - - - -257

Changes that relate to future service  -2,329 88 780 2 1,443 -17

New business  -506 85 - - 426 5

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM  -1,801 2 780 2 1,017 -

Changes in estimates that result in losses on onerous 

contracts or reversals of such losses  -22 - - - - -21

Changes that relate to past service  50 -1 - - - 49

Change in the liability for incurred claims  50 -1 - - - 49

Insurance finance income or expenses  974 14 -821 3 -944 -774

Other  -265 -5 - - -12 -283

CHANGES RESULTING FROM CASH FLOWS  1,585 - - - - 1,585

Premium income  6,150 - - - - 6,150

Insurance acquisition cash flows  -318 - - - - -318

Incurred claims paid and other insurance service 

expenses paid  -4,246 - - - - -4,246

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2025  94,800 964 3,212 95 2,984 102,054

Carrying amount of insurance contract liabilities as at 

Jun. 30, 2025  94,800 964 3,212 95 2,984 102,054
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Present 

value of 

expected 

cash flows

Risk 

adjustment

CSM 
 

Total 

 

€ million 
 

Insurance 

contracts 

measured 

using the 

modified 

retrospective 

approach at 

the transition 

date

Insurance 

contracts 

measured 

using the fair 

value 

approach at 

the transition 

date

All other 

insurance 

contracts

 

Carrying amount of insurance contract liabilities as at 

Jan. 1, 2024  90,163 810 3,032 107 2,282 96,394

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2024  90,163 810 3,032 107 2,282 96,394

OVERALL CHANGE RECOGNIZED IN PROFIT OR LOSS AND 

IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  1,773 3 -185 1 152 1,743

Insurance service result  1,287 -12 -1,046 -21 -574 -365

Changes that relate to current service  -122 -39 -71 -6 -201 -439

Amortization of the CSM in profit or loss based on 

provision of service  - - -71 -6 -201 -278

Release of the risk adjustment through profit or loss  - -39 - - - -39

Deviation from budgeted figures  -122 - - - - -122

Changes that relate to future service  1,283 58 -975 -15 -373 -21

New business  -438 85 - - 358 5

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM  1,746 -26 -975 -15 -731 -

Changes in estimates that result in losses on onerous 

contracts or reversals of such losses  -25 -1 - - - -26

Changes that relate to past service  127 -31 - - - 95

Change in the liability for incurred claims  127 -31 - - - 95

Insurance finance income or expenses  577 12 861 22 719 2,191

Other  -92 2 - - 7 -83

CHANGES RESULTING FROM CASH FLOWS  820 - - - - 820

Premium income  5,459 - - - - 5,459

Insurance acquisition cash flows  -300 - - - - -300

Incurred claims paid and other insurance service 

expenses paid  -4,339 - - - - -4,339

Balance as at Jun. 30, 2024  92,756 813 2,847 108 2,434 98,957

Carrying amount of insurance contract liabilities as at 

Jun. 30, 2024  92,756 813 2,847 108 2,434 98,957
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» 50 Yield curves 

The following table shows the yield curves as at the latest measurement date used to measure the cash flows 

for insurance contracts and for reinsurance contracts held: 

 

                    

 1 year  5 years  10 years  15 years  20 years 

Percent 

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

Jun. 30, 

2025

Dec. 31, 

2024

EUR 2.43 2.80 2.77 2.87 3.17 2.96 3.37 3.03 3.40 2.95

GBP 4.22 4.95 4.15 4.71 4.56 4.70 4.89 4.86 5.07 4.93

JPY 1.04 0.99 1.39 1.42 1.75 1.65 2.16 1.97 2.53 2.26

USD 4.31 4.64 3.94 4.65 4.28 4.66 4.52 4.72 4.61 4.70

ZAR 7.68 8.13 8.06 8.64 9.56 10.05 10.64 10.95 11.05 11.07
 

» 51 Risk and capital management  

Disclosures on the nature and extent of risks arising from insurance contracts (IFRS 17.121-132) are included 

in the risk report in the interim group management report in chapter VI.4 ‘Liquidity adequacy’ and in chapters 

VI.12 ‘Actuarial risk’ and VI.13 ‘Market risk’.  

The disclosures published in the risk report form part of the content of these notes to the consolidated 

financial statements.
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F Other disclosures 

» 52 Contingent liabilities 

 

   

€ million  

Jun. 30, 

2025 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Contingent liabilities arising from contributions to the resolution fund for CRR credit institutions  169 169

Contingent liabilities in respect of litigation risk  2 2

Other contingent liabilities  - 2

Total  170 172
 

The contingent liabilities arising from contributions to the resolution fund for CRR credit institutions consist of 

irrevocable payment commitments (IPCs) that the Single Resolution Board (SRB) approved in response to 

applications that were made to furnish collateral in partial settlement of the contribution to the European 

bank levy. The DZ BANK Group has pledged cash collateral of the same amount. The pledged collateral is 

included within other loans and advances under other assets on the balance sheet. In light of a non-binding 

judgment of the European General Court (EGC) dated October 25, 2023 in a legal dispute between the SRB 

and a French bank, there is legal uncertainty as to whether the irrevocable payment commitments are 

annulled if a bank leaves the Single Resolution Mechanism (in particular if a banking license is handed back) 

and whether the cash collateral provided by the bank is returned to the bank without it having to pay the 

irrevocably committed amount. The case is pending a decision by the Court of Justice of the European Union 

(CJEU).  

Irrespective of this, there are currently no relevant conditions that would require payment to be made. 

Furthermore, no affected institution in the DZ BANK Group is intending to hand back its banking license in the 

foreseeable future, nor are there any indications of a relevant resolution case involving a different, non-group 

institution covered by the Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM). 

In addition, the contingent liabilities in respect of litigation risk comprise a small number of court proceedings 

relating to different cases. Where provisions have been recognized for particular claims, no contingent 

liabilities have to be recognized. 

» 53 Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments 

 

   

€ million  

Jun. 30, 

2025 

Dec. 31, 

2024

Financial guarantee contracts  11,856 12,173

Loan guarantees  5,986 6,006

Letters of credit  943 822

Other guarantees and warranties  4,927 5,345

Loan commitments  79,615 79,990

Credit facilities to banks  25,198 26,442

Credit facilities to customers  43,140 38,403

Guarantee credits  2,018 1,653

Letters of credit  392 315

Global limits  8,866 13,176

Total  91,471 92,163
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The amounts shown for financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments are the nominal values of the 

commitment in each case. 

» 54 Trust activities 

Trust assets and trust liabilities amounted to €1,477 million as at June 30, 2025 (December 31, 2024: 

€1,603 million). 

» 55 Business combinations 

On April 19, 2024, the R+V subgroup acquired, through its subsidiary Assimoco S.p.A., Milan, Italy, 

(Assimoco), 51.0 percent of the shares in BCC Assicurazioni from BCC Banca Iccrea, Rome, Italy, for strategic 

reasons. There is a purchase option to buy a further 19.0 percent of the shares in BCC Assicurazioni. Because 

of the expected increase in importance, a 70.0 percent stake was included in the scope of consolidation as at 

January 1, 2025 on a fully consolidated basis in accordance with the anticipated-acquisition method. 

BCC Assicurazioni is a provider of non-life insurance products that are sold through Italian cooperative banks. 

The cost recognized for the acquisition of BCC Assicurazioni was calculated from the consideration transferred 

of €45 million, the purchase option at a value of €32 million, and further consideration of €64 million to be 

transferred in the future under an earn-out agreement. The net assets stood at €139 million at the date of 

first-time consolidation, of which €42 million was attributable to non-controlling interests. The difference of 

€43 million between the cost and the share of the remeasured net assets was recognized as goodwill. This 

essentially represents the intangible strengths and the potential future benefits of access to a highly-

promising, fast-growing market that Assimoco expects to gain from BCC Assicurazioni. 

The net assets acquired predominantly consisted of investments held by insurance companies of €96 million, 

other assets of €218 million, insurance contract liabilities of €96 million, income tax liabilities of €58 million, 

and other liabilities of €22 million. Other assets mainly comprised intangible assets of €178 million and 

reinsurance contract assets of €37 million.
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» 56 Disclosures on revenue from contracts with customers 

Disclosures on revenue from contracts with customers, broken down by operating segment 

 

JANUARY 1 TO JUNE 30, 2025   

        

€ million 

BSH R+V TeamBank

Income type 

Fee and commission income from securities business - - -

Fee and commission income from asset management - - -

Fee and commission income from payments processing including card 

processing - - -

Fee and commission income from lending business and trust activities - - 2

Fee and commission income from financial guarantee contracts and loan 

commitments - - -

Fee and commission income from international business - - -

Fee and commission income from building society operations 21 - -

Other fee and commission income 46 - 6

Fee and commission income in gains and losses on investments held by 

insurance companies and other insurance company gains and losses - 35 -

Other income in gains and losses on investments held by insurance 

companies and other insurance company gains and losses - 46 -

Other operating income 22 - 3

Total 88 81 11

 

Main geographical markets 

Germany 88 78 11

Rest of Europe - 3 -

Rest of World - - -

Total 88 81 11

 

Type of revenue recognition 

At a point in time 70 7 11

Over a period of time 18 73 -

Total 88 81 11
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 UMH DZ BANK –

CICB

DZ HYP DZ PRIVAT-

BANK

VR Smart

Finanz

Other/

Consolidation

Total

 

 1,974 275 - 110 - -49 2,310

 15 - - 181 - -2 193

 

 - 164 - 1 - 34 198

 - 61 3 - - 43 110

 

 - 56 3 - - -1 57

 - 7 - - - - 7

 - - - - - - 21

 - 37 - 2 2 9 101

 

 - - - - - -1 34

 

 - - - - - - 46

 7 - - - - 14 45

 1,996 599 6 293 2 45 3,122

 

 

 1,437 560 6 34 2 32 2,249

 559 1 - 259 - 13 835

 - 38 - - - - 38

 1,996 599 6 293 2 45 3,122

 

 

 169 216 5 109 2 70 659

 1,827 383 2 184 - -25 2,462

 1,996 599 6 293 2 45 3,122
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JANUARY 1 TO JUNE 30, 2024   

        

€ million 

BSH R+V TeamBank

Income type 

Fee and commission income from securities business - - -

Fee and commission income from asset management - - -

Fee and commission income from payments processing including card 

processing - - -

Fee and commission income from lending business and trust activities - - 2

Fee and commission income from financial guarantee contracts and loan 

commitments - - -

Fee and commission income from international business - - -

Fee and commission income from building society operations 17 - -

Other fee and commission income 35 - 17

Fee and commission income in gains and losses on investments held by 

insurance companies and other insurance company gains and losses - 33 -

Other income in gains and losses on investments held by insurance 

companies and other insurance company gains and losses - 60 -

Other operating income 23 - 3

Total 75 93 22

 

Main geographical markets 

Germany 75 90 22

Rest of Europe - 4 -

Rest of World - - -

Total 75 93 22

 

Type of revenue recognition 

At a point in time 49 20 22

Over a period of time 27 73 -

Total 75 93 22
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UMH DZ BANK –

CICB

DZ HYP DZ PRIVAT-

BANK

VR Smart

Finanz

Other/

Consolidation

Total

 

 1,882 262 - 105 - -48 2,202

 13 - - 178 - -2 190

 

 - 145 - 1 - 34 180

 - 59 4 - - 34 99

 

 - 54 3 - - -1 55

 - 6 - - - - 6

 - - - - - - 17

 - 31 - 2 3 -1 87

 

 - - - - - -1 32

 

 - - - - - - 60

 7 - - - - 10 43

 1,903 558 7 287 3 24 2,971

 

 

 1,404 518 7 26 3 16 2,161

 498 1 - 260 - 8 771

 - 40 - - - - 40

 1,903 558 7 287 3 24 2,971

 

 

 167 201 5 102 3 21 590

 1,735 357 2 184 - 3 2,381

 1,903 558 7 287 3 24 2,971
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» 57 Government grants 

Government grants of €28 million were deducted from the carrying amount of investment property held by 

insurance companies (December 31, 2024: €28 million). The grants are non-interest-bearing, low-interest or 

forgivable loans. In addition, income subsidies of €1 million were recognized in profit or loss (first half of 

2024: €1 million). 

» 58 Employees 

Average number of employees by employee group: 

 

   

  

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2025

Jan. 1–

Jun. 30, 2024

Full-time employees  26,640 26,008

Part-time employees  7,866 7,653

Total  34,506 33,660
 

» 59 Events after the balance sheet date 

The ‘Act for an Immediate Tax Investment Program to Strengthen Germany as a Business Location’ came into 

force on July 19, 2025. The main step to be taken under the new law is the gradual lowering of the 

corporation tax rate from 15 percent to 10 percent between 2028 and 2032. The law will impact on the 

DZ BANK Group, although the effects cannot yet be gauged owing to the complexity of the calculation 

methods. 
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» 60 Board of Managing Directors 

Dr. Cornelius Riese  

(Chief Executive Officer)  

Responsibilities: Cooperative Banks/Verbund;   

Communications & Marketing; Group Audit;   

Legal; Strategy & Group Development   

(including Sustainability Coordination)  

  

  

Stefan Beismann Souâd Benkredda 

(Member of the Board of Managing Directors  

since August 1, 2025) 

Responsibilities: Capital Markets Trading;  

Capital Markets Institutional Clients; 

Responsibilities: Corporate Banking Baden- Capital Markets Retail Clients; Group Treasury 

Württemberg; Corporate Banking Bavaria; Structured Finance 

Corporate Banking North and East;   

Corporate Banking West/Central;  

Investment Promotion; Central Corporate Banking  

  

  

Uwe Berghaus Dr. Christian Brauckmann 

(Member of the Board of Managing Directors  

until July 31, 2025) 

Responsibilities: IT; Operations & Depository Bank; 

Payments & Accounts; Services & Organisation; 

 Transaction Management 

  

  

Ulrike Brouzi Johannes Koch 

Responsibilities: Bank Finance; Compliance;  

Group Finance; Group Financial Services 

Responsibilities: Group Human Resources;  

Research and Economics; 

 Strategy & Group Development (including 

 Sustainability Coordination) 

  

  

Michael Speth Thomas Ullrich 

Responsibilities: Group Risk Controlling;  

Group Risk Control & Services; Credit 

(Member of the Board of Managing Directors  

until June 30, 2025) 

 

» 61 General Executive Managers 

Stefan Beismann Dr. Imke Jacob 

(January 1 to July 31, 2025)  
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» 62 Supervisory Board 

Henning Deneke-Jöhrens  

(Chairman of the Supervisory Board)  

Chief Executive Officer  

Volksbank eG Hildesheim-Lehrte-Pattensen  

  

  

Ulrich Birkenstock Dr. Gerhard Walther 

(Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board) (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board) 

Employee Chief Executive Officer 

R+V Allgemeine Versicherung AG VR-Bank Mittelfranken Mitte eG 

  

  

Uwe Barth Dirk Dejewski 

Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors (ret.) Co-Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors 

Volksbank Freiburg eG VR Bank zwischen den Meeren eG 

(Member of the Supervisory Board until May 21, 2025) (Member of the Supervisory Board since May 21, 2025) 

  

  

Pia Erning Deria Gomm 

Employee Labor union secretary 

DZ BANK AG Codetermination division 

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank ver.di Bundesverwaltung 

 (Member of the Supervisory Board since May 21, 2025) 

  

  

Timm Häberle Dr. Peter Hanker 

Chief Executive Officer Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors 

VR-Bank Ludwigsburg eG Volksbank Mittelhessen eG 

  

  

Andrea Hartmann Pilar Herrero Lerma 

Employee Employee 

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG DZ BANK AG 

 Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank 

  

  

Dr. Dierk Hirschel Josef Hodrus 

Head of the Economic Policy Division Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors 

ver.di Bundesverwaltung Volksbank Allgäu-Oberschwaben eG 

  

  

Marija Kolak Sascha Monschauer 

President Chief Executive Officer 

Bundesverband der Deutschen Volksbanken  VR Bank RheinAhrEifel eG 

und Raiffeisenbanken e.V. (BVR)  
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Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH Reisebank AG 

(Member of the Supervisory Board until February 28, 2025) (Member of the Supervisory Board since March 1, 2025) 
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Employee Customer and Sales Director North 

R+V Allgemeine Versicherung AG R+V Allgemeine Versicherung AG 

  

  

Stephan Schack Sigrid Stenzel 
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(until August 1, 2025) 

Freelance employee 
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(Member of the Supervisory Board until May 21, 2025)  

  

  

Stefan Wittmann  

Labor union secretary  

Banking industry expert group  

ver.di Bundesverwaltung  

 

149



DZ BANK 
2025 Half-Year Financial Report 
Responsibility statement 

Responsibility statement 
To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the interim 

consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit 

or loss of the group in accordance with German principles of proper accounting, and the interim group 

management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the 

position of the group, together with a description of the material opportunities and risks associated with the 

expected development of the group. 

Frankfurt am Main, August 20, 2025 

DZ BANK AG 

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank 

The Board of Managing Directors 

Dr. Riese 

Beismann Benkredda Dr. Brauckmann 

Brouzi Koch Speth 
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Review reporti 
 

To DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main 

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated interim financial statements – comprising the consolidated 

income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated balance sheet, the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity, the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows and 

selected explanatory consolidated notes – and the interim group management report of DZ BANK AG 

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main, for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025 

which are part of the half-year financial report pursuant to § (Article) 115 WpHG ("Wertpapierhandelsgesetz": 

German Securities Trading Act). The preparation of the condensed consolidated interim financial statements in 

accordance with the IFRS applicable to interim financial reporting as adopted by the EU and of the interim 

group management report in accordance with the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act applicable 

to interim group management reports is the responsibility of the parent Company's management. Our 

responsibility is to issue a review report on the condensed consolidated interim financial statements and on 

the interim group management report based on our review. 

We conducted our review of the condensed consolidated interim financial statements and the interim group 

management report in accordance with German generally accepted standards for the review of financial 

statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in Germany) (IDW). 

Those standards require that we plan and perform the review so that we can preclude through critical 

evaluation, with moderate assurance, that the condensed consolidated interim financial statements have not 

been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the IFRS applicable to interim financial reporting as 

adopted by the EU and that the interim group management report has not been prepared, in all material 

respects, in accordance with the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act applicable to interim group 

management reports. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company personnel and analytical procedures 

and therefore does not provide the assurance attainable in a financial statement audit. Since, in accordance 

with our engagement, we have not performed a financial statement audit, we cannot express an audit 

opinion. 

Based on our review, no matters have come to our attention that cause us to presume that the condensed 

consolidated interim financial statements have not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 

the IFRS applicable to interim financial reporting as adopted by the EU nor that the interim group 

management report has not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the 

German Securities Trading Act applicable to interim group management reports. 

Frankfurt am Main, den 20. August 2025 

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

    

Ralf Schmitz   Michael Quade 

Wirtschaftsprüfer  Wirtschaftsprüfer 

 
i
 Translation of the auditor's report issued in German language on the condensed consolidated interim financial statements prepared in German language 

by the management of DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank. The German review report is authoritative. 
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DZ BANK
JAHRESABSCHLUSS UND LAGEBERICHT 2015
LAGEBERICHT DER DZ BANK AG
ZUSAMMENGEFASSTER CHANCEN- UND RISIKOBERICHT

VI. Zusammengefasster 
Chancen- und Risiko-
bericht

1. KONZEPT DER OFFENLEGUNG

In den Chancen- und Risikobericht der DZ BANK
Gruppe sind die Angaben der DZ BANK integriert.
Eine separate Chancen- und Risikoberichterstattung
der DZ BANK erfolgt nicht. Sofern nicht anders 
dargestellt, gelten die Angaben zur DZ BANK 
Gruppe und zum Sektor Bank auch für die 
DZ BANK.

Mit dem Chancen- und Risikobericht setzt die 
DZ BANK als Mutterunternehmen des DZ BANK 
Konzerns die für die DZ BANK Gruppe geltenden 
chancen- und risikobezogenen Transparenzanfor-
derungen nach §§ 37v und 37y WpHG sowie ge-
mäß § 315 HGB in Verbindung mit dem DRS 20
um. Darüber hinaus werden mit dem Chancen- und 
Risikobericht die für die DZ BANK als Einzelun-
ternehmen geltenden chancen- und risikobezoge-
nen Transparenzanforderungen des § 289 HGB
unter Beachtung des DRS 20 erfüllt.

Des Weiteren werden mit dem vorliegenden Bericht
die international geltenden Anforderungen zur
Risikoberichterstattung erfüllt. Dabei handelt es 
sich um die Regelungen des IAS 1.134-136 (Kapi-
tal), IFRS 7.31-42 (Art und Ausmaß von Risiken, 
die sich aus Finanzinstrumenten ergeben) und IFRS 
4.38-39A (Art und Ausmaß der Risiken, die sich aus 
Versicherungsverträgen ergeben). Die Fälligkeits-
analyse gemäß IFRS 7.39(a) und (b) wird im An-
hang des Konzernabschlusses (Abschnitt 84) offen-
gelegt.

Die Anforderungen des IFRS 7 sind grundsätzlich 
auf Finanzinstrumente beschränkt und rücken da-
mit Kreditrisiken, Beteiligungsrisiken, Marktpreisri-
siken und Liquiditätsrisiken in den Mittelpunkt der
Berichterstattung. Im Unterschied dazu steht in der
DZ BANK Gruppe beim Einsatz des Instrumenta-
riums der Risikosteuerung und hinsichtlich der

Einschätzung der Risikolage eine gesamthafte Be-
trachtungsweise im Vordergrund. Dies hat zur
Folge, dass neben den Risiken, die in besonderer
Weise mit Finanzinstrumenten verknüpft sind, auch 
alle weiteren relevanten Risikoarten in das grup-
penweite Risikomanagement eingebunden werden. 
Diese integrative Vorgehensweise spiegelt sich in 
dem vorliegenden Chancen- und Risikobericht
wider.

Die externe Risikoberichterstattung zum 
31. Dezember 2015 gemäß Teil 8 der Capital Requi-
rements Regulation (CRR) erfolgt grundsätzlich im 
aufsichtsrechtlichen Jahresrisikobericht 2015 der 
DZ BANK Institutsgruppe. Dieser Bericht wird im 
Internetauftritt der DZ BANK veröffentlicht. Im
Chancen- und Risikobericht des Konzernlagebe-
richts werden jene Teile der aufsichtsrechtlichen 
Offenlegungsanforderungen umgesetzt, die sich 
unmittelbar auf das interne Risikomanagement
beziehen und keinen direkten Bezug zum bankauf-
sichtsrechtlichen Meldewesen aufweisen. 

Über die gesetzlichen Anforderungen hinaus be-
rücksichtigt der vorliegende Chancen- und Risiko-
bericht jene risikobezogenen Offenlegungsempfeh-
lungen des Financial Stability Board (FSB), der
European Banking Authority (EBA) und der Euro-
pean Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA), die 
zur Verbesserung der Entscheidungsnützlichkeit
der Angaben beitragen.

Die quantitativen Angaben in diesem Chancen- und 
Risikobericht beruhen aufgrund gesetzlicher Anfor-
derungen grundsätzlich auf Informationen, die dem 
Vorstand vorgelegt und zur internen Steuerung
verwendet werden (sogenannter Management Ap-
proach). Auf diese Weise soll die gesetzlich gefor-
derte Entscheidungsnützlichkeit sichergestellt wer-
den. 

Seit dem Geschäftsjahr hat die DZ BANK Erweite-
rungen des Supervisory Review and Evaluation 
Process (SREP) zu beachten, die sich auf die durch
den Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Pro-
cess (ILAAP) reglementierte Steuerung der ökono-
mischen Liquiditätsadäquanz erstrecken. Demnach 
kommt der ökonomischen Liquiditätsadäquanz die
gleiche Bedeutung wie der auf den Vorgaben des 



DZ BANK AG
Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank,
Frankfurt am Main
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